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Date 

31st July 2019 

Time 

13:30 

Venue 

HQ, Conference Room 3 

AGENDA 

1. Welcome and apologies 
Nick Dean, Dorothy Gregson 

2. Declarations of interest 

3. To approve minutes of the Business Coordination Board meeting held on the 
11th June 2019 

4. BCB Action Log. 

Report from Chief Constable and Chief Executive 

5. Cambridgeshire Southern Police Station 

5.1  Operational requirement for custody 
Chief Constable 

5.2  Securing a site for the southern Police Station 
 Chief Constable and Chief Executive (Business case to be published 
following BCB consideration) 

5.3  Equality Impact Assessment Cambridge Southern Police Station 

 Report from Chief Constable (to be published following BCB consideration) 

6. Treasury Management Annual Review 18/19 

Report from OPCC Chief Finance Officer 

7. Statements of Accounts 2018/19 

Report from OPCC Chief Finance Officer 



 

 

8. Financial Pressures in MTFS 2020/21 
 

Report from OPCC Chief Finance Officer 
 

9. Police and Crime Plan - Communities theme  

9.1  OPCC and broader partnership support - includes development of place based      
leadership 
 
9.2 Cambridgeshire constabulary work to deliver actions 
 
Report from Chief Constable and Chief Executive 
 

10. Review of the impact of de-collaboration on Custody 
  
Report of Chief Executive 
 

11. Fire Governance Update  
 
Report from Chief Executive 

12. Early Intervention Youth Fund 
 
Report of Chief Executive 
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Members: Jason Ablewhite Police and Crime Commissioner
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Dorothy Gregson Chief Executive, Office ofthe Police & Crime Commissioner

Ray Bisby Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner

Jane Gyford Deputy Chief Constable, Cambridgeshire Constabulary

Niki Howard Director of Finance & Resources, Cambridgeshire

Constabulary

Dan Vajzovic Assistant Chief Constable, Cambridgeshire Constabulary

Matthew Warren Interim Chief Finance Officer, Office of the Police & Crime
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Cristina Strood Head of Policy for Police & Fire, Office of the Police & Crime

Commissioner

Claire Dicker Business Support Officer, Office of the Police and Crime

Commissioner
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1. Welcome and Apologies

1.1 No apologies were received.

2. Declarations of Interest

2.1 There were no declarations of interest.

3. To approve the minutes of the Business Co-ordination Board meeting held on the

16th May 2019

3.1 The Business Co-ordination Board (the "Board") approved the minutes from the

meeting held on the 16thMay 2019 as a true record of the meeting. The minutes were

then signed.

4. Business Co-ordination Board Action Log

4.1 The Board received an update regarding the actions marked 'On-going' on the Action

Log as follows:

4.1.1 Action 3.0-Agenda Item 10.6, 28th February 2019 Board meeting - TheACC to

highlight the risk to the Safeguarding Board regarding the funding position
post-2020 regarding the domestic abuse outreach provision and counselling
offer for children affected by domestic abuse and sexual violence. Update:
Issue raised at Safeguarding Board on 20th May 2019 - see Action Log.
Action: Closed

4.1.2 Action 5.0 - Agenda Item 12.0, 19th April 2019 - Constabulary to provide
further information to the May 2019 Board meeting to enable the
Commissioner to consider making an informed decision to sign the Section 50
permits for the ANPR installations. Update: Permits signed by Constabulary
and Commissioner, returned to relevant authority. Action: Discharged

4.1.3 Action 6.0 - Agenda Item 8.1, 16th May 2019 - Chief Constable to report back
to the July 2019 Board on the reasons for the increase in sickness. Update:
Overview given - there had been a reduction in short term sickness, an
increase in long-term sickness due mainly to psychological illness, a slight
increase in self-certification, with an increase in sickness over the winter
months. Action: Chief Constable to report back to the Board in November
2019

5. Force Management Statement Update

5.1 The Chief Constable updated the Board on the work that Cambridgeshire Constabulary

(the "Constabulary") had undertaken and reported that they had submitted their

Force Management Statement (FMS2) to Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary

and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) on the 3pt May 2019.
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5.2 The Board noted the report, in particular that FMS2 would be used to inform the

Constabulary's decision making, with those risks identified which are above tolerance

tracked through appropriate governance boards and each allocated a chief officer

owner.

6. Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner - Medium Term Financial Strategy

2019/20 to 2022/23 and Medium Term Financial Plan as at 3pt March 2019 as a

variation to Police and Crime Plan

6.1 The interim Chief Finance Officer presented the report, and the appendices, to the

Board for them to note. The Board noted that these reports had previously been

submitted to the Board as working drafts to transparently reflect the budget build

process and financial position.

6.2 The Board further noted that Appendix 2, showing the Medium Term Financial Plan as

at the 3pt March 2019 would be submitted to the Police and Crime Panel as a variation

to the Police and Crime Plan.

7. Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner - Annual Governance Statement

2018/19

7.1 The Chief Executive presented the Annual Governance Statement for the Office of the

Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC)to the Board for their consideration prior to it

being signed as part of the 2018/19 Annual Financial Accounts, at the Joint Audit

Committee meeting on the 25thJuly 2019.

7.2 The Board noted and welcomed that there had been a review of governance across

the Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire, and Hertfordshire (BCH) Strategic Alliance, in

particular the work included the review work on the apportionment of BCH

collaboration costs.

7.3 The Board approved the Annual Governance Statement and recommended that the

Commissioner and Chief Executive sign it.

8. Police and Crime Plan - Offenders Theme

8.1 The Head of Policy for Police and Fire presented the OPCCand broader partnership

report to the Board. The report details the partnership work underway to make

people less likely to reoffend when they go through the criminal justice system,

building on the priority areas identified by the needs assessment on offending

prevention and management.

8.2 The Board were asked to note key elements ofthe Criminal Justice Board offender sub

group action plan for 2019/20, in particular in relation to accommodation; health;

employment, education and training; drugs and alcohol; and female offenders. The

importance of working in partnership across the criminal justice system and beyond

was highlighted. The significance of the new probation arrangements to be put in

place by April 2021 was noted. The Commissioner commented on the need for

strategic partnership support.
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8.3 There was a discussion about the partnership landscape. The Assistant Chief Constable

highlighted the National Police Chiefs Council (NPCC)work to develop a more holistic

approach to tackling issues of risk and vulnerability.

Action: Assistant Chief Constable to approach the NPCC lead on vulnerability
coordination to present at a future Cambridgeshire Countywide Community Safety
Strategic Board meeting.

8.4 The Commissioner commented on the government focus on developing a smarter

justice system, with an increased focus on community sentencing and electronic

monitoring. It was unclear how this may impact on police demand. The Constabulary

provided reassurance about the level of electronic monitoring breaches and the

impact would be monitored.

8.5 The Assistant Chief Constable presented the Constabulary's report to the Board,

including the update on performance. On performance, the all crime prosecution

possible outcome rate had continued to decline. It was highlighted that although this

reflected national trends, work was underway to better understand why the fall had

occurred and appropriate mitigating action.

9. SeriousViolence Strategy

9.1 The Chief Constable presented the paper to the Board to update on the progress that

the Constabulary is taking to reduce serious violence in line with Government's

Serious Violence Strategy.

9.2 The national strategy has been adopted in Cambridgeshire, working with local

partners and with policing partners regionally. Operational successes, in particular the

work of the Southern Impact Team, were highlighted.

9.3 The Commissioner had welcomed the recent Constabulary presentation on this issue,

including police action, to the Cambridgeshire Countywide Community Safety

Strategic Board. It highlighted the impact the drugs market can have, including

exploiting young people. The Board noted that a partnership bid to the Youth

Endowment Fund was under development.

10. Police and CrimeCommissioner's Annual Report April 2018-March 2019.

10.1 The Chief Executive presented the draft Annual Report to the Board, ahead of it being

submitted to the Police and Crime Panel.

10.2 The Board noted that the report provides an opportunity to review the work carried

out over the last year to deliver the priorities set out in the Police and Crime Plan and

also to look ahead at how some the key challenges will be addressed.

11. Precept increaseand proposed officer deployment

11.1 The Chief Constable gave a verbal update to the Board as to how he envisaged the

precept increase would impact on the Constabulary over the next 12 months.
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12. Any Other Business

12.1 No further business was discussed at the meeting.
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ACTION NO. 
MEETING 

DATE RAISED 

MEETING 

AGENDA 

ITEM

ACTION OWNER TARGET DATE UPDATE UPDATE DATE STATUS

1.0 28/02/2019 5.3 Future BCB reports to highlight significant operational policing and judicial outcomes Constabulary 16/05/2019 Request noted for further reports. 19/04/2019 Ongoing

2.0 28/02/2019 7.2

Inform Police and Crime Panel that submission of MTFP would be submitted to the June Panel 

meeting. Update: Police and Crime Panel informed and on agenda for 26th June 2019 Panel 

meeting

OPCC
Police and Crime Panel informed and on agenda for 26th June 2019 

Panel meeting
19/04/2019 Closed 

3.0 28/02/2019 10.6

The ACC to highlight the  risk to the Safeguarding Board regarding the funding position post-

2020 regarding the domestic abuse outreach provision and counselling offer for children 

affected by domestic abuse and sexual violence. 

Constabulary 16/05/2019

ACC response - I raised this in the following terms at the meeting of 

the Exec Safeguarding board on 20th May:

“Support services for survivors of domestic abuse are primarily 

funded by the two local authorities with contributions from the 

Commissioner. However in the past two years funding gaps have 

been plugged by successful bids to central government funds. These 

funding streams, while bringing much needed service provision to 

the county, increase the gap which will be faced from April 2020. 

The current domestic abuse outreach provision and counselling offer 

for children affected by domestic abuse and sexual violence will not 

be funded post 2020.

It is also unclear if the core mainstream funding for the Independent 

Domestic Abuse Advocates (IDVAs) and Multi-Agency Risk 

Assessment Conference (MARAC) co-ordinators who enable high risk 

victims to be safeguarded will be maintained at current levels. The 

Commissioner’s office is working with the local authority in a bid to 

secure greater budget transparency and collectively mitigate against 

the future risks to vulnerable victims of crime.”

This was point was discussed at the board and it was resolved that 

‘Risk around funding’ would be discussed at both the SAB & SCB in 

July.

Closed

4.0 19/04/2019 6.0 Board’s Terms of Reference to be reviewed annually – next review April 2020.  OPCC 01/04/2020 Noted Closed

5.0 19/04/2019 12.0

Constabulary to provide further information to the May 2019 Board meeting to enable the 

Commissioner to consider making an informed decision to sign the Section 50 permits for the 

ANPR installations.

Constabulary 16/05/2019

Discussed at  Board meeting on 16/05/2019 - further information 

reports received by Constabulary to give PCC sufficient assurance for 

Chief Constable to sign permits. Chief Constable to inform PCC once 

permits signed.  Permits signed & returned to relevant authority

16/05/2019 Closed

6.0 16/05/2019 8.1
Chief Constable to report back to the July 2019 Board on the reasons for the increase in sickness 

levels.   
Constabulary 31/07/2019

Update: There is an increase over the winter months in sickness.  

Self-certification slight increase.  There is a reduction of short term 

sickness, but an increase in long term sickness, this is due mainly to 

psychological illness.  Action: Chief Constable to report back to the 

Board in November 2019

14/11/2019 Ongoing

7.0 16/05/2019 12.3

Constabulary to report back to September 2019 Board meeting on the progress in updating 

their policies and guidance relating to the two HMICFRS recommendations on responding to 

and investigating allegations of fraud and the importance of recording breaches of restraining 

orders in respect of protecting victims of stalking and harassment.

Constabulary 12/09/2019 12/09/2019 Ongoing

BUSINESS CO-ORDINATION BOARD ACTION LOG (GOVERNANCE BOARD) - JANUARY 2019 ONWARDS 
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To: Business Coordination Board 

From: Chief Constable 

Date: 31 July 2019 

Operational Requirements for Custody 

1. Purpose

1.1 To inform the Board about the current custody provision at Parkside and the case for
change regarding provision of custody facilities in the southern part of the county.

1.2 To seek support for a recommendation to progress procurement of a design and

build contract to build a new facility.

2. Recommendation

2.1 The Board is recommended to:

a. Note the Constabulary’s operational policing requirements and the case for change
regarding provision of custody facilities in the southern part of the county.

b. Note that early contractor, design and build, involvement has been adopted under
the Scape Framework with the supplier partner reviewing the draft design and
producing a project programme and budget cost at no charge.

c. Delegate to the Commissioner’s S151 Officer the financial review of the contractor’s
budget cost and the authorisation to produce detailed design and market testing,
with detailed costs being reported to a future BCB.
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3. Background

3.1 Cambridgeshire Constabulary commissioned Barker Storey Matthews to complete a 
feasibility study for a new divisional headquarters at Cambridge in 2009. This study 
identified that the site at Parkside was too small to meet future requirements 
especially those relating to custody and therefore concluded that refurbishment of 
the facility at Parkside was not an adequate option. The study was not taken any 
further as the project was put on hold in 2010 due to austerity measures introduced 
by government. The need to improve custody provision for Cambridgeshire is not a 
new requirement. 

3.2 In 2015 the Chief Constable asked for a group to be set up to review the replacement 
of custody and other services provided at Parkside. In May 2015 Chief Inspector Iain 
Clark wrote a short paper summarising 3 custody options available which were stated 
as: 

a. Single Site at Alconbury for a 56 cell facility
b. Site at St Neots in collaboration with Bedfordshire Police
c. Site at Milton providing custody

3.3 The paper recommended that the project board focused on a replacement custody 
facility in the Milton area as this was deemed to be the most cost-effective option. In 
January 2016 Chief Inspector Iain Clark wrote a further paper on Parkside custody 
replacement options. This looked in more depth at the various options compared to 
the May 2015 paper and concluded that the replacement of most functions from 
Parkside as the best option operationally, at a single site within the Cambridge area, 
see 4.6 below.  

3.4 As a result of this study a project relaunch paper was written by the Director of 
Estates and Director of Finance, providing the remit of the facility.  The need for 
officers to have good access to attend incidents within the city centre was also 
reiterated. 

3.5 The Project Initiation Document was written by the Constabulary’s estates team in 
June 2017, highlighting the two imminent changes to custody practises that would 
potentially increase demand for custody those changes being i) Bail changes within 
the Policing and Security Bill and ii) the use of virtual courts.  It was agreed that a 20-
24 cell would be required together with the provision for future expansion. 

3.6 In March 2018 the Business Coordination Board (BCB) endorsed work to progress 
proposals to provide a new facility for a Cambridgeshire Southern Police Station.  The 
new building will replace the existing accommodation at Parkside, including custody. 
It will provide modern functional accommodation specifically designed to meet the 
current and changing requirements of community focused policing and the Home 
Office Custody Design Guide. 

3.7 A Police Station will continue to be provided in the City Centre and this commitment 
has been reiterated by the Chief Constable at public meetings.      

4. Current Custody Provision
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4.1 Currently Cambridgeshire has the use of three custody suites, the existing custody 
model works on a two-centre model within the county boundary with additional 
custody space being available as part of the PFI contract with Norfolk Constabulary 
for the use of Kings Lynn Police Investigation Centre.  There is the choice of two 
further custody suites which are available in the event of: 

 planned maintenance

 an unexpected increase in demand which exceeds the capacity of the other
three custody suites

 if an incident occurs at one of those suites which means the business
continuity plan needs to be invoked e.g. there is a loss of premises or systems.

The locations of custody provision for Cambridgeshire Police consists of the 
following: 

Thorpe Wood, Peterborough – 29 Cells 
Parkside, Cambridge – 16 cells (only 12 currently of the standard to be operational) 
Kings Lynn, Norfolk – there is a contractual agreement between Cambridgeshire and 
Norfolk 
Constabulary’s for the use of the PIC at Kings Lynn, which is provided via a 30 year PFI 
scheme with approximately 8 cells available to Cambridgeshire Police. 
March – 11 Cells (contingency use only) 

   Huntingdon – 10 cells (contingency use only) 

The facilities located at March and Huntingdon, do not provide a long term solution to 
custody provision for Cambridgeshire for the following reasons: 

 The Police Operating Model defines two centres to maximise efficiency and coherent
service for the whole policing area.  To operate multiple bases no longer aligns with
the Police Operating Model.

 The locations of March and Huntingdon would not provide an accessible custody
facility for persons detained in Cambridge City and result in avoidable inefficiency,
with officers away from active policing at busy times whilst transporting detained
persons to these locations.

 There would need to be increased level of resourcing to staff separate custody
facilities and resulting avoidable duplication of resourcing compared to a single
custody location.

 There would need to some capital spend to improve facilities at both March and
Huntingdon as well as increased maintenance costs for the longer term to maintain a
number of separate sites.

4.2 Thorpe Wood provides custody for the northern area of Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough and is located close to the A47 to the west of Peterborough. With 29 
cells this is the main custody suite for Cambridgeshire Police. 

4.3 Parkside provides custody for the south of the region, but only has 12 cells in 
operation leaving insufficient custody capacity within the southern area of 
Cambridgeshire. At times of high demand additional travel time and resource is 
required to take detainees 40 miles to Thorpe Wood in Peterborough. Capacity 
planning has indicated that the custody provision to the south of the county needs to 
provide 24 cells to avoid this unnecessary transporting of detainees and the resultant 
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reduced policing capacity during travel time as well as providing resilience for 
emergencies and planned maintenance. 

4.4 The custody at Kings Lynn is generally used when an arrest is made in the north 
eastern reaches of the county, due to the geographical location, access to Kings Lynn 
is easier than Cambridge and Peterborough. 

4.5 The Constabulary has identified the most effective means of policing for their 
geographical area as a two-centre policing model, the area of coverage has been split 
north and south. The current model uses Thorpe Wood at Peterborough as the main 
northern Police station, and Parkside in Cambridge City centre as the main southern 
police station, as both stations contain custody facilities, supported by smaller 
satellite police stations within the county. Further custody facilities at Kings Lynn in 
Norfolk are used for arrests occurring in the north east more remote areas of 
Cambridgeshire.   

4.6 A paper prepared by Chief Inspector Iain Clark in January 2016 explores the options 
for Parkside Custody Replacement and the findings are summarised here: 

 Option 1: a single custody suite, located at Dogsthorpe, Peterborough -  
 Discounted due to extended transport time beyond the accepted 30 minute limit and 
this option provided reduced police coverage for the south of the county. 

 Option 2: a two custody model identifying Peterborough and Cambridge as optimum 
locations with only a relatively small rural area being outside the 30 minute limit.   

 The above modelling has not taken into account the Constabulary’s contract with 
Norfolk Constabulary for the use of the Kings Lynn PIC. The cost of buying the 
Constabulary out of the contract is prohibitive and would not make economic sense 
in the current financial climate. The above 2 scenarios were rerun with Kings Lynn 
enforced as a must have site and the model still returns Dogsthorpe as the single in 
county location and leaves the South of the county with long travelling distances to 
custody as noted under Option 1. 
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 With two in county suites and Kings Lynn enforced the most efficient distribution, 
according to the modelling remains Peterborough and Cambridge. 

 Option 3: a tri-county three-base option  
Discounted because for Cambridgeshire these are not considered viable options as 

the proposed base sits outside the 30-minute travel time for the 2 largest users of 

custody facilities in the county. Additionally, there is limited resilience, especially for 

Cambridgeshire even using other facilities outside BCH (Kings Lynn, Bury St Edmunds) 

which both sit outside the 30-minute travelling timeframe for most of the high 

demand areas in Cambs. 

Option 4: a tri county 4-7, multi base option 

As soon as more than 3 bases are required the modelling shows that the most 

efficient model has 2 bases in Cambridgeshire, with Peterborough and Cambridge 

being the optimum locations. Any increase in tri-county bases does not reduce or 

amend the optimum locations within Cambridgeshire. 

 From the above modelling and taking into account the operational direction of the 
Chief Constable, a two site, in county, custody model provides the most efficient use 
of resources and meets the operational requirements and mitigates the risks that are 
associated with having a single site.  A tri-county multi base solution still results in the 
need for two custody centres in Cambridgeshire with optimum locations being 
Peterborough and Cambridge. 

5. Condition

5.1 Parkside was constructed in the 1960’s and is beyond its’ functional age as a police 
facility requiring significant investment to keep the building operational in the mid to 
long term. The building layout is also restrictive due to the cellular office spaces and 
does not provide the required flexibility for change or meet current Policing standards. 
This limits the efficient delivery of policing to the community. 

5.2 Essential maintenance was completed at Parkside in 2014, this was only intended to 
extend the useable lifespan of the buildings for up to 5 years. Delivery of the new 
Southern Police Station therefore needs to be completed before the facilities at Parkside 
require further major investment to keep them operational.  In addition custody 
improvements were undertaken following a peer review in 2014 and works have been 
completed to improve the facility as far as reasonably possible.  This still, however, 
provides for only 12 of the required 24 cells.  

5.3 A Home Office Inspection of Parkside was undertaken in August 2017 and the facilities 
continue to provide inadequate space and the condition of the building is deteriorating 
despite repairs.  Extensive remodelling could improve the custody, however due to 
limitations of the current building and its structure, it would fall short of the provision 
needed by Cambridgeshire Police. Whilst derogations from the Home Office guidance 
can be made, Cambridgeshire Police would have to document and evidence that every 
derogation would not cause a risk to either detainee or member of staff. The number of 
derogations is likely to be high and the impact upon operational efficiency significant 
and unsustainable. 
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5.4 A custody inspection took place by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 
& Rescue Services (HMICFRS) in August 2017 across the custody provision within 
Cambridgeshire. This reported that some of the cells at Parkside had ingrained dirt and 
were generally a bit grubby. A deep clean was recommended. It was also noted within 
the HMICFRS inspection report and the condition survey that the cell ventilation system 
was not adequate, with cold cells in the winter and overheating in hot weather. There 
are significant shortcomings in the facilities at Parkside and these fall short of adopted 
Police Operating Model adopted by Cambridgeshire Constabulary. Shortcomings are 
mitigated as far as possible but at busy periods and with only 12 cells being available, 
management of the facilities was noted as being difficult and impacting operational 
efficiency. 

5.5 Improving Parkside and the custody provision it provides, cannot be undertaken 
piecemeal. Once an area is upgraded then the facility is assessed in accordance with 
Home Office Guidance and there are a number of areas that, whilst they function 
adequately, fall short of current accommodation standards and would still not deliver 
the Police Operating Model. The building fabric is poor and the site offers no option to 
expand to provide the additional custody facilities that are required. Significant 
remodelling will not solve the capacity issues or overcome poor access due to the central 
city location, which then impacts the efficiency of the force. 

6. Custody Demand

6.1 The number of cells available to Cambridgeshire Police on a daily usage is circa 49 cells, 
with the availability to extend the number of cells by opening either facility at 
Huntingdon or March. These contingency facilities, which are otherwise unmanned, 
are only available at planned times for known busy periods or for planned 
maintenance. 

6.2 The capacity of custody at a given time, is therefore not only determined by the 
number of physical cells available but is also dependant on other factors such as 
staffing. The contingency suites would therefore only be available for use if staffing 
levels allow. 

6.3 Arrest data for the 2 year period October 2016 through to October 2018 for 
Cambridgeshire has been interrogated. In that time over 24,000 arrests were made 
within the county. Not all those arrested will have been detained in custody, some will 
have been released on bail pending investigation. 

6.4 From the analysis of the arrest data, the average number of arrests each month is 
slowly declining. This is a trend that other police forces have noticed. However, while 
data on the time each detainee spent in custody within Cambridgeshire was not 
available, other police forces have reported that this is increasing.  The reasons for this 
increase in detention times can be attributed to a number of key reasons. Firstly, the 
changing nature of policing has resulted in the type and complexity of crimes under 
investigation increasing. This means that investigations can often take longer due to 
the need to obtain more detailed evidence, from an increased number of sources, such 
as digital media. Secondly, the number of detainees requiring medical assessment 
either for physical or mental health issues is increasing thereby adding to detention 
time to allow for the assessment. Similarly, a growing need for interpreters for those 
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who do not speak English means that interviews cannot start until an interpreter is in 
attendance at the police station. At the conclusion of the custody process, the 
increasing use of virtual courts is resulting in detainees being held until appearance at 
court happens via a video link from custody. If applicable, the detainee then continues 
to remain at the custody facility until transport to prison becomes available.   

6.5 With the growth of over 31,000 planned new homes within the southern area of 
Cambridgeshire, to the north of the City, in turn comes additional demand for policing 
and the other police functions. This includes a higher demand for custody facilities and 
puts further pressure on the existing limited facilities at Parkside.  Within the 2011 
census, there were 2.3 occupants per household. Based on an increase of housing it 
could be assumed that the population of southern area of Cambridgeshire will 
therefore increase by circa 71,000 people. Currently, cell to population ratio is 1 cell 
per 13,500 people. On this basis, with the expected population growth, a minimum of 
6 additional cells will reasonably be required.   

6.6 It is recognised that the additional travel time required to Thorpe Wood when Parkside 
is full may be supressing the true nature of demand for cells in the south of the county. 
To ensure the most effective use of resources and to reduce the amount of time 
officers spend on minor incidents, it is more likely that when dealing with offenders 
who have committed minor offences, alternative methods other than arrest will be 
used.  A new 24 cell facility would increase the total number of cells available on a 
daily basis to 61. This number of cells would meet the true demand for cells in the 
south of the county, provide capacity for future increases in demand due to any 
increase in crime, population growth, and provide contingency for both peaks in 
demand and any unplanned maintenance and exceptional circumstances such as a 
major local incident where a large number of cells are required at the same time. 

7. Proposal 

7.1 The options available to increase custody capacity and increase efficiency of other 
support services has been appraised and clearly demonstrates that the most effective 
way to implement the Two-Centre Policing model within Cambridgeshire is to provide 
a new Southern Cambridgeshire Police station. This would provide most services 
currently delivered from Parkside, whilst also increasing custody capacity. A smaller 
city centre policing base will be retained.   

7.2 The Options of: 
a. Do Nothing 
b. Refurbish/Remodel Parkside 
c. Relocate Custody only, and retain other functions at Parkside 
d. Relocate all functions from Parkside 
Are detailed in the Full Business Case in section 4.0. 
 

7.3 The new South Cambridgeshire Police Station will be designed to meet the current 
operational needs and will not only provide sufficient custody provision for current 
demand but will be future proofed to allow for an increase in demand, as the 
population increases with the new housing developments planned within the area. 
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7.4 The new facility will enable full implementation of the local policing review programme 
for Cambridgeshire Police and improve efficiencies in staff working methods, decrease 
travel times and reduce operational risk. This will be achieved by supporting the 
delivery of neighbourhood and community policing, shorten travel times with 
detainees, providing better custody environment meeting current standards that also 
have sufficient capacity for current levels of demand with the ability to expand to meet 
future changes in demand. 

7.5 Policing has had a notable change since the opening of Parkside, working practices 
have been influenced by the use of technology, enabling an officer to complete many 
duties remote from the traditional Police Station. The use of technology has also 
enabled closer working between functions and the drive is to encourage this 
knowledge and resource sharing by working in open plan spaces rather than the 
traditional cellular offices which compromises how functions are able to work 
together. 

7.6 Any new custody facility should be designed to comply with the Home Office Design 
Police Buildings design guide (2011). This guidance is produced to ensure maximum 
safety to both police staff and the detainee. Due to the age of the custody facilities at 
Parkside and changes in working practices within custody there is concern that any 
adaptions to Parkside would fall short of Home Office Compliance standards, despite 
the best efforts of the Police and staff to accommodate shortcomings.  The new facility 
should be subject to an Equality Impact Assessment. 

7.7 The Constabulary’s chosen solution is to relocate the vast majority of the Parkside 
functions to a new facility.  It is acknowledged that any new facility would not be 
located within Cambridge, and therefore a city centre presence would need to be 
maintained to reassure public of a local policing presence in the city centre.  The 
requirements are as follows:  

1. To provide a Southern Cambridgeshire Police Station which is integral to the
delivery   of the Police Operational Model.

2. The location of the Police Station needs to ensure that travel from point of
detention to any custody facility is kept to a minimum and also aligns with the
Police Operational Model so that policing within the whole county is efficient and
sustainable.

3. The Custody facility needs to include:

i. Minimum of 24 cells with the ability for future expansion, with a site size to
achieve this.

ii. All Custody MUST be on the ground floor in accordance with Home Office
design guidance.

iii. Preferred radial design for custody, as this allows best line of sight from the
charge desk. This also allows space allocation for future expansion without
major disruption to existing facilities or service delivery.

4. Car parking requirements:

i. Operations 68no. vehicles, inc 10no. large spaces for vans
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ii. Staff required 242no. spaces – to allow for staff shift patterns which will
cover a full 24 hour period and times when access to public transport is not
an option.  A full travel plan will be developed to ensure that wherever
possible travel options are possible for “regular” shift staff.  The site is also
to be used as a muster point for major incidents and some level of flexibility
in parking is an operational requirement to cater for these urgent response
activities.

iii. Staff minimum No.s dependant on final location and what transportation
links are available

iv. Visitors, partners, site contractors 15-20 spaces

5. Ease of access to the site from the areas of high arrest as well as ease of
access/egress for detainees; families; custody support services (ie. Solicitors,
Doctors) and police.

6. Sensitivity to neighbours especially with regards to release of detainees

7. Transport links to enable detainee journey home

8. Economically viable

8. Procurement

8.1 Pick Everard consultants have been appointed as project manager and have advised on 
procurement options. 

8.2 The nature of the Southern Police Station project does not necessitate the need to adopt 
an overly complex procurement or contract strategy and advice has been obtained on 
the two most common strategies namely “design and build” and “traditional” 
procurement. In the former the contractor designs some (or all) of the works and also 
constructs the works. The latter sees the client retain the design team (and liability 
thereof) for the duration of the project and the Contractor only builds what has been 
designed by others. 

8.3 Both strategies have strengths and weaknesses and to guide in the procurement route 
a workshop was held to priorities the key objectives.  The client team have completed a 
procurement questionnaire that has arrived at a consensus view on the project 
objectives.   

8.4 The results of the workshop and questionnaire identified that a single stage design and 
build procurement strategy is the best fit for this project. The single stage design and 
build route is most likely to achieve the prioritised project objectives. 

8.5 The design and build procurement route and use of the national Scape Framework was 
supported at the Project Board and also the Estates Sub Group.   

8.6 A meeting has been held with Scape and confirmation obtained that: 

 the framework is  procured in compliance with EU Procurement Regulations; the
rules are rigorously applied and no framework process or award has ever been
challenged since Scape was formed in 2006.
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 The construction frameworks are competitively tendered for the appointment

of a single supplier to fix the people costs and the overhead and profit

elements of every project.

 The remaining project costs are sub-contracted work packages that are locally

tendered open book to a managed supply chain to ensure competitive tensions

are maintained, by effective price benchmarking and cost targeting to achieve

value for money.

 The consultancy framework was tendered to secure highly competitive rates

for a wider range of built environment services including specialist services

through a pre-qualified tier 1 supply chain and an open source approved tier 2

supply chain.

 Early contractor involvement and contractor support/advice on brief

development, budget costing, project programming and buildability is provided

at no cost at feasibility stage (unless external support through third party

appointments to inform the process such as surveys, etc. is required).

 Scape monitors an array of key performance indicators (KPIs) for each of its

frameworks. KPIs in the construction frameworks include time and cost

predictability, defects at completion, health and safety, client satisfaction (both

product and service), waste management, achievement of employment and

skills plan targets, local spend and local employment. The use of small and

medium sized enterprises (SMEs) is also monitored.

8.7 The Scape Major Works Framework UK is for projects of £10m-£50m and fits best with 
the Cambridgeshire Southern Police Station.  The alternative Major Works England & 
Northern Ireland framework is for projects of £2m to £20m. 

8.8 The Constabulary’s project board has approved the early contractor involvement 
provided by the framework and this will review the draft design, project programme & 
buildability and provide a budget cost at no charge by 27th August 2019.   

8.9 The project Board and Estates Sub Group will review the contractors report and costs 
and it is proposed that the Commissioner’s S151 Officer has delegated authority to 
approve detailed design work and market testing by the framework delivery partner.   

8.10 A separate report to the Board sets out the process by which the appropriate site search 
for the Southern Police Station has been undertaken and the progress in sourcing land 
in this area. 

8.11 Progressing the project on a contractor design and build framework will provide private 
sector experience, innovative solutions and ensure tight cost control and affordability. 

9 Summary 
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9.1 A timely solution for a new custody facility is needed as there is risk that Parkside may 
be deemed unsuitable in the medium to longer term to continue to provide custody 
facilities. The most expedient design and procurement process adopts a Design and 
Build procurement route using a public approved Framework. Sufficient time for the 
process of design development and construction will be required to ensure a quality 
scheme is delivered that meets end user requirements. This must be factored into the 
development of the delivery programme 

10 Recommendation    

10.2 The Board is recommended to: 

a. Note the Constabulary’s operational policing requirements and the  case for

change regarding provision of custody facilities in the southern part of the county

b. Note that early contractor, design and build, involvement has been adopted under

the Scape Framework with the supplier partner reviewing the draft design and

producing a project programme and budget cost at no charge.

c. Delegate to the Commissioner’s S151 Officer the financial review of the

contractor’s budget cost and the authorisation to produce detailed design and

market testing, with detailed costs being reported to a future BCB.

BIBLIOGRAPHY 
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Contact Officers Colin Luscombe, Director of Estates  
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To:  Business Coordination Board 

From:  Chief Constable  

Date:  31 July 2019  

Securing a Site for the Southern Police Station   

1. Purpose   

1.1 To inform the Board about progress in finding a site for the southern police station. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 The Board is recommended to: 

a. Note the Full Business Case, site search and preferred location at Milton.   

b. Note the early engagement with members of the public and stakeholders. 

   3. Background  

3.1 In March 2018 the Business Coordination Board (BCB) endorsed work to progress 
proposals to provide a new facility for a Cambridgeshire Southern Police Station.   

3.2 The Constabulary’s operational requirements and the case for change in the southern 
part of the county are covered in a separate paper.    This report focuses on the work 
undertaken to find a site to meet the operational requirement. 

3.3 Due to the requirement to provide 24 cells (currently 12 in operation) and the space 
impact of the Home Office Design Guide, it is not possible to construct the Police 
Station on the current 0.5ha (1.25acre site). 
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3.4 The strategic and functional criteria for identifying a suitable location for the new 
facility have been established and a full site search within the defined area has been 
carried out.  

3.5 On 28th February 2019 the BCB was provided with the background to the Decision 
Notice for the Option Agreement for Cambridgeshire Southern Police Station which 
was signed on 25th February 2019.   It was also confirmed that the final full business 
case will be reported to BCB following Project Board consideration.   

3.6 The Project Board approved the Full Business Case on 17th July 2019. 

3.7 The proposal to build a new police station on the outskirts of Milton, Cambridge has 
been subject to stakeholder and public engagement. 

4.        The Full Business Case 

4.1 The Full Business Case (FBC) has been commissioned by Cambridgeshire Constabulary, 
working closely with the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC), to collate information 
and data to establish the business case for a new police and custody facility. This FBC is 
written in accordance with HM Treasury Green Book and is attached as Appendix 1 to 
this paper. 

4.2 The FBC compiles the data to support the need for a new facility, taking into 
consideration the existing and potential offer provided by Parkside, and considers the 
best approach to providing custody and Police functions to serve the southern area of 
Cambridgeshire.  

4.3 The site search is detailed in the FBC and summarised in the following section. 

5. Site Search    

5.1 In March 2017 MP Real Estate were appointed to act as land agent on the 
constabulary’s behalf, and have undertaken a number of site searches with the latest 
undertaken in January 2019.  

5.2 Operational requirements will inform the best geographical location for the new 
facility, such requirements include: 

Travel time from point of arrest 

Where arrests are happening 

Ease of access to main road network 

Parking Availability for operational vehicles and staff 

Transportation links for detainee on release and staff travel to/from work 

5.3 Although response time is of high importance, it is less likely that officers will be 
responding from the custody facility. An officer will attend to a call whilst on patrol or 
from the location of a previous call. 

5.4 A key aspect that highlights the importance of minimal travel times is the safety of 
officers and detainees whilst in transit. Extended travel time and distance increases 
risk of potential harm during transfer from point of arrest to point of detention. 
Guidance dictates that an intoxicated detainee needs to be roused and spoken to at 
least every 30 minutes to check on their condition. This can be difficult during van 
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transfers to custody. This risk needs to be kept to a minimum and a 30-minute 
maximum travel time can therefore be justified. Therefore, travel time in this 
situation is from the place of arrest to custody, rather than response time from 
custody. 

5.5 The designated search area for the new site ensured that travel time from point of 
arrest to custody would be within the 30 minutes transfer time. Thorpe Wood and 
Kings Lynn had their travel times mapped to display the area within a 30 minute 
travel zone.  The area of site search was further mapped by identifying the locations 
of the County not within the Thorpe Wood/Kings Lynn 30 minute zone. The three 
core site considerations are: 

1. Assessment of travel distances and area coverage of Cambridgeshire Police:   
ensuring that there is a custody facility within a travel time of 30 minutes relative to 
the location of an incident anywhere within the County 

2. Assessment of the location of arrest across Cambridgeshire within a 2-year period, 
to identify potential “hot spots” of arrest 

3.  Locations of future large housing developments and centres of population     growth, 
to ensure some future proofing of any new facility to be able to deliver efficient 
policing to new communities. 

5.6 The sites of future housing developments were taken into consideration, as an 
increase in housing and therefore population, is predicted to increase police demand.  
The following projected housing growth was taken into account: 

 
 Clay Farm- 2,250 dwellings, 

 Cambourne- 2,350 dwellings, 

 Bourn Airfield- 3,500 dwellings, 

 Cambridge Northern Fringe East – 5,500 dwellings 

 Waterbeach- 9,000 dwellings, and, 
 Northstowe- 10,000 dwellings. 
 Milton – 6000 dwellings approx. 

5.7 This analysis has identified and focussed on an area of search to the north of   Cambridge 
along the A14 and A10 corridors as being the ideal location for the Southern Police Station.  



 

Business Coordination Board  Agenda Item: 5.2 

31 July 2019  Page 4 of 6 

 

 

            

                
 
5.8  The planning consultant and land agent were provided with the search area and 

requested to find appropriate sites for the new police station. A site analysis matrix 
acted as a filter system to dismiss unsuitable sites that did not meet Cambridgeshire 
Constabulary’s operational needs as set out in their aims and objectives for the 
project. The site search rationale is shown in Appendix 2 but in summary the site 
analysis consisted of three stages;  

Stage 1 - Initial site assessment; The desired outcome of stage 1 is to reduce the 
number of sites that are too remote with poor access and will result in longer  
travel times. 

Stage 2 - Detailed site assessment; Stage 2 goes into depth and has more specific 
criteria. This stage focuses on excluding sites that could result in avoidable costs to 
the project, whilst taking into consideration staff and public. The scoring system 
allows for fair and transparent site comparison aligned to the client’s aims and 
objectives. 

Stage 3 - Due diligence; Stage 3 is a detailed due diligence of a minimum 3 sites     
that meet the client’s operational needs. All three sites are in greenbelt and a 
further commission is in progress to understand the site of least harm to the 
greenbelt.   

5.9 The process has led to the prospect of development in the Green Belt to the north of 
Cambridge where it is recognised that planning permission will only be granted 
provided that very special circumstances are found to exist and that the harm to the 
green belt is the minimum possible. 

5.10 The preferred site is an 8 acre plot to the south of Milton Park and Ride.  An Option 
Agreement has been secured to allow site due diligence and to undertake local 
engagement ahead of any planning application.    

 
 
   



 

Business Coordination Board  Agenda Item: 5.2 

31 July 2019  Page 5 of 6 

 

 

6.           Engagement 

In order to identify and better understand local concerns with regards to the proposal 

to build a new police station at Milton, a scoping survey was undertaken to seek the 

early views of the public and stakeholders by the Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner. The concerns raised will help inform future consultation and 

engagement on this project in the weeks to come.  

The question presented to stakeholders and the public was: What do you think of the 

Police and Crime Commissioner’s proposal to build a new police station on the 

outskirts of Milton, Cambridge? The survey ran from 10th June until 19th July and 

during this time communication and engagement activities were held in Cambridge 

City and South Cambridgeshire. People were asked to complete an online survey or 

telephone/email their responses. 

Summary  

In response to the question “What do you think of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner’s proposal to build a new police station on the outskirts of Milton, 

Cambridge?” a total of 375 responses were received of which 294 were completed 

online with 81 via email or telephone. The majority of responses were supportive of 

the proposal. 

The demographic data collected demonstrates that a wide range of people 

participated and engaged in the survey and of a makeup that closely representative 

of the area as a whole. Of those who identified the area where they lived (294), 

166/56.5% selected South Cambridgeshire with 64/21.8% comments received from 

residents from Cambridge City. The remaining 64/21.7% were spread between East 

Cambs, Fenland, Huntingdonshire, Peterborough and outside the county. 

Whilst the majority of the responses were supportive of the proposal, there were a 

number of concerns raised. The recurring themes of the concerns were: 

 In favour of the proposed location, however concerns such as increased traffic, 

noise pollution, dispersal of offenders and police response times. 

 City Centre preferred location due to accessibility, response times, greenbelt and 

having a city presence  

 The vast majority of the responses received, where the person identified where they 
lived, were from South Cambridgeshire and Cambridge City. Broadly speaking the 
concerns from the Cambridge City residents were around the police presence in the 
city. The majority of the South Cambridgeshire responses were positive, however 
where concerns were raised, they related more to the specific location proposed such 
as the dispersal of people held in custody and increased traffic and noise pollution. 
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7. Equality Impact Assessment 

 An equality impact assessment has been undertaken and is subject to a separate report to 
BCB. 

8.    Recommendation    

 8.1     The Board is recommended to: 

c. Note the Full Business Case, site search and preferred location at Milton.   

d. Note the early engagement with members of the public and stakeholders. 
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1.0 Executive Summary 
 

Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) Jason Ablewhite works alongside 

Cambridgeshire Police to deliver effective and efficient policing, in line with the objectives set out within 

the Local Policing Review programme for Cambridgeshire.  

 

Cambridgeshire Police’s main southern police station at Parkside doesn’t fulfil the directive set for 

delivering policing within Cambridgeshire. This Full Business Case is written in accordance with HM 

Treasury Green Book using the Five Case Model to determine the most appropriate way of providing 

policing provision for the southern area of Cambridgeshire.  

 

Cambridgeshire Police has identified the most effective means of policing for their geographical area as a 

two-centre policing model, the area of coverage has been split north and south. The current model uses 

Thorpe Wood at Peterborough as the main northern Police station, and Parkside in Cambridge City 

centre as the main southern police station, as both stations contain custody facilities, supported by 

smaller satellite police stations within the county. Further custody facilities at Kings Lynn in Norfolk are 

used for arrests occurring in the north east more remote areas of Cambridgeshire. 

 

Thorpe Wood Custody contains 29 cells whilst there are only 12 cells in operation at Parkside, leaving 

insufficient custody capacity within the southern area of Cambridgeshire. At times of high demand 

additional travel time and resource is required to take detainees 40 miles to Thorpe Wood in 

Peterborough. Custody provision to the south of the county needs to provide 24 cells to avoid this 

unnecessary transporting of detainees and the resultant reduced policing capacity during travel time as 

well as providing resilience for emergencies and planned maintenance.  

 

Parkside was constructed in the 1960’s and is beyond its’ functional age as a police facility requiring 

significant investment to keep the building operational in the mid to long term. The building layout is 

restrictive and does not meet current Policing standards. This limits the efficient delivery of policing to 

the community.  

 

The options available to increase custody capacity and increase efficiency of other support services has 

been appraised and clearly demonstrates that the most effective way to implement the Two-Centre 

Policing model within Cambridgeshire is to provide a new Southern Cambridgeshire Police station. This 

would provide most services currently delivered from Parkside, whilst also increasing custody capacity. A 

smaller city centre policing base will be retained. 

 

The new South Cambridgeshire Police Station will be designed to meet the current operational needs 

and will not only provide sufficient custody provision for current demand but will be future proofed to 

allow for an increase in demand, as the population increases with the new housing developments planned 

within the area. 

 

The strategic and functional criteria for identifying a suitable location for the new facility have been 

established and a full site search within the defined area has been carried out. Criteria for the new site 

were set adopting   3 core considerations: 

 

1. Assessment of travel distances and area coverage of Cambridgeshire Police: ensuring that there 

is a custody facility within a travel time of 30 minutes relative to the location of an incident 

anywhere within the County    

 

2. Assessment of the location of arrest across Cambridgeshire within a 2-year period, to identify 

potential “hot spots” of arrest  

 

3. Locations of future large housing developments and centres of population growth, to ensure 

some future proofing of any new facility to be able to deliver efficient policing to new 

communities.  

 

This analysis has identified and focussed on an area of search to the north of Cambridge along the A14 

and A10 corridors as being the ideal location for the Southern Police Station. Land available for 

development will   be assessed as the next stage of this process, leading to the preparation of a planning 

case for the new development..  

 

The new facility will enable full implementation of the local policing review programme for 

Cambridgeshire Police and improve efficiencies in staff working methods, decrease travel times and 

reduce operational risk. This will be achieved by supporting the delivery of neighbourhood and 

community policing, shorten travel times with detainees, providing better custody environment meeting 

current standards that also have sufficient capacity for current levels of demand with the ability to 

expand to meet future changes in demand. 

 

Essential maintenance was completed at Parkside in 2014, this was only intended to extend the useable 

lifespan of the buildings for up to 5 years. Delivery of the new Southern Police Station therefore needs to 

be completed before the facilities at Parkside require further major investment to keep them operational.  

 

There are key risks to Cambridgeshire Police and the project which include; ensuring the site is 

developable for Cambridgeshire Police; an increase in demand for custody prior to the new facility being 

available and construction costs increasing at a time of unpredictable markets due to political uncertainty. 

 

In addition, the identified area of search means that the identified site will be located within the green 

belt and securing successful planning permission to deliver a new facility for police remains a primary 

focus of project developments at this stage.  The   site search and site assessment must now be rigorous, 

complete and transparent, presenting a sound evidential basis to support any planning application. 

 

A timely solution for a new custody facility is needed as there is risk that Parkside may be deemed 

unsuitable in the medium to longer term to continue to provide custody facilities. The most expedient 

design and procurement process adopts a Design and Build procurement route using a public approved 

Framework. Sufficient time for the process of design development and construction will be required to 

ensure a quality scheme is delivered that meets end user requirements. This must be factored into the 

development of the delivery programme. 

 

Following the identification of the most suitable site in planning terms the initial project tasks will be to 

undertake the site due diligence and ensure the preferred site is developable by Cambridgeshire Police, 

and ensures full feedback is provided to the land owner in accordance with the Option agreement.  

 

Site surveys and investigations will be instructed and a full site feasibility report will be prepared to 

inform land options recommended within this Full Business Case and provide support to the planning 

case for development in the Green Belt.   
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2.0 Introduction 

 The Approach 

This Full Business Case (FBC) has been commissioned by Cambridgeshire Police working closely with the 

Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) to collate information and data to establish the business case for 

a new police and custody facility.  This FBC is written in accordance with HM Treasury Green Book – 

Central Government Guidance on appraisal and evaluation 2018, using the Five Case Model, covering the 

following 

 

a. The Strategic Case 

b. The Economic Case 

c. The Commercial Case 

d. The Financial Case 

e. The Management Case 

 

This Full Business Case compiles the data to support the need for a new facility, taking into consideration 

the existing and potential offer provided by Parkside, and considers the best approach to providing 

custody and Police functions to serve the southern area of Cambridgeshire. This report presents 

information that explains why the current facilities at Parkside Police Station in Cambridge require 

replacement and explores the best approach to the delivery of custody in the south of  Cambridgeshire  .  

By adopting the approved approach of the OGC Five Case Model for business case writing, we will 

establish: 

 

• The need for increased custody provision 

• The options for Custody provision within Cambridge 

• Explore the opportunity to expand and improve Parkside in line with the requirements of the 

Police Operating Model. 

• The site options for a new facility 

• Selection of the most appropriate location for a new custody facility and the reasons for 

collocating other police services at the new site? 

• How to procure the chosen option. 

• Financial implications of the scheme 

• Management of the delivery of the chosen option 

 

 

 The Project History 

The Chief Constable is responsible for the effective and efficient delivery of the police service within 

Cambridgeshire. As the owner of the estate, one of the ways this is being achieved is through ensuring 

the estate, where reasonably practicable provides best delivery of service. The PCC has worked closely 

with the constabulary at each stage of the project, and together commissioned the following stages of the 

project. 

 

Cambridgeshire Police commissioned Barker Storey Matthews to complete a feasibility study for a new 

divisional headquarters at Cambridge in 2009. This study identified that the site at Parkside was too small 

to meet future requirements especially those relating to custody and therefore concluded that 

refurbishment of the facility at Parkside was not an adequate option. The study was not taken any further 

as the project was put on hold in 2010 due to austerity measures introduced by government. 

 

In 2015 the Chief Constable asked for a group to be set up to review the replacement of custody and 

other services provided at Parkside. 

 

 

In May 2015 Chief Inspector Iain Clark wrote a short paper summarising 3 custody options available to 

Cambridgeshire Police, which were stated as 

 

a. Single Site at Alconbury for a 56 cell facility 

b. Site at St Neots in collaboration with Bedfordshire Police 

c. Site at Milton providing custody 

 

The paper recommended that the project board focused on a replacement custody facility in the Milton 

area as this was deemed to be the most cost-effective option. 

 

In January 2016 Chief Inspector Iain Clark wrote a further paper on Parkside custody replacement 

options. This looked in more depth at the various options compared to the May 2015 Paper and 

concluded that the replacement of most functions from Parkside as the best option operationally, at a 

single site within the Cambridge area. As a result of this study a project relaunch paper was written by 

the Director of Estates and Director of finances, providing the remit of the facility and reiterating the 

location of the facility is to remain within a reasonable travel time to Cambridge City centre, allowing 

good access for officers to attend incidents within the city centre.  

 

Momentum on the project picked up with the Chief Constable and PCC instructing the search for 

suitable land.  In March 2017 MP Real Estate were appointed to act as land agent on the constabulary’s 

behalf, and an updated land search was carried out. The process of appointing a suitable consultancy 

through the SCAPE framework also commenced.  

 

The Project Initiation Document was written by the Constabulary’s estates team in June 2017, 

highlighting the two imminent changes to custody practises that would potentially increase demand for 

custody those changes being i) Bail changes within the Policing and Security Bill and ii) the use of virtual 

courts. 

 

A further study was commenced in July 2017 to explore the best custody model for Cambridgeshire. 

With the project relaunch, there was a remit to secure land and build a 20-24 cell custody facility within 

reasonable travel distance of Cambridge city. Pick Everard were appointed through the SCAPE 

framework as design consultant to assist with site due diligence and professional design guidance for the 

initial stages of the project. 

 

The Outline Business Case for the proposal was written in September 2017 by the constabulary’s estates 

team. This provided a clear description of the proposed development, setting out the project programme 

and the financial and non-financial implications of the project. With a recommendation of providing 

flexibility for evolving custody requirements by pursuing a new facility on the outskirts of Cambridge city 

centre, disposing of the existing site at Parkside, but retain a smaller city presence. 

 

After consultation with Planning Advisors, it was determined that in order to ensure an auditable and 

transparent process a complete Full Business Case would be developed to interrogate the need and brief 

for any new facility; undertake a new site search, given the passing of time since the original site search; 

and undertake a formal assessment of site options based upon current and future service need.  In 

particular the assessment of risks and opportunities had identified that the main criterion influencing the 

location of the new custody facility should be the time taken to reach a custody suite after attending an 

incident in the south of the County, so as to minimise the time officers and detainees spent reaching the 

custody facility..  

 

This Full Business Case presents the findings of this new research in an approved business case approach, 

developing the rationale for any new facility, based upon the requirements of Cambridgeshire Police to 

deliver policing in the Cambridge area. 
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3.0 The Strategic Case – the case for change 

 Existing custody provision in Cambridge 

Cambridgeshire Police currently has the use of three custody suites, the current custody model works 

on a two-centre model within the county boundary with additional custody space being available as part 

of the PFI contract with Norfolk Constabulary for the use of Kings Lynn Police Investigation Centre..  
Cambridgeshire Police have the choice of two further custody suites which are available in the event of: 

• planned maintenance  
• an unexpected increase in demand which exceeds the capacity of the other three custody suites  
• if an incident occurs at one of those suites which means the business continuity plan needs to be 

invoked e.g. there is a loss of premises or systems.  
 

The locations of custody provision for Cambridgeshire Police consists of the following: 

 

Thorpe Wood, Peterborough – 29 Cells 

Parkside, Cambridge – 16 cells (only 12 currently in operation) 

Kings Lynn, Norfolk – there is a contractual agreement between Cambridgeshire and Norfolk 

Constabulary’s for the use of the PIC at Kings Lynn, which is provided via a 30 year PFI scheme 

with approximately 8 cells available to Cambridgeshire Police. 

March – 11 Cells (contingency use only) 

Huntingdon – 10 cells (contingency use only)  

 

 
Cambridgeshire Police operational zone map: custody locations 

 

Thorpe Wood provides custody for the northern area of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough and is 

located close to the A47 to the west of Peterborough. With 29 cells this is the main custody suite for 

Cambridgeshire Police. 

 

Parkside provides custody for the south of the region, but due to limited cells being available and the high 

demand, detainees are also taken to Thorpe Wood, which is 40mile north on the A14. The custody at 

Kings Lynn is generally used when an arrest is made in the north eastern reaches of the county, due to 

the geographical location, access to Kings Lynn is easier than Cambridge and Peterborough. 

 

Parkside Police station has been identified as requiring major maintenance works to ensure continued 

use of the buildings. Parkside covers a large geographical area and the 12 available cells is restrictive 

resulting in detainees being taken to Thorpe Wood during busy periods. The future of Parkside therefore 

needs to be considered by Cambridgeshire Police. 

 

 

 

 Parkside Police Station – The current offer 

Parkside Police station is located within the centre of Cambridge opposite Parkers Piece. It was built in 

1960’s and consists of three main blocks; the Police station itself which contains the custody suite, the 

CSI/ gymnasium block currently used as locker space and a multi-storey Car park. 

 

The Police Station 

This is a 4-storey building plus a basement. The custody facility is based on the ground floor. The original 

custody layout contained a total of 16 cells but only 12 of these are currently being used as cells. The 

other 4 original cells  as they no longer provided Home Office compliant custody space and could not be 

refurbished to meet the new improved regulations,  have been modified to create; 2 virtual court spaces, 

a consultation room, blanket store and documentation room. There is a staff canteen on the second 

floor, and the remainder of the building is split into various separate office spaces, with the functions 

dealing with more sensitive work being located on the top floor. 

 

CSI/Gymnasium 

This is a standalone 2 storey building, and houses SOCO, exhibits store, WC’s and changing on the 

ground floor. The first floor gymnasium is now used for locker space. 

 

Car park 

The multi storey car park contains workshop and stores on the ground floor level, with 3 car parking 

levels providing a total of 99 parking spaces. 

 

 

The facilities at Parkside no longer provide the standard of accommodation to meet the needs of a 

modern police force, where flexibility for change is required. When Parkside was built in the early 1960’s 

police stations were built as small cellular office spaces with senior ranks demanding dedicated personal 

office space. 

 

Policing has had a notable change since the opening of Parkside, working practices have been influenced 

by the use of technology, enabling an officer to complete many duties remote from the traditional Police 

Station. The use of technology has also enabled closer working between functions and the drive is to 

encourage this knowledge and resource sharing by working in open plan spaces rather than the 

traditional cellular offices which compromises how functions are able to work together. 

 

Any new custody facility should be designed to comply with the Home Office Design Police Buildings 

design guide. This guidance is produced to ensure maximum safety to both police staff and the detainee. 

Due to the age of the custody facilities at Parkside and changes inworking practices within custody   
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there is concern that any adaptions to Parkside would fall short of Home Office Compliance standards, 

despite the best efforts of the Police and staff to accommodate shortcomings. 

Condition of Parkside 

A condition survey was carried out on Parkside in 2010 (copy within appendix A) by BBS Chartered 

Building Surveyors. This concluded that the site had lacked planned maintenance in the years up to 2011. 

Some investment in recent years has been necessary to ensure the continued use of the building. 

 

Essential maintenance was carried out in 2014, which was expected to extend the life of the building for 

5 years and to improve custody compliance with safer detention regulations. To extend the life of the 

site beyond this, further major maintenance and remodelling works would be required. 

 

A custody inspection took place by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS) in August 2017 across the custody provision within Cambridgeshire. This reported 

that   some of the cells at Parkside had ingrained dirt and were generally a bit grubby. A deep clean was 

recommended. It was also noted within the HMICFRS inspection report and the condition survey that 

the cell ventilation system was not adequate, with cold cells in the winter and overheating in hot 

weather. There are significant shortcomings in the facilities at Parkside and these fall short of adopted 

Police Operating Model adopted by Cambridgeshire Constabulary. Shortcomings are mitigated as far as 

possible but at busy periods and with only 12 cells being available, management of the facilities was noted 

as being difficult and impacting operational efficiency. 
 
Improving Parkside and the custody provision it provides, cannot be undertaken piecemeal.  Once an 

area is upgraded then the facility is assessed in accordance with Home Office Guidance and there are a 

number of areas that, whilst they function adequately, fall short of current accommodation standards and 

would still not deliver the Police Operating Model.  The building fabric is poor and the site offers no 

option to expand to provide the additional custody facilities that are required.  Significant remodelling 

will not solve the capacity issues or overcome poor access due to the central city location, which then 

impacts the efficiency of the force. 

 

Current Demand for Custody 

The number of cells available to Cambridgeshire Police on a daily usage is circa 49 cells, with the 

availability to extend the number of cells by opening either facility at Huntingdon or March. These 

contingency facilities, which are otherwise unmanned, are only available at planned times for known busy 

periods or for planned maintenance. 

 
 Existing cell No. Comments 

Thorpe Wood 29  

Parkside 12 Location to close 

Kings Lynn 8 Approx. No available  

Daily Total 49  

March 11 Only used as contingency facility 

Huntingdon 10 Only used as contingency facility 

Grand TOTAL 70  

Current cudy cell numbers For Cambridgeshire Police 

 

 

Guidance from the College of Policing taken from https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-

content/detention-and-custody-2/ on custody capacity is given as 

 

Custody capacity 

• Cell capacity is based on single cell occupancy in accordance with PACE Code C paragraph 8.1. The safe 

operating capacity of a custody suite depends on a number of factors: 

• the number of detainees currently being held 

• the level of monitoring required for those detainees being held 

• identified risks 

• the number of trained and competent staff available on duty 

• operational commitments of the area 

• the actual number of cells in operation. 

• Where the custody officer determines that level of risk within the custody suite cannot be sufficiently 

reduced and/or mitigated to a safe operating level, then the custody officer may decide not to accept any 

further detainees. This is to avoid compromising the safety and welfare of the detainees and staff, in 

accord with their legislative responsibilities under PACE 

 

The capacity of custody at a given time, is therefore not only determined by the number of physical cells 

available but is also dependant on other factors such as staffing. The contingency suites would therefore 

only be available for use if staffing levels allow. 

 

Data on the cell occupation numbers was requested from Cambridgeshire Police, but the information is 

not recorded to indicate the average or peak cell usage across the estate. However, arrest data for the 2 

year period October 2016 through to October 2018 for Cambridgeshire has been interrogated. In that 

time over 24,000 arrests were made within the county. Not all those arrested will have been detained in 

custody, some will have been released on bail pending investigation. 

 

 

 
Daily arrest Data October 2016 – October 2018 

 

From the analysis of the arrest data, the average number of arrests each month is slowly declining.  This 

is a trend that other police forces have noticed.   However, while data on the time each detainee spent 

in custody within Cambridgeshire was not available, other police forces have reported that this is 

increasing. 

 

The reasons for this increase in detention times can be attributed to a number of key reasons.  Firstly, 

the changing nature of policing has resulted in the type and complexity of crimes under investigation 

increasing.  This means that investigations can often take longer due to the need to obtain more detailed 

evidence, from an increased number of sources, such as digital media.  Secondly, the number of detainees 

requiring medical assessment either for physical or mental health issues is increasing thereby adding to 

detention time to allow for the assessment.  Similarly, a growing need for interpreters for those who do 

not speak English means that interviews cannot start until an interpreter is in attendance at the police 

station.  At the conclusion of the custody process, the increasing use of virtual courts is resulting in 
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detainees being held until appearance at court happens via a video link from custody.  If applicable, the 

detainee then continues to remain at the custody facility until transport to prison becomes available.  

 

The police can hold a detainee for up to 24 hours before they must charge or release them. However, 

the period of detention can be extended for up to 36 hours with the authority of a Superintendent or 96 

hours with the authority of the court. The time of arrival at the police station is recorded and the 

detention clock starts from that point (or from the time of arrest if the person is arrested at the police 

station). It is therefore imperative that the detention time is used efficiently. A delay in the booking in 

process upon arrival will reduce the investigation time. The booking in process is largely dependent on 

the number of cells available at a facility and the staffing levels within custody. With a capacity of only 12 

cells at Parkside it takes on average 20mins to book someone into custody. 

 

The constabulary works to a principle of seeking to finalise investigations within the first period of 

detention wherever possible.  Changes to police use bail introduced by the Police and Crime Act in April 

2017 mean that there is now a presumption of release without bail in almost all cases, except where 

strict conditions apply.  As a consequence, and to ensure victims and the vulnerable are effectively 

safeguarded, the use of the initial 24 hour detention period is maximised to complete as many of the 

enquiries and investigations while detainees remain in custody. 

 

Based on the arrest data, the peak in number of arrests happened in October 2016 with a total of 54 in 

one day across the county. The average number of arrests is in the low-mid 30’s each day. If the 

assumption was made on the worst-case scenario, that each arrest required detention and for the 

maximum 24 hrs, the current custody provision would be enough on the average day. However, for 5 

months of the two year period, the number of arrests in one day exceeded the number of cells available. 

While the current cell provision was not reported to have been breached in the two year data period, it 

remained close to maximum capacity at times, highlighting that current cell provision is only just sufficient 

to meet current demand.  Any increase in demand would therefore result in current custody provision 

being insufficient.  

 

The contingency suite at Huntingdon was used for 268 detainees over the two year period. In most 

instances the facility was used for either planned maintenance or when emergency maintenance was 

required at another custody facility. The facility is purposely used as a fall back facility should there be an 

issue with either custody at Thorpe Wood or Parkside. It can only be used if staffing numbers permit and 

the facility is clean and ready for use. It would not be cost effective for additional staff to be held on 

standby to open an additional facility at short notice in times of high demand.  

 

Whilst the arrest data indicated the facility that the detainee was taken to, it did not indicate if the 

closest custody was full and whether they were therefore taken to an alternative location. With there 

being 40 miles between Parkside and Thorpe Wood, and a travel time of 50 minutes, there could be 

substantial additional travel times at peak periods. 

 

In addition, resilience across the county needs to be considered to allow for unexpected peaks in 

demand or a custody suite closure for unplanned maintenance. Additionally, the custody facility at 

Thorpe Wood is known to need refurbishment. The impact this will have on custody provision and 

timescales is currently unknown, but allowance for such an event will need to be considered and how it 

can be managed and impact to service mitigated. 

 

The locations of where the arrest occurred between October 2016 and October 2018 has been mapped. 

From the arrest data it is clear that the area of higher arrest rate is within Cambridge and to areas to the 

north such as Ely and Soham and to the west at Cambourne.  

 

 
 Cambridgeshire Police Operational Zone map: Number of arrests by location, October 2016 – October 2018 

 

 

Travel times with detainee 

Officers are currently deployed on patrol at the start of a shift from one of the three current operating 

response hubs (Parkside, Ely and Huntingdon), to provide coverage for the southern area of 

Cambridgeshire. The location of these hubs does not impact on subsequent patrol activity and area of 

coverage. The travel time of officers from the response hub to the point incident is therefore not such 

an important factor. 

 

From the point that a person is arrested, they become the responsibility of the Police. Ideally the travel 

time from point of arrest to custody needs to be kept to an absolute minimum to reduce any risk to 

both detainees and officers.  Many detainees are often vulnerable at the point of arrest for reasons that 

can include excessive drug and alcohol use, mental health issues and heightened emotional stress as a 

consequence of their arrest.  It is important that any transfer period is minimised as far as possible to 

reduce the time that detainees spend in a police vehicle where they could place themselves or others at 

risk.  In addition, it is important to ensure that officers can return to duty as quickly as possible to ensure 

there are sufficient resources available to answer other emergency calls for service.   

 

As Parkside is the default custody facility covering Cambridge City, East Cambridgeshire, south 

Cambridgeshire and large parts of Huntingdon, average travel time with a detainee is increased, especially 

during busy periods such as morning and evening rush hour. Only arrests that occur within the city 
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centre benefit from a central custody suite, but these arrests are largely associated with the night time 

economy, when the roads are generally quiet. 

 

The location of a custody suite is therefore important as it has an impact on the safety of both detainees 

and police staff, resource levels and the efficiency of the investigation. 

 

 

 The need for new facilities 

Home Office guidance 

The most current adopted guidance on the provision of custody is the Home Office Police Buildings 

Design Guide 2011. This guidance is produced to ensure maximum safety for both police staff and the 

detainee, whilst also ensuring uniformity in working practices within custody. Revisions to this guide have 

been drafted but to date have not been formally adopted. All new custody facilities should be built in 

accordance with the current approved guidance. Any derogations away from the design guide should be 

documented, risk assessed and actioned accordingly. 

 

A peer review was carried out on the facilities at Parkside in September 2014 (copy contained in 

Appendix B). This identified 11 areas of improvement to make the current facility more compliant. 

Works have subsequently been completed at Parkside to improve the current facility as far as reasonably 

possible. 

 

A Home Office Inspection of Parkside was undertaken in August 2017 and the facilities continue to 

provide inadequate space and the condition of the building is deteriorating despite intermittent repairs.   

Extensive remodelling could improve the custody, however due to limitations of the current building and 

its structure, it would fall short of the provision needed by Cambridgeshire Police.  Whilst derogations 

from the Home Office guidance can be made, Cambridgeshire Police would have to document and 

evidence that every derogation would not cause a risk to either detainee or member of staff. The 

number of derogations is likely to be high and the impact upon operational efficiency significant and 

unsustainable. 

 

It is recommended that a current report is commissioned to assess Parkside Custody and Police Station 

against the Home Office guidance to assess condition of the building and potential cost to now totally 

refurbish, with a view to extend the life and operational function of the building up to 50 years.  In 

addition, the function of Parkside needs to be aligned with the adopted Police Operational Model and an 

external review should be undertaken to assess if this is reasonably possible. 

 

College of Policing 

The College of Policing was established in 2012 as a professional body to provide those working within 

policing in England and Wales with the skills and knowledge necessary to prevent crime, protect the 

public and secure public trust. They therefore provide guidance on various aspects of policing, including 

neighbourhood policing and custody management. A brief summary of which is below 

 

Neighbourhood policing 

The College of Police give the defining features of neighbourhood policing as 

 

• Police officers, staff and volunteers accessible to, responsible for and accountable to communities  

• Community engagement that builds trust and develops a sophisticated understanding of community 

needs 

• Collaborative problem-solving with communities supported by integrated working with private, public and 

voluntary sectors 

 

The College of Policing definition of neighbourhood policing recognises that those involved in 

neighbourhood policing need time and space to work in a proactive and preventative way to:  

 

• Protect local neighbourhoods or communities  

• Safeguard the vulnerable     

• Manage and divert offenders     

• Earn community confidence 

 

These features distinguish neighbourhood policing from other broader policing functions. Those involved 

in neighbourhood policing need the ability to work in a proactive and preventative way to achieve the 

goals set by the College of Policing. 

 

Custody Management and planning 

The principles for safer detention are given by the College of Policing as 

1. There is a strategic focus, supported by the chief officer group, which promotes the safe and decent 

delivery of custody. 

2. Detention is appropriate, authorised and lasts no longer than is necessary. Forces adhere to all rights 

relating to PACE and the PACE Codes of Practice. While detainees are in custody, officers and staff treat 

them in a way that is dignified and takes account of their human rights and diverse individual needs. 

Custody staff are respectful in their day-to-day working and are aware of and responsive to any particular 

risks and vulnerabilities. 

3. Detainees have access to health and social care services appropriate to their physical and mental health 

needs. They receive emergency medical care where necessary and are provided with appropriate 

medication or support according to their needs. 

4. Any force used within a custody suite is necessary, proportionate and lawful. 

5. All custody officers and staff have undergone appropriate and adequate training. Police, contract and 

healthcare professionals (HCPs) understand their role and their legal responsibilities and are operationally 

competent. 

6. All areas of the custody suite are clean and safe. Officers and staff keep custody facilities in a good state 

of repair and ensure that they are fit for purpose and meet fire safety standards. 

7. Officers and staff record and monitor all use of force. 

8. Forces must ensure that there are appropriate governance and accountability arrangements in place for 

contracted and commissioned staff. 

 

Further guidance is given within HMIC Expectations for police custody document and provides criteria 

for assessing the treatment of the conditions for detainees in Police custody. This guidance is used when 

HMIC inspections take place at custody facilities. 

 

 

Target Operating Model 

Cambridgeshire Police have undergone a review of their structure and, through the Local Policing 

Review Change Programme, were tasked with designing a model that would deliver a demand-led and 

victim-focused service which provided much needed support to the frontline. As well as delivering 

additional frontline staff, the model creates two geographical policing areas, thereby delivering on the 

core principle of ‘one team’ providing more effective and efficient governance, improved resilience and 

reduced supervisory and senior management posts.  

 

As part of the review, a consultancy with an extensive background of demand forecasting supported the 

constabulary and provided a strong and robust evidence base for the most effective locations of police 

stations.  This work analysed demand, resources and travel times and presented options according to the 

total number of sites required by the constabulary and identified the requirement for a two centre 

model. 

 

Working to a two centre model, these locations were confirmed as Thorpe Wood in Peterborough in 

the north of the county and a further hub location in the South of the county, located to the north of 

Cambridge.   
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Benefits of Co-Location  

Efficiencies in working practices can be achieved when the correct teams are able to work together. The 

efficiencies that can be achieved for the constabulary by locating those functions that work alongside 

custody together are 

 

• Improved communications  

Being able to talk face to face rather than relying on communication such as email improves 

working relations and saves time by gaining instant answers. 

 

• Time  

The amount of time that patrol officers spend within custody during handover of a detainee is 

reduced, as the investigation team are located at the same location. The quicker handover allows 

the patrol officers and those working in preventative and neighbourhood functions to resume the 

patrol of their local area more quickly. 

 

The investigation team conduct interviews with both the detainee and victims with detainee 

interviews taking place within custody. To ensure the victim feels comfortable engaging with the 

police, these interviews take place in an environment outside of the custody block.  However, by 

having an appropriate location in close proximity to the custody cells, reduces the travel time of 

police staff and, consequently, the overall detention time for detainees. 

 

• Information sharing improves intelligence 

Direct access between the Investigation team and SOCO is important to ensure the correct 

evidence is collected. 

 

• Awareness of others work 

Sharing knowledge of particular issues or investigations can often complement other live 

investigations. Links are made, the potential for duplication minimised and intelligence 

opportunities are maximised.  

 

Improved understanding of other functions’ working practices, and how they can be utilised to 

complement each other’s work.  

 

The processes of how the core policing functions work with custody, have been clarified within the 

adjacent flow chart. It can be seen that that there are significant business benefits for the following 

functions being co-located with custody: 

 

- CAISU 

- Neighbourhood team 

- Response team 

- Investigation Team 

- SOCO 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Police functions involvement with custody 
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Future demand 

Cambridgeshire and in particular the south of the county is one of the fastest growing areas in the 

country and has been recognised as a quintessential residential and employment area due to its thriving 

economy and quality of life. The south area of Cambridgeshire is a rural district that encompasses 

Cambridge City, with its borders being 10-15 miles from Cambridge. The district comprises of over 100 

villages broken down into 4 sub-categories; Rural Centres, Minor Rural Centres, Group Villages and infill 

villages.   

 

Rural Centres 

Rural Centres are described as the most sustainable villages; they have appropriate access to secondary 

schools, employment opportunities, a variety of services and facilities as well as good public transport 

services to Cambridge.  

 

These Rural Centres have been identified as prime areas for development and redevelopment. The Local 

Plan, adopted October 2018, identified several sites as Areas of Major Change, however the 7 sites of 

note are; 

Between Huntingdon road and Histon Road- 1,696 dwellings 

Clay Farm- 2,250 dwellings, 

Cambourne- 2,350 dwellings, 

Bourn Airfield- 3,500 dwellings, 

Waterbeach- 9,000 dwellings, 

Northstowe- 10,000 dwellings and 

Cambridge Northern Fringe – Circa 4,000 dwellings. 

 

Waterbeach and Northstowe are to form new towns within South Cambridgeshire District Council. 

Waterbeach is yet to have works commence with planning permission having recently been resolved to 

be granted for a phase of 4,500 homes. In comparison, residents have already started to relocate to 

Northstowe, with Phase 1 releasing 92 homes which families moved into in May 2017. 

 

Cambridge City Council and South Cambridgeshire District Council have prepared a draft issues and 

options consultation document as it relates to ‘North East Cambridge Area Action Plan’. This document 

was published for consultation for six weeks up to the period up to the end of February 2019 and sought 

responses to proposed new significant development within the area, within the next Plan period. 

 

 
Northern Fringe Area Action Plan, Location map 

 

 

With the growth of over 31,000 planned new homes within the southern area of Cambridgeshire, to the 

north of the City,  in turn comes additional demand for policing and the other police functions. This 

includes a higher demand for custody facilities and puts further pressure on the existing limited facilities 

at Parkside.  

 

Within the 2011 census, there were 2.3 occupants per household. Based on an increase of housing it 

could be assumed that the population of southern area of Cambridgeshire will therefore increase by 

circa 71,000 people. Currently, cell to population ratio is 1 cell per 13,500 people. On this basis, with the 

expected population growth, a minimum of 6 additional cells will reasonably be required. 

 

Future capacity 

It is recognised that the additional travel time required to Thorpe Wood when Parkside is full may be 

supressing the true nature of demand for cells in the south of the county.  To ensure the most effective 

use of resources and to reduce the amount of time officers spend on minor incidents, it is more likely 

that when dealing with offenders who have committed minor offences, alternative methods other than 

arrest will be used.  

 

A new 24 cell facility would increase the total number of cells available on a daily basis to 61. This 

number of cells would meet the true demand for cells in the south of the county, provide capacity for 

future increases in demand due to any increase in crime, population growth, and provide contingency for 

both peaks in demand and any unplanned maintenance and exceptional circumstances such as a major 

local incident where a large number of cells are required at the same time. 

 

 

 The aims and objectives of service delivery 

Client aims 

The aim of the project is to ensure delivery of the local policing review by providing a single force with a 

two-centre base, which will enable delivery of an efficient service that is demand led and victim focused.  

 

To achieve this the focus of the project is to provide a facility for the southern area of Cambridgeshire 

that not only meets current policing standards but enables flexibility for future change ensuring the 

delivery of 21st Century policing.  

 

It is expected that the encouragement of improved collaborative working between policing functions will 

result in an increase of efficiencies in officer time, the outcome of which will lend to a better service for 

the wider community and keeping people safe 

 

 

Client Requirements 

Cambridgeshire Police’s chosen solution is to relocate all functions of Parkside to a new facility. The 

project name is Cambridgeshire Southern Police Station (CSPS). It is acknowledged that any new facility 

would not be located within Cambridge, and therefore a city centre presence would need to be 

maintained to reassure public of a local policing presence in the city centre. 

 

The client has defined their requirements to be: 

 

1. Provide a Southern Cambridgeshire Police Hub, which is integral to the delivery of the Police 

Operational Model. 

2. Location of the Southern Hub needs to ensure that travel from point of detention to any custody 

facility is kept to a minimum. 
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3. Any location of new hub must align with the Police Operational Model so that policing within the 

whole county is efficient and sustainable. 

4. The occupation of the new Southern Hub will align with that already adopted at Thorpe Wood. 

5. There are some operational improvements identified at Thorpe Wood and these should be 

improved at any new facility. 

6. Other functions to be located within this new facility are: 

i. Neighbourhood Policing team 

ii. SOCO 

iii. Storage facility accessible to the public 

iv. Integrated Offender Management 

v. Public Protection 

vi. Abuse Investigation. 

 

7. The Custody facility needs to include: 

 

i. Minimum of 24 cells with the ability for future expansion, with a site size to achieve this.  

ii. All Custody MUST be on the ground floor in accordance with Home Office design 

guidance 

iii. Preferred radial design for custody, as this allows best view of site from the charge desk 

(rather than the racetrack design). This also allows space allocation for future expansion 

without major disruption to existing facilities or service delivery 

 

8. Preferred model of office accommodation is 2 storey, 3 storeys would be acceptable if site size is 

limited 

9. Car parking requirements 

i. Operations 68no. vehicles, inc 10no. large spaces for vans 

ii. Staff required 242no. spaces – to allow for staff shift patterns 

iii. Staff minimum No.s dependant on final location and what transportation links are available 

iv. Visitors, partners, site contractors 15-20 spaces 

 

10. Ease of access to the site from the areas of high arrest as well as ease of access/egress for 

detainees; families; custody support services (ie. Solicitors, Doctors) and police 

11. Sensitivity to neighbours especially with regards to release of detainees 

12. Transport links to enable detainee journey home 

13. Economically viable 
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4.0 The Economic Case 

 The Options 

Several papers have been written both by Cambridgeshire Police and by external consultants, looking at 

various options around the provision of services currently provided by Parkside. Essentially the main 

options are: 

1. Do Nothing 

2. Refurbish/Remodel Parkside 

3. Relocate Custody only, and retain other functions at Parkside 

4. Relocate all functions from Parkside 

 

As a means of determining which option the constabulary should peruse, each option is measured against 

the aims and objectives. The best option will provide the means of achieving all aims and objectives. To 

reinforce this analysis the evaluation of the strengths, weaknesses and opportunities of each option 

provides a better understanding of what needs to be incorporated within the chosen scheme. 

 

 

 Evaluation of each option 

Do nothing option 

The facilities at Parkside were given a refurbishment in 2014, these works were intended to extend the 

lifespan of the buildings for 7-10 years. To stay within the existing facilities further major maintenance 

will be required. These will only provide a limited extension to the life expectancy of the building. 

 
Aims  Comments 

Meets current service delivery standards 
 

Custody at Parkside doesn’t comply with current 

new build standards. 

Allows for future flexibility of changing policing 

methods  
The current building layout at Parkside is restrictive 

on how functions currently work and there is 

limited scope for future changes. 

Encourages collaborative working across functions 
 

The current building layout is split into smaller 

offices spaces leaning towards independent 

working 

Provide means to improve efficiencies of working 
 

The building layout is restrictive in changing ways 

of working 

Objectives  Comments 

Provision of 24 cells.  

  
Currently only 12 cells available for use.  

ALL custody MUST all be on the ground floor in 

accordance with Home Office design guidance 
✓ 

Custody at Parkside is at ground floor level 

Preferred radial design for custody, as this allows 

best view of site from the charge desk over the 

racetrack design 

 

 
Layout of cells is neither radial or racetrack as 

recommend within Home Office design guidance. 

View of the cells is not achieved from the charge 

desk 

Preferred model of office accommodation is 2 

storey, 3 storeys would be acceptable 

 

 
Parkside office accommodation is located over 4 

storeys. 

Sufficient parking for operational vehicles/ visitors 

and staff  
Parking Numbers are limited at Parkside, staff 

parking is restricted leaving staff finding alternative 

methods of transport to work, which is not ideal 

for those working shift patterns. 

Location, coverage of area of county in relation to 

other custody locations 

 

✓ 
Parkside is located to the southern area of 

Cambridgeshire, but located in city centre 

position 

Ease of access to the site from the areas of high 

arrest 

 

 
Some of the high arrest areas are located to the 

north of Cambridge. Transport time from point of 

arrest to centre of Cambridge can be extended in 

rush hour periods 

Sensitivity to neighbours especially with regards to 

release of detainees 

 

 
Release of detainee is within the centre of town and 

this may enable continued unwelcome behaviour 

Transport links to enable detainee journey home 

  
As Parkside is located in the city centre, there are 

many transport options for detainee’s journey 

home, however there is greater potential for 

detainees to return to their unlawful activities 

easily. 

Economically viable 

  
Major maintenance works required to all facilities 

at Parkside which will extend the lifespan of the site 

by a limited period 

 

It is clear from the measure against the aims and objectives that the “Do Nothing” option significantly 

fails to meet the objectives of Cambridgeshire Police. This is reinforced when looking at the strengths, 

weakness and opportunities. With there being only one strength, no foreseen opportunities but several 

points of weakness. To DO NOTHING will not improve the current or future provision for police in 

Cambridgeshire 

 
Strengths Weaknesses Opportunities 

Retain existing city centre policing 

presence 

Limited life left in the building before 

major investment required. 

 

 Limited Custody capacity in 

Southern area of Cambridgeshire. 

 

 Travel time with detainee to town 

centre can be increased at peak times 

 

 Many derogations from Home Office 

guidance 

 

 Staff moral low, existing facilities not 

fit for purpose 

 

 Doesn’t provide suitable space to 

improve the safeguarding of 

vulnerable persons to support 

positive behaviours beyond custody 

incident. 

 

 Contingency suite only available for 

planned use – too costly to retain 

permanently on stand by 
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Refurbish/Remodel Parkside 

An option open to Cambridgeshire Police would be to complete major refurbishment and remodelling 

works to Parkside, including all the office accommodation and standalone CSI/Gymnasium block. This 

option would extend the useable lifespan of all the current site and the custody provision could be 

improved. But the current building and site are restrictive of any potential changes. The ability to ensure 

custody could be remodelled to comply with Home Office design guidance is minimal. Many derogations 

will be required which could leave detainees and staff at risk. 

 

The size of the custody facility will be limited and will still only provide 12 cells. Travel times from some 

areas within Cambridgeshire Police’s southern operational area will be over 30mins as vehicles with 

detainees need to get to the congested centre of the city. 

 

Improvements to the office accommodation would be limited by the building structure, creating a 

modern open plan office space will be limited and functions may still remain working in singular offices. 

 

Major remodelling works would be very disruptive to the site and will close custody whilst the works are 

going ahead. Alternative custody provision would be required during the remodelling works, and 

potentially temporary staff office accommodation would also be required. 

 
Aims   

Meets current service delivery standards 
 

Changes can be made to the building to improve 

service delivery, but there will be limitations on the 

possible changes 

Allows for future flexibility of changing policing 

methods  
The building layout is restrictive and limits scope 

for future changes. 

Encourages collaborative working across functions 
 

The current building layout is split into smaller 

offices spaces leaning towards independent 

working 

Provide means to improve efficiencies of working 
 

The building layout leaves little changes in ways of 

working 

Objectives   

Provision of 24 cells.  

  
Space is limited and remodelling may provide the 

potential to increase cell numbers, the aspired 24 

cells will not be achieved. 

ALL custody MUST all be on the ground floor in 

accordance with Home Office design guidance 
✓ 

Custody would remain in the current area on 

ground floor. 

Preferred radial design for custody, as this allows 

best view of site from the charge desk over the 

racetrack design 

 

 
Due to restrictions of the existing building and it’s 

structure the radial design cannot be achieved. The 

racetrack layout would also be unlikely achievable 

Preferred model of office accommodation is 2 storey, 

3 storeys would be acceptable 

 

 
Parkside office accommodation is located over 4 

storeys 

Sufficient parking for operational vehicles/ visitors 

and staff  
Parking Numbers are limited at Parkside, staff 

parking is restricted leaving staff finding alternative 

methods of transport to work, which is not ideal 

for those working shift patterns. 

Location, coverage of area of county in relation to 

other custody locations 

 

 
Parkside is located to the southern area of 

Cambridgeshire, but located in city centre position 

so access at busy times exceeds the maximum 30 

minute travel time. 

Ease of access to the site from the areas of high 

arrest 

 

 
Some of the high arrest areas are located to the 

north of Cambridge. Transport time from point of 

arrest to centre of Cambridge can be extended in 

rush hour periods 

Sensitivity to neighbours especially with regards to 

release of detainees 

 

 
Release of detainee is within the centre of town 

which can lead to detainees just returning to 

previous unacceptable activities 

Transport links to enable detainee journey home 

 
✓ 

There are many transport options from Parkside 

for detainee’s journey home 

Economically viable 

  
Major maintenance and remodelling works 

required to all facilities at Parkside which will 

extend the lifespan of the site by a limited period. 

Temporary custody provision required during 

remodelling works. 

 

Similar to the “Do Nothing Option” this option does not achieve many of the aims and objectives. There 

are some improvements that could be gained from this option, but the extent of improvement of the 

facilities will be limited by the structure of the existing building and custody capacity could not be 

increased on the ground floor 

 
Strengths Weaknesses Opportunities 

Retain existing city centre Policing 

presence 

Alternative custody facilities 

required during refurbishment 

work 

Potential in making limited 

improvements to office 

accommodation 

 Temporary staff office 

accommodation required during 

refurbishment work 

Through the remodelling works 

some of the general maintenance 

works will be completed. 

 Significant Capital investment 

required to achieve a less than 

totally satisfactory outcome  

 

 Travel time with detainee to town 

centre can be increased at peak 

times 

 

 Derogations from the Home Office 

design guide will remain 

 

 Capital investment required to 

extend the life of building by 

relatively short period 

 

 Space limited due to current site 

restrictions 

 

 Additional custody capacity would 

not be achieved 

 

 There will be a need to relocate 

custody during remodelling works. 
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Relocate custody only 

The custody facility at Parkside falls short of the Home Office Guidance and could therefore leave 

Cambridgeshire Police vulnerable should an incident happen to either a detainee or member of staff 

within custody. The only solution to provide a fully Home Office Guidance compliant custody facility, 

would be to create a new facility. Due to the constraints on the current site, it would not be possible to 

create a new custody facility at Parkside. An alternative site would need to be found.  

 

Due to the location of Parkside being in the centre of Cambridge, a suitable site for custody would not 

be in close proximity to Parkside, land availability is limited, and land purchase costs would be high. 

Custody would therefore be located remotely from Parkside. 

 

By relocating the current custody to a new bespoke facility, this would provide facilities with an expected 

lifespan of 50 years, with the assumption that due to the nature of the facility a full refurbishment may be 

required in 20 years. The new custody facility would provide additional cells to the south of the county 

and site dependant could be designed to allow further expansion should demand increase in the future. 

 

Whilst custody provides a very specific function, it is not a standalone function. There is close liaison 

between CAISU team, Neighbourhood team, response team and the investigation team. The remote 

distance between these functions if they were to stay at Parkside and a relocated custody facility, would 

entail additional travel for staff between Parkside and the new custody suite.  This would, increase 

operational costs as it is resource dependant. In addition, the time spent travelling between Parkside and 

the custody facility would impact on the limited detention time available to the police to carry out their 

investigations.    

 

The location of a new custody facility would be crucial, as not only does it need to be in close proximity 

to Parkside, but it would also need to be located in an area accessible to the high arrest locations and the 

areas of greatest demand. 

 

The building at Parkside would still require extensive capital investment to extend the life of the building 

for the remaining functions. Revised use of the current custody facility would need to be established 

otherwise this would become a mothballed facility which would remain an ongoing maintenance burden. 

 

Custody staff morale would be improved as they would be working in a new clean, fit for purpose facility 

which improves their safety and working conditions. Staff morale is crucial in the retention of staff and 

contributes to improved   efficiencies. Staff remaining at Parkside may feel entirely demoralised. 

 

In addition, a better environment is likely to have a positive impact on the behaviour of detainees 

reducing the number of assaults on officers and staff and the need to use force in custody 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Aims   

Meets current service delivery standards 
✓ Custody would be designed to meet current Home 

Office design guidance 

Allows for future flexibility of changing policing 

methods  
For the remaining functions at Parkside the current 

building layout is restrictive on how functions 

currently work and there is limited scope for future 

changes. 

Encourages collaborative working across functions 
 

The current building layout at Parkside is split into 

smaller offices spaces leaning towards independent 

working. Also, custody would be remote from 

other functions 

Provide means to improve efficiencies of working 
 

Due to service delivery being split over two sites, 

the likelihood of efficiencies decreasing is high. 

There will also be two buildings to run and 

maintain 

Objectives   

Provision of 24 cells.  

 
✓ 

The site can be chosen to ensure 24 cells are 

provided 

All   custody MUST   be on the ground floor in 

accordance with Home Office design guidance 
✓ 

The design would ensure custody is all at ground 

floor level 

Preferred radial design for custody, as this allows 

best view of site from the charge desk over the 

racetrack design 

 

✓ 
With the right site the radial design can be 

achieved, failing that the   racetrack design will be 

achieved as a minimum 

Preferred model of office accommodation is 2 storey, 

3 storeys would be acceptable 

 

 
Parkside office accommodation is located over 4, 

storeys – cost or refurbishment to achieve a 

suitable working environment for office support 

staff would be too costly 

Sufficient parking for operational vehicles/ visitors 

and staff  
This would remain a challenge for part of the police 

facility remaining at Parkside and there would be 

increased traffic between any new facility and the 

remaining services which impacts efficiency and 

demand for flexible parking. 

Location, coverage of area of county in relation to 

other custody locations 

 

✓ 
The new site for custody would be chosen in an 

area that is right to meet operational need. The site 

may not however be in close proximity to 

remaining functions at Parkside 

Ease of access to the site from the areas of high 

arrest 

 

✓ 
The new site for custody would be chosen in an 

area that is right to meet operational need. 

Sensitivity to neighbours especially with regards to 

release of detainees 

 

✓ 
The new custody suite location would be chosen in 

an area that is suitable for the building’s usage. 

Transport links to enable detainee journey home 

 
✓ 

The new custody suite location would ideally be 

located close to public transport links 

Economically viable 

  
Large capital investment required to construct the 

new custody suite. Major maintenance works 

required to all facilities at Parkside which would 

extend the lifespan of the site by a limited period. 

There would be two buildings for the constabulary 

to maintain and run which compromises the 

opportunity for greater efficiencies 

 

This third option meets many more of the aims and objectives set. This primarily is due to the provision 

of a new custody suite that meets current standards and therefore improves working practices within 
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custody. As can be seen from the strengths and weaknesses analysis, this option requires a large capital 

investment whilst still retaining the costs associated with retaining Parkside.  This is a major drawback of 

splitting the Custody from support functions – the potential efficiencies are lost and, in some cases, 

splitting the locations will give rise to new constraints. This option does not meet the aims and objectives 

of Cambridgeshire Police. 
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Strengths Weaknesses Opportunities 

Retain existing city centre Policing 

presence 

Limited life left in the building 

before investment required. 

Reallocation of custody at 

Parkside to another use 

The new custody would have a 50 

year life span 

Additional cost in reutilisation of 

the existing custody suite 

Custody can be designed to allow 

for further future expansion. 

Custody would be in a fit for 

purpose facility 

Large capital investment required to 

build new facility and refurbish 

Parkside 

 

There would be an increase in cell 

capacity to meet current and known 

future demand 

Maintenance of two buildings 

required. 

 

 Functions working remotely from 

each other 

 

 Additional resource and travel cost 

between sites 

 

 Travel time reduces amount of time 

that can be spent on the 

investigation or detainee interviews 

 

 

 

 

Relocate all functions  

Similar to option 3,   relocating all the current functions from Parkside to a new bespoke facility, would 

provide facilities with an expected lifespan of 50 years, with the assumption that due to the nature of the 

facility a full refurbishment may be required in 20 years. 

 

As with option 3, the facility would provide additional cells to the south of the county, which would be 

Home Office Design Guidance compliant, and would ensure that extended detainee travel times to 

another facility is not required.  

 

The office building would be designed to meet current and future Policing models, with open plan spaces 

to encourage collaborative working. This would both increase efficiencies and allow for flexibility to 

adapt to change. The flexibility provided by open plan office space more effectively future proofs the 

working environment as policing responds to changing crime, legislation, and processes.    

  

A town centre presence would need to be maintained so that policing is accessible and available at a local 

level. This would be a far smaller facility than Parkside and could be co-located with a partner authority.  

A small retail unit may potentially provide such a facility. 

 

The future use of Parkside is still to be considered but would not be required as a location for police 

functions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aims   

Meets current service delivery standards 
✓ Custody would be designed to meet current Home 

Office design guidance 

 

Allows for future flexibility of changing policing 

methods 
✓ The new facility would be designed to be as flexible 

as possible, and site dependant could be designed 

to allow for future expansion. 

 

Encourages collaborative working across functions 
✓ 

The office space would be designed to be open plan 

to encourage collaborative cross function working, 

with dedicated spaces for those functions requiring 

more privacy due to the nature of their work. 

Provide means to improve efficiencies of working 
✓ 

All functions would be on one site, leaving no travel 

requirements between functions on site. The site 

will be ideally located to ensure easy access to the 

high demand areas of the county. 

Objectives   

Provision of 24 cells.  

 
✓ 

The proposed scheme would be developed to 

provide 24 cells,  

 

All custody MUST all be on the ground floor in 

accordance with Home Office design guidance 
✓ 

The design would ensure custody is on the ground 

floor level 

 

Preferred radial design for custody, as this allows 

best view of site from the charge desk over the 

racetrack design 

 

✓ 
The design would be dependent on the site, but the 

aim would be to achieve the radial design 

Preferred model of office accommodation is 2 storey, 

3 storeys would be acceptable 

 

✓ 
Depending on the site, the scheme would be 

designed to achieve the 2/3 storey model 

Sufficient parking for operational vehicles/ visitors 

and staff 
✓ 

The site would be chosen on the proviso that 

sufficient parking can be achieved to meet the 

requirements operationally, and ensuring staff 

transport to and from their place of work. 

 

Location, coverage of area of county in relation to 

other custody locations 

 

✓ 
The site would only be selected within a defined 

search area, that ensures coverage of the county 

with Thorpe Wood and Kings Lynn. 

 

Ease of access to the site from the areas of high 

arrest 

 

✓ 
The site would be chosen having regard for access 

to and from the areas where arrests occur and 

ensure easy access back to the new facility 

Sensitivity to neighbours especially with regards to 

release of detainees 

 

✓ 
The site would be chosen to ensure that detainees 

are not released in the middle of residential areas 

or in close proximity to vulnerable people. 

Transport links to enable detainee journey home 

 
✓ 

The site would be chosen to ensure that there are 

adequate transport options to enable the detainee 

to travel home 

Economically viable 

 
✓ 

Whilst major capital investment is required for this 

option the maintenance requirements for a new 

facility would be minimal for the first few years. 

There is also the potential of some financial return 

from the disposal of Parkside to help offset the 

project costs. 

 

This option clearly meets all of the aims and objectives set by the client, with two weaknesses, that being 

a large capital investment required, and the continued likely requirement to provide a second much 

smaller police facility within the city centre for public enquiries. 
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Strengths Weaknesses Opportunities 

50 Year lifespan of the new 

building 

Large capital investment Encourage collaborative working 

across functions and provides for 

efficiencies and sustainable 

service delivery. 

Additional custody cell provision  Dependant on location, a public 

contact point would be required 

within town centre. 

Allows for future custody 

expansion for growth/ increase in 

demand 

Flexible to meet change in policing 

needs. 

 

 Ongoing cost efficiencies possible 

through good design 

Staff moral increased by working in 

a fit for purpose building 

 

  

Local Community policing remains 

in city centre 

 

  

Public contact point remains in city 

centre 

 

  

 

 

 The optimal solution 

The evaluation of options against the aims and objectives clearly demonstrates that the ideal solution to 

enable Cambridgeshire Police to deliver their local policing model is option 4, the provision of a new 

facility to replace Parkside and enable the associated functions to be located within one purpose designed 

facility..  

 

 

Social and Economic Benefit 

Whilst demonstrating that the proposed option meets the constabulary’s aims and objectives, the social 

and economic benefit should also be appraised. 

 

Although many of the social benefits also provide an economic benefit, these are harder to measure to 

provide tangible justification. 

 

The potential social benefits may be: 

• Improved safeguarding to staff and detainees – the reduced travel time from point of arrest to 

custody should be reduced, and the custody facility would be a safer environment than Parkside 

for both detainees and staff 

• Improved public relations – By being located closer to demand, response to issues should be 

quicker. A quicker response and shorter travel back to custody frees up additional officer time 

to get back to working within the community and reducing crime 

• Enhanced staff wellbeing – Staff working within a bespoke work environment helps morale, 

reduces stress and enables staff to work efficiently. Staff retention is also likely to improve, 

thereby reducing the costs of recruitment and training needs. 

• Located closer to the demand – Improves the public perception of being in a safer environment by 

knowing that the service is close by. 

• Improved behaviour - a better environment is likely to have a positive impact on the behaviour of 

detainees reducing the number of assaults on officers and staff and the need to use force in 

custody 

 

 

 

 

Risk and mitigation 

The Green Book identifies the generic type of risks likely to be encountered by a project covering the 

three main categories: Business, service and external risk. It is noted that within the public sector any 

business risk will remain with the authority, however the extent of service and external risk can be 

shared with the private sector. An evaluation of the generic risks in relation to this project are: 

 
The Green Book –  

Generic Risk 

Risk in relation to this project 

Business Risk Ensuring the Constabulary are able to provide policing/ custody functions in 

accordance with regulations 

 

Reputational risk Ensuring that there is a benefit to the general public and this can be 

demonstrated. 

 

Service risk Cambridgeshire Police have a responsibility and are accountable for supervising 

and managing custody staff, custody suites and detainees. 

 

Design Risk That the design does not meet current Home Office design guidance. 

 

Planning Risk Challenges with planning approval will be site dependant. Early consultation 

with planning authority will reduce potential issues. 

 

Build Risk As with all construction projects the three main risk factors are; delays in 

completion, additional construction costs and poor build quality. These can all 

be mitigated, in varying degrees, through the chosen procurement route 

 

Project Intelligence Risk Thorough site due diligence will enable informed decisions to be made at early 

stages of the project. 

 

Decant Risk This can be managed down through the use of soft landings and potential 

phased decant to new facility, to ensure an easy transition to the new facility. 

 

Environmental Risk Ensuring a strong communications strategy is in place will ensure the general 

public are kept informed of the process. 

  

Procurement Risk Ensuring a complete review of all procurement options and assessing what is 

the best procurement route for the client based on the specifics of the project.  

 

Operational Risk Ensuring the scheme meets the operational requirements both in location and 

design. 

Demand Risk Ensure there is sufficient in the scheme to ensure capacity to meet current 

needs/demand and any known changes. Whilst providing the potential of 

flexibility for future changes. 

 

Volume Risk Client to ensure that the new facility is used in a manner as expected by staff. 

 

Occupancy Risk Ensure that all functions vacate Parkside and move to the new facility or 

alternative central city location. 

Maintenance Risk Due to the nature of the building usage, some regular maintenance will be 

required from the outset, and needs to be taken into account with budgeting 

 

Technology Risk Technology is ever improving, thereby making it difficult to future proof. An 

agreed point in time will need to define the technology to be used within the 

project and a level of flexibility to adapt to future changes as far as possible 
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Funding Risk Significant capital expenditure will be needed, Cost Estimates will be provided 

at key milestones to allow for client budgeting of the project. 

The Green Book –  

Generic Risk 

Risk in relation to this project 

Residual risk Client to ensure allowance of a contingency sum to cover any unforeseen risks. 

 

External Environmental risk Ensuring seamless transition of service, to ensure continued safe guarding of 

the general public 

Economic Risk Until an agreed construction sum has been obtained, the construction cost is 

market dependant. 

 

Legislative Risk Changes in policing policy/regulation or updates and changes to Home Office 

building design guidance 

Policy Risk Potential changes to Home Office design guidance could impact on the design, 

programme and construction cost. 

 

 

 

 

 Developing the preferred solution 

A new land search within the identified zone was undertaken in January 2019, and the sites are being 

assessed in a fair and transparent evaluation process to ensure the best site will be identified 

 

 

 Establishing the Site Location 

Based upon the preferred option of the relocation of Parkside functions, a new site would need to be 

identified that can fulfil all of the Local Policing Review aims and objectives.. The location of the new 

collocated facility will be key to ensuring the aims and objectives of the police are fully achieved and 

future-proofed as far as possible.  

 

Cambridgeshire Police employed Process Evolution in 2017 to look at location options for a replacement 

Parkside and location of response officers. The reports conclude that a two centre custody model with a 

north/south split is the best solution for custody within Cambridgeshire, as shown on their map below, 

this reinforces the Constabulary’s adoption of the Policing Delivery Model which proposes a two centre 

approach for policing in Cambridgeshire. 

 

 
North/South split of the county – Map by Process Evolution 

 

 

Operational requirements will inform the best geographical location for the new facility, such 

requirements include: 

• Travel time from point of arrest 

• Where arrests are happening 

• Ease of access to main road network 

• Parking Availability for operational vehicles and staff 

• Transportation links for detainee on release and staff travel to/from work 

 

Although response time is of high importance, it is less likely that officers will be responding from the 

custody facility.  An officer will attend to a call whilst on patrol or from the location of a previous call.  

 

A key aspect that highlights the importance of minimal travel times is the safety of officers and detainees 

whilst in transit.  Extended travel time and distance increases risk of potential harm during transfer from 

point of arrest to point of detention. Guidance dictates that an intoxicated detainee needs to be roused 

and spoken to at least every 30 minutes to check on their condition.  This can be difficult during van 

transfers to custody. This risk needs to be kept to a minimum and a 30-minute maximum travel time can 

therefore be justified. Therefore, travel time in this situation is from the place of arrest to custody, rather 

than response time from custody. 

 

The designated search area for the new site ensured that travel time from point of arrest to custody 

would be within the 30 minutes transfer time. Thorpe Wood and Kings Lynn had their travel times 

mapped to display the area within a 30 minute travel zone The area of site search was further mapped by 

identifying the locations of the County not within the Thorpe Wood/Kings Lynn 30 minute zone. This 

resulted in the triangular zone of search, which would provide a location for any new custody facility, 

that would provide optimal regional coverage.  
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Cambridgeshire Police Operational Zone map: Defined search areas, based on travel time and arrest data 

 

 

This search area is reinforced by looking at the arrest data for the two-year period October 2016-

October 2018.  Cambridge is an area of high arrest, but the map clearly shows many more arrests take 

place to the north and north/western areas of Cambridge. These are areas which are easily and quickly 

accessible from the site search zone. To further support the site search area, and potential additional 

demand, the new housing developments are shown to be to the north and west of Cambridge. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Site assessment process 

Once the potential sites had been identified, further work began to establish the suitability and financial 

viability of the availability of each site. Savills planning consultants were employed to advise the police 

regarding a sequential test.  This test should be aligned to the clients aims and objectives relative to 

known national and local planning policies, in order to assess each site against a range of pre-determined 

criteria in a fair and transparent manner. 

 

The process to date has led the team to be considering the prospect of development in the Green Belt to 

the north of Cambridge. Planning permission will only be granted provided that very special circumstances 

are found to exist. The team is therefore moving forward with a series of assessments and further detailed 

evidence about need to ensure that a strong case can be presented. The process and evidence must show 

that there is no suitable site outside the green belt and that any choice between green belt sites is based 

on the requirement that the harm to the green belt is the minimum possible.  

 Steps towards site selection 

With the acceptance of the recommendations within this FBC the team will now proceed with the 

detailed assessment of sites, needs and relative impact required to support the application for and grant 

of planning permission.  

 

5.0 The Commercial Case 

 Procurement – The options 

 

A procurement strategy defines the complex network of relationships between a project team. Each of 

the commonly adopted procurement strategies have different characteristics in respect of: 

• Design Control. 

• Cost certainty. 

• Risk. 

• Ability to accommodate change. 

• Time. 

• Quality control. 

 

Selecting an appropriate procurement strategy is a key success factor in delivering construction work. 

The strategy must facilitate the delivery of the project’s objectives and define the relationships and 

responsibilities of the project team. The strategy is then solidified with a contract strategy that legally 

binds the parties in those relationships and sets out their responsibilities as legal obligations. 

 

Project objectives are often in conflict with each other. For example, a rapid start on site achieves a 

reduced project duration but leads to reduced cost certainty as all of the project requirements may not 

be defined before a contract is agreed to deliver the works. Selecting the appropriate procurement 

strategy is therefore a “best fit” exercise where the project objectives are prioritised and the strategy 

which best fits those objectives is selected. The process requires compromise and an acceptance that 

one cannot achieve, rapid start / rapid completion, high quality, low cost and cost certainty at the same 

time.  

 

The nature of the Southern Police Station project does not necessitate the need to adopt an overly 

complex procurement or contract strategy. On that basis we have focused our procurement advice on 

the two most common strategies namely “design and build” and “traditional” procurement. In the former 

the contractor designs some (or all) of the works and also constructs the works. The latter sees the 

client retain the design team (and liability thereof) for the duration of the project and the Contractor 

only builds what has been designed by others. 

 

Both strategies have their strengths and weaknesses. The strategies (and the variants thereto) are set out 

in further detail in our procurement report as are the advantages and disadvantages of each strategy. 
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We have worked with Cambridgeshire Police via a procurement workshop to review the available 

strategies and to then prioritise the key objectives for the project. The client team have completed a 

procurement questionnaire that has enabled us to arrive at a consensus view on the project objectives.  

The results of the questionnaire have enabled us to identify that a single stage design and build 

procurement strategy is the best fit for this project. The single stage design and build route is most likely 

to achieve the prioritised project objectives.  

 

If that recommendation is accepted, then the next steps will be to identify the most appropriate route to 

market. The two options identified are via a compliant public procurement exercise or via the use of a 

framework that includes an element of mini competition. We cannot identify the most appropriate route 

until such time as a site is identified and a time scale for purchase of that site is agreed. It may be a case 

where if the site acquisition becomes prolonged then the only available route to market is via a 

framework as there may be insufficient time to carry out a public procurement exercise. However, in 

either route to market the design must be progressed to a stage where the requirements of 

Cambridgeshire Police and capture in sufficient detail to ensure the functionality and quality of the end 

product. 

 

A copy of the full Procurement Strategy Report can be found in appendix E. 

 

6.0 The Financial Case  

 Project Costs and Considerations 

Cambridgeshire Police have been provided initial costs for land acquisition, site due-diligence, 

construction and professional fees.  These will be refined for specific site options as the project 

progresses and due to the commercial confidentiality required ahead of land acquisition and a 

construction contract it is not appropriate to publish this information ahead of formal contracts. 
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7.0 The Management Case 
Jason Ablewhite is the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for Cambridgeshire Police. Jason was 

elected into office in May 2016. The PCC is charged with securing efficient and effective policing of their 

area, and to hold the Chief Constable to account for the delivery of the Police Crime Plan.  

 

 
Jason Ablewhite Police and Crime Commissioner 

 

The role of a Police and Crime Commissioner is to ensure an efficient and effective police service is 

delivered in their area. Commissioners set police and crime objectives and the police 

budget. Commissioners also hold the police to account, making them answerable to the public. 

 

As the owner of Cambridgeshire Police estate, approval to proceed with the scheme ultimately falls with 

the PCC, who will need to be assured that the scheme will ensure efficient and effective policing for 

Cambridgeshire. The PCC has been involved with the project and worked with Cambridgeshire Police 

project board at all stages to ensure the right proposal is being delivered.  

 

 The Client Project Board 

A client Estates Programme Board has been set up and they are accountable for the success of the 

project. The Project Board is made up of representation of the OPCC, Chief Finance Officer, senior 

users and suppliers, ICT team and relevant external consultants. The Project Board role is to provide 

overall direction and management of the project. In instances where the Project Board do not have 

authority, they will report to the Force Executive Board  

 

 

 The Delivery Team 

Day to day management of the project will be delivered by the project team who report to the Estates 

Project Board. This team is headed up by Colin Luscombe. The project team will be responsible for 

working alongside the design consultants to ensure the project provides the required product, to the 

required quality standards whilst achieving best value. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Communication 

The lines of communication can be seen within the project organogram 

 

 
 

 

There is already a well established team and meeting structure which will evolve and develop in 

line with project requirements. This will include: Monthly team progress meetings 

• Monthly Project Board meetings 

• Highlight (snap shot project reports) 

• End of Stage reports and client sign off 

• Internal design team meetings 

• Weekly internal design team touchbase meetings 

 

Monthly meetings will be minuted and actions assigned, with review of action completion/update in 

preparation for the next monthly meeting.  Communication is key to project success and all of these 
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processes will be collated into a Project Execution Plan, a live document that informs the project 

delivery. 

 

 Developing the design solution 

The RIBA plan of work is the definitive UK model for building design and construction and is split into 

different stages from 0-7. This project will therefore follow the stages of work, and the detailed project 

programme will be broken down to reflect specific tasks for each stage. 

 

The key tasks at each stage of the design process RIBA stages 1-5 are detailed below. Each stage requires 

client sign off prior to moving onto the next stage of the project. 

 

 
Cambridgeshire Police have appointed Pick Everard as lead design consultant for the project, including 

Project Management, Design and Cost Management services, with the current appointment up to the 

completion of RIBA stage 2. 

 

 

 Meeting the project objectives 

Project briefing workshops have been held with the client delivery team, and this enabled Pick Everard to 

develop an initial scheme including potential building arrangement and possible site layout. These initial 

proposals were used to assess the site area requirements and set out the design principles. Once a site 

has been confirmed the proposals can be developed on a more site specific basis working with any 

constraints of the site. 

 

Due to the nature of the unique design requirement for a custody facility, it is most important that the 

end users of any new custody suite have an opportunity to contribute to the design development. A 

design assessment process will therefore be adopted to monitor the design progress and ensure 

compliance with user groups requirements. 

 

Design Assessment process 

The design quality assessment (DQA) process has been put in place to allow for critiquing the design of 

the new CSPS facility by police staff and to ensure this aligns with constabulary needs. The success of the 

design is being measured by questionnaire of the user groups, at key stages of the design process. 

 

The format of the questionnaire is three series of statements regarding different aspects of the design;  

Site; covering access to the site for vehicles and pedestrians, the car park and site security. 

Custody; covering movement of detainees, the vehicle dock, the charge desk, layout and if the design 

meets the requirements of staff, detainees, visitors and maintenance.  

Support spaces; covering storage, welfare facilities, meeting rooms and space for shift change overs. 

Each Statement has 7 possible answers varying from strongly disagree to strongly agree, as pictured below.  

 

 
 

After each section there is an opportunity for the operational team to make a comment and expand 

from the statements their opinion about the design at this stage.  

 

The DQA will be sent out three times during the design stages; 

RIBA Stage 1 

RIBA Stage 3, at the end of planning submission, and 

RIBA Stage 4, during technical design. 

 

The base questions from stage 1 will remain the same throughout all three assessments, however more 

questions will be added to reflect the progression of the design. The aim of the DQA is to measure 

whether the design is improving and ensuring it is meeting the end users’ needs. 

 

Stage 1 Design Quality Assessment – based on the initial proposals 

The first DQA consisted of 38 statements and three optional comment boxes. 9 members of the 

Operational team completed the questionnaire giving a total of 342 answers. Out of the 342 answers 

90.06% of answers were on some level of agreement with the statements.  None of the statements 

received strongly disagree responses and only 2.63% of responses were disagree or somewhat disagree, 

leaving 7.31% of answers neutral.  

 

The comments provided a better insight and suggestions for areas of improvement. The most prominent 

comment was about the Investigations and Response staff being located too far away from the car park 

on the 2nd floor resulting in a slower exit. The comments also evidenced concern for visitors regarding 

family visits and access confusion. These items will be reviewed during the design development during 

RIBA Stage 2. 

 

  

RIBA Stage 1 RIBA Stage 2 RIBA Stage 3 RIBA Stage 4 RIBA Stage 5 

Develop initial project brief 
and objective 

Complete sequential tests of 
sites 

Site surveys and 
investigations 

Preparation of technical 
design 

Issue construction design 
information 

Preparation of feasibility 
study 

Prepare concept design Preparation of developed 
design 

Preparation of room data 
sheets 

Contractor mobilisation and 
site establishment 

Preparation of initial cost 
plan 

Prepare cost plan Client sign off Gateway 3 Preparation of updated cost 
plan 

Construction 

Client sign off Gateway 1 Prepare feasibility report  Preparation of planning 
application 

Procurement of main 
contractor 

Handover 

 Client sign off Gateway 2 Site specific surveys Signing of contract 
documents 

RIBA Stage 6-Handover and 
close out 

  Planning application process  RIBA Stage 7- In use 

    Defects period  
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 Outline Delivery Programme 

A high-level programme for the project shows that delivery of the new facility could be by the end of 

2021. The programme will be developed further as the project progresses and final preferred site is 

determined. 

 

 
 

There are many factors that can impact on programme, one of those being the chosen route of 

procurement of main contractor. Until this has been confirmed the detail of the delivery programme 

cannot be fully confirmed. 

 

 Risk Management 

Pick Everard Project Management team will manage the construction risk register, a live document, 

which shall be updated regularly during the project. Although managed by Pick Everard, all parties will 

have the opportunity to contribute to the risk register throughout the project, starting with a risk review 

workshop at the end of RIBA stage 2. 

  

The aim of this document is to monitor and manage threats to the project. After identifying a risk to the 

project, a description of the risk including the risk cause, risk event, and risk effect on the project’s 

objectives and its consequences are then added to the register. Based on this information, the risk is 

then evaluated to combine the risk’s probability: the likelihood of the risk occurring, and impact: how the 

risk will affect the project’s objectives should it occur, are then evaluated and measured against a RAG 

colour coding system; 

 

Red- High probability and impact  

Amber- Medium probability and impact 

Green- Low probability and impact. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The RAG status is also combined and represented by a number system, as shown below. 

 

 
 

 

All risks will have their cost implications valued by the Pick Everard Quantity Surveyor.  Appropriate 

mitigation measures are then determined at the risk workshop and put in place by the risk owner, who 

shall be allocated based on who is most appropriate to monitor, manage and mitigate that risk until 

closure. Risks will have a target resolution date for the owner to close the risk by, once a risk is deemed 

as closed it will remain on the register but marked as complete. 

 

During the design stages, RIBA stages 2-4, the risk register will be reviewed at every client design 

progress meeting, once the project progresses to the construction stage, RIBA stage 5, then it shall be 

reviewed at the monthly site progress meetings.  

 

Allowances shall be made in the budget and programme for risk. This will be determined when 

negotiating the contract with the contractor.  

 

 Change Control 

Within this project a procedure is in place to manage change through a process of submitting, approving 

and actioning change orders. A change is defined as deviation from the brief whether it is a drawing, 

programme or change of scope. More specifically, this will cover; 

• All requests for design change and specifications 

• Any problems/concerns needing to be managed formally 

 

Each change request received will have its time and cost implications evaluated which will then be 

reported back to the client to be accepted or rejected. If rejected the client may request for further 

reporting and negotiating to be done before reaching an agreement.  

 

The change requests are to be logged and managed by the Pick Everard Project Manager. Discussions 

regarding the change with the client shall also be held through the Project Manager.  

 

It is most important that any requests either from the client, design team or contractor are placed 

through the project manager, to ensure that every potential variation is properly recorded and managed. 
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1.0 Introduction 
 Purpose of this document 

The aim of this document is explain the process behind the site selection for the new 
Cambridgeshire Southern Policing Station. 
 
The Site Search Rational paper provides a clear description of the process adopted to find a 
suitable site for the relocation of Parkside Custody facility and supporting functions to a 
new site.  

 

2.0 Process 
 

 Arrest hotspots 

An analysis was undertaken of arrest numbers and locations within Cambridgeshire 
between October 2016 and October 2018 and the location of arrest was mapped. 
 
Locations that had 25 or fewer arrests within the two-year period were not considered to 
be of high importance when choosing a new site, therefore, were not included on the map. 
Where arrest numbers were over 25 a colour coding system was used:   
 

• Yellow: 25-50 arrests  
• Orange: 51-100 arrests 

• Red: 101+ arrests. 
 

Due to arrest numbers being high in Cambridge City as a whole, the individual locations in 
the city were not mapped. The locations mapped are where detainees are most commonly 
bought to Parkside custody over Thorpe Wood or Kings Lynn.  
 

 Travel time and available cells 

Although response time is of high importance, it is unlikely that officers will be responding 
from the custody facility.  An officer will attend to a call whilst on patrol or from the 
location of a previous call.  
 
From the moment of arrest the detainee can only be held for 24 hours before they need to 
be charged or released. To enable the investigation team as much time as possible with the 
detainee it is imperative that no time is wasted on the journey to custody. 
 
Another key aspect that highlights the importance of minimal travel times is the safety of 
officers and detainees whilst in transit.  Extended travel time and distance increases risk of 
potential harm during transfer from point of arrest to point of detention. This risk needs to 
be kept to a minimum. Therefore, travel time in this situation is from the place of arrest to 
custody, rather than response time from custody. 
 
The designated search area for the new site ensured that travel time from point of arrest 
to custody would be within the 30 minutes transfer time. 

 
 Existing custody 

Custody in Cambridgeshire is covered by Thorpe Wood, Kings Lynn and Parkside with two 
contingency suites; March and Huntingdon, as shown in Appendix A, for known busy 
periods or planned maintenance.  
 
Thorpe Wood and Kings Lynn had their travel times mapped to display the area within a 30 
minute travel zone. 
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The area of site search was further mapped by identifying the locations of the County not 
within the Thorpe Wood/Kings Lynn 30 minute zone. This resulted in the triangular zone 
of search, which would provide a location for any new custody facility, that would provide 
optimal regional coverage.  
 

 Cambridge Local Development Plan 

Cambridgeshire is divided into local authorities, there are five district councils; Cambridge 
City Council, South Cambridgeshire District Council, East Cambridgeshire District Council, 
Huntingdonshire District Council and Fenland Council, and Peterborough acts as a separate 
unitary authority.  
 
The Cambridgeshire Southern Police Station 
is to primarily serve Cambridge City, South 
Cambridgeshire and East Cambridgeshire 
(highlighted red). Due to the highest demand 
being in Cambridge City and south 
Cambridgeshire area these Local Plans were 
evaluated. The Local Plans in place for 
Cambridge City Council and South 
Cambridgeshire District Council advises on 
the Councils vision, policies and proposals 
for the future development and land use 
within their borders to 2031. Between the 
two Local Plans there were 5 housing 
developments of interest to the project;  

• Clay Farm- 2,250 dwellings, 

• Cambourne- 2,350 dwellings,  
• Bourn Airfield- 3,500 dwellings, 

• Waterbeach- 9,000 dwellings, and, 

• Northstowe- 10,000 dwellings. 
 

 The site area 

The sites of future housing developments were taken into consideration, as an increase in 
housing and therefore population, is predicted to increase police demand. 
 
The search area [Appendix B] of the site sits on the north border of Cambridge city within 
a road network comprising of A and M classified roads. This area is desired as it increases 
accessibility to the custody throughout the county, meeting operational needs.  
 
The following factors: arrest hotspots, travel time, future developments, and increased 
demand, are all linked in the search for a new site and shown within the green shaded 
triangular area.  
 

 

3.0 Site Analysis Matrix 
The planning consultant and land agent were provided with the search area and requested 
to find appropriate sites for the new police station. The site analysis matrix will act as a 
filter system to dismiss unsuitable sites that do not meet Cambridgeshire Constabulary’s 
operational needs as set out in their aims and objectives for the project. The site analysis 
consists of three stages; 

• Stage 1 - Initial site assessment; The desired outcome of stage 1 is to reduce the 
number of sites that are too remote with poor access and will result in longer 
travel times. 

Cambridgeshire district council’s division 
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• Stage 2 - Detailed site assessment; Stage 2 goes into depth and has more specific 
criteria. This stage focuses on excluding sites that could result in avoidable costs to 
the project, whilst taking into consideration staff and public. The scoring system 
allows for fair and transparent site comparison aligned to the clients aims and 
objectives. 

• Stage 3 - Due diligence; Stage 3 is a detailed due diligence of a minimum 3 sites 
that meet the client’s operational needs.  

 
Each stage is detailed below: 

 
 Stage 1 

 
• Planning; The planning criteria looks at the sites designated use to ensure a 

smooth planning application process. Ideally the site would be designated for C2A 
(Secure Residential Institution) usage/development in the Local Plan, in the case of 
limited or no C2A sites, the next best classification is a B2 (general industrial) site. 
However, due to an operational requirement to be within the search area it 
encompasses a range of sites including areas of Greenbelt.  
 

• Location and infrastructure; as mentioned previously, travel times need to be 
minimal for the safety of the officers and the detainee. This means the site will 
require access to main roads which should in turn allow coverage to a large 
percentage of arrest hotspots. This criterion aims to eliminate sites that are too 
remote or only have access to limited routes covering Cambridgeshire.  

 

 Stage 2 

 
• Legal; Covenants on the land were checked to ensure that there are no 

restrictions on the land, such as an easement, and if there are that they are 
manageable, and will not hinder the development of the project. 

 
• Planning; the planning section is used to disregard sites with heavy restrictions 

such as Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs), listed buildings and conservation areas, 
which would impact on design proposals. 

 
• Size, shape and massing; Size, shape and massing are covered to reduce the 

chance of a site that is undevelopable being chosen. It aims to find a site suitable for 
a 2-storey police station that makes best use of land but has provision for future 
expansion.  

 

• Land; The criteria under land has been designed to avoid sites that could have an 
unnecessary negative impact upon the project, such as existing use, archaeological 
issues, flood risk, ecology issues, and services, can result in excessive costs and 
delays to the project.  

 
• Location and infrastructure; The final section in stage 2 concentrates on the 

proximity of the site to other neighbours and the ease of access to public 
transport. The aim is to find a site that is separate from sensitive neighbours but 
can provide convenient access points for police vehicles and to an environment that 
allows staff and released detainees access to public transport and amenities. This 
can achieve cost savings as Cambridgeshire Police may not need to provide some 
on site staff facilities, if these are readily available in the locality. 
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 Stage 3 

This stage will concentrate on a minimum of 3 specific sites to evaluate whether the site 
can meet the clients needs within the budget and time frame.  It may preferable to visit 
these sites, to assess and compare before making a final site choice. 
 

 

4.0 Summary 
This approach has been adopted to support any potential planning challenges and to ensure 
that there is complete transparency regarding the spending of public monies. 
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To:  Business Coordination Board 

From:  Chief Constable  

Date:  31 July 2019  

Summary of Equality Impact Assessment for Cambridge Southern Policing Station project 

1. Purpose 

1.1  The purpose of the paper is to inform the Business Coordination Board (“the Board”) 
that the Equality Impact Assessment for the Cambridge Southern Policing Station has 
been considered and approved at CSPS project board and Estates Sub Group.  

2. Recommendation 

2.1 The Board is recommended to note the content of the paper and approve publication 
of the paper alongside the full business case for the project.      

3. Background  

3.1 The Equality Impact Assessment is a process designed to ensure that a policy, project 
or scheme does not discriminate against any disadvantaged or vulnerable people.  

The general duty is set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  In summary, those 
subject to the Equality Duty must have DUE REGARD to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 advance equality of opportunity between different groups; and 

 foster good relations between different groups. 
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3.2 The assessment for CSPS has been written based on the proposed plans for the new 
station comparing all aspects of the design against the identified protected 
characteristics, and with due regard to them all, whilst taking a common sense 
approach to the assessment.   

3.3  The assessment has been circulated internally to the following groups for 
consideration and response. 

 Unison and Police Federation 

 Christian Police Association and Buddhist Network 

 Disability Support Network 

 Fusion Women’s Network, Nexus LGBT, Unity, Parental and Childcare Support 
Group 

 CSPS Project Board members 

3.4 The feedback received from these groups has not resulted in any suggested changes 
to the circulated draft document. This feedback has been captured on the CSPS EIA 
update matrix. 

3.5 Once the document is made public it will be shared for wider public consultation and 
feedback received will be traced through the update matrix. 

3.5 The Equality Impact Assessment will be a dynamic document that will be reviewed as 
the project progresses and updated as needed. 

4.        Way forward 

4.1 The approved document will become a matter of public interest once published and a 
communications plan will be created to confirm how external consultation will be 
carried out and with which groups. All feedback received will be captured on the 
update matrix and changes made to the EIA as required. 

5. Recommendation  

5.1 The Board is recommended to note the content of the paper and approve publication 
of the paper alongside the full business case for the project.         
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Source Document Cambridgeshire Constabulary Estate Management – Project Files 

Contact Officers 
Colin Luscombe, Director of Estates , Cambridgeshire Constabulary and Donna 

Phillips, Project Manager 
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EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 

 

Name of  Sponsor 

Name of Author  

Description of proposal being analysed 

 

 

Niki Howard 

Donna Phillips 

Cambridgeshire South Police Station – Project 
for a proposed new divisional hub and custody 
centre for south of the county. Any facility 
would be built taking into account all buildings 
regulations and to comply with all DDA 
regulations. 

 

Date EIA started 

Date EIA finished 

 

21 June 2019 

 

This Equality Impact Assessment is being undertaken as a result of: 

Delete as appropriate 

 Part of a project proposal 
 

Note – For ease of use of this document , we will refer to all of the above as “proposal” 

 

STEP 1 – Relevance  

The general duty is set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  In summary, those subject to the 
Equality Duty must have DUE REGARD to the need to: 
 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 advance equality of opportunity between different groups; and 

 foster good relations between different groups. 
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Authors have a statutory requirement to have DUE REGARD to the relevant protected characteristics 
shown below, whilst taking a common sense approach  
 

 age 

 disability 

 gender reassignment 

 marriage & civil partnership* 

 pregnancy and maternity 

 race 

 religion or belief 

 sex 

 sexual orientation 
 
*marriage and civil partnership – the analysis applies only to the elimination of unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation. 
 
Additional guidance can be found by accessing the EHRC website:  
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-
the-equality-duty/ 
 
 

Does this proposal have a 
direct impact on people who: 

a)  are any part of the Police 
workforce (including 
volunteers)? 

YES  

b) reside in any part of England 
and Wales 
 

YES  

 

If NO to both questions  Explain why and give rational  
 
 

 
No Further 
Action and 
Return to 

Sponsor for 
Authorisation 

 

If Yes to either question   
Continue through to Step 2 

 

 

STEP 2 – Consultation / Engagement  

You should engage with those people who have an interest in how you carry out your work generally, 
or in a particular proposal.  This may include former, current and potential service users, staff, staff 
equality groups, trade unions, equality organisations and the wider community.  In deciding who to 
engage, you should consider the nature of the proposal and the groups who are most likely to be 
affected by it.  
  
The proposal owner (Sponsor/Author) must be satisfied that consultation / engagement will take place 
with the relevant business lead and stakeholders. 
 
This MUST include engagement with the following relevant groups: 
 
Equality and Diversity Specialist  
Staff Associations 
Staff Support Groups 
Relevant community groups and members of the public 
  

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/
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In addition, consider who else should you consult with internally and externally? 

 
Who might be affected? 

Does what you are considering further the aims of the general duty, to 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; 

 advance equality of opportunity between different groups; and 

 foster good relations between different groups. 
 

Identify the risks and benefits where applicable, according to the different characteristics. 

 Positive Impact or Benefits Negative Impact or Risks 

Age (Consider elderly or young 

people) 

Elderly visitors to the site will 

be accommodated by a fully 

accessible DDA compliant 

access/entrance, including a 

standard and low level 

seating/access to any 

reception desk. Seating in the 

reception/waiting area will be 

mixture of arms and open 

seats. All signage will be clear 

and easy to read and there will 

be assistance for anyone with 

hearing difficulties. 

The site will be outside the city 

but travel options to the 

proposed site by road are 

good and there is a park and 

ride with regular buses next to 

the site. 

An enquiry office will remain 

within the city co-located with 

the neighbourhood team. 

Disability Groups (Consider 

physical, sensory, cognitive, 

mental health issues or learning 

difficulties) 

The site will be designed and 

built to be fully DDA compliant. 

Any reception desk wil be split 

level to facilitate wheelchair 

and low ambulatory access. 

Seating in the 

reception/waiting area will be 

a mixture of arms and open 

seating with space for 

wheelchairs. All signage will 

be clear and will be compliant 

in colours for those with sight 

issues and there will be 

assistance for anyone with 

hearing difficulties. 

Dedicated disabled parking 

spaces. 

Any intercom/telephony 

contact systems will be placed 

at a suitable height to ensure 

access for all. 

The site will be outside the city 

but travel options to the 

proposed site by road are 

good and there is a park and 

ride with regular buses next to 

the site. 

An enquiry office will remain 

within the city co-located with 

the neighbourhood team 
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Gender Reassignment 

(Consider transgender, 

Transsexual, Intersex) 

There will be specific toilets 

with at least one toilet 

designated as both male and 

female so there wil be a 

choice of facilities to use. 

The shower facilities will be 

unisex with contained 

shower/changing areas so 

suitable for all to use. 

None 

Marriage & Civil Partnership None None 

Pregnancy and Maternity 

 

There will be a room 

designated for use by 

pregnant or nursing mother 

staff and provision will be 

made in a quiet room on the 

ground floor for any visitors 

who require access to such 

facilities. 

There will be a lift for access 

to the first floor as required. 

None 

Race and Ethnic origin – 

includes gypsies and 

travellers.(Consider language 

and cultural factors) 

Clear and comprehensive 

signage. 

None 

Religious / Faith groups or 

Philosophical belief (Consider 

practices of worship, religious or 

cultural observance including 

non belief) 

The building design will 

incorporate a multi faith  

prayer room on the first floor 

for use of all internal staff and 

partners. 

 

None 

Sex (Male, Female) The design will incorporate 

separate male and female 

toilets. The shower facilities 

will be unisex with separate 

combined shower and 

changing cubicles. 

None 

Sexual orientation (Consider 

known or perceived orientation, 

lesbian, gay or bisexual) 

None None 

Custody Specific arrangements and 

policies are in place for all 

Detained Persons who are 

managed through custody, 

None 
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both in the design of the 

custody facilities and the 

management of DP’s when 

they are brought to and in 

cusody. These arrangements 

take into account those DP’s 

that are 

disabled/young/vulnerable or 

have religious beliefs. 

 

 Positive Impact or Benefits Negative Impact or Risks 

Have you considered how this 

decision might affect work life 

balance? (Consider caring 

issues re: childcare & disability, 

safeguarding issues, 

environmental issues, socio 

economic disadvantage, and low 

income families.) 

Work life balance of those 

working at the new site  

should not be adversely 

affected by the new station, 

indeed work balance and 

welfare of staff and officers 

should be improved by the 

new facilities, better working 

areas and modern welfare 

facilities which will be 

incorporated into the design. 

The proposed site is outside 

the city but has good road 

access and is next door to a 

park and ride site wth access 

to buses. Other public 

transport has stops nearby 

and the city north rail station is 

within walking distance. 

Parking will be available on 

site and at the adjacent P&R.  

 

 

STEP 3 – Assessment 

Complete the EIA by analysing the effect of your proposal and detail the outcomes.  

What were the main findings from any consultation carried out?  

What feedback has been received? 

Using the information you have gathered and consultation that you have undertaken answer the 

following questions.  This will help you to understand the effect on equality your proposal might 

have.  

Has the feedback indicated any problems that 

need to be addressed?  

 

Describe and evidence any part of the proposal 

which could discriminate 

 

Can the adverse impact identified be justified as 

being appropriate and necessary?   

If so, state what the business case is: 

 

Where impact and feedback identified, what, if 

anything can be done? 
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What outcome will be achieved that 

demonstrates a positive impact on people? 

 

 

 

 

STEP 4 - Monitoring and Review 

Equality analysis is an ongoing process that does not end once a document has been 

produced.   

What monitoring mechanisms do you have in 

place to assess the actual impact of your 

proposal? 

 

Review Date: 

First review must be no later than one year. 

 

 

 

 

STEP 5 - Sign Off  

Once the Equality Impact Assessment is complete it should be signed off by the Proposal Sponsor.   

This sign off is confirmation that the analysis is accurate, proportionate and relevant and actions 

will be delivered as required. 

Approved by Senior Officer / Proposal lead Having considered the potential or actual effect 

of this proposal on equality, our assessment 

demonstrates that the proposal is robust and the 

evidence of our screening shows no potential for 

unlawful discrimination. We have taken all 

appropriate opportunities to advance equality 

and foster good relations between groups. 

Date: 

Name: 
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To:  Business Co-ordination Board  

From:   OPCC Chief Finance Officer 

Date:  31 July 2019  

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT REVIEW 2018/19 

1. Purpose 

1.1. This report updates the Business Co-ordination Board (“the Board”) on the Treasury 
Management Review (TMSS) for 2018/19. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 The Committee is invited to note the report. 

3. Background 

3.1 The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner is required to have a Treasury 

Management Strategy in place, which is reviewed annually. CIPFA defines treasury 

management as “The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its 

banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 

associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 

risks.” 

3.2 The 2018/19 Treasury Management Review is at Appendix 1 to this report. 

4. Treasury Management Review 2018/19 

4.1 The review provides detail of the activity compared to what was agreed in the strategy. 
The investment returns remain low as expected. Continued uncertainty has promoted 
a cautious approach which results in low returns compared to borrowing rates. 
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5. Recommendation 

5.1 The Board is invited to note the report and the Treasury Management Review for 
2018/19. 

 
 
 

BIBLIOGRAPHY 

 

Source Documents Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2018/19 

 

Contact Officers Matthew Warren, Chief Finance Officer, Office of Police and Crime 

Commissioner 
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Annual Treasury Management Review 2018/19 

1. Introduction 
The Police & Crime Commissioner (the PCC) is required by regulations issued under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the 
actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2018/19. This report meets the requirements of 
both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).  
 
During 2018/19 the minimum reporting requirements were that the PCC should receive the 
following reports: 

 an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year 

 a mid-year (minimum) treasury update report 

 an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to the 
strategy (this report)  

The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review and scrutiny of 
treasury management policy and activities.  This report is, therefore, important in that 
respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury activities and highlights 
compliance with the PCC’s previously approved policies.   
 
The PCC confirms that he has complied with the requirement under the Code to give prior 
scrutiny to all of the above treasury management reports by the Business Coordination Board 
before they were reported to the PCC.  
 

2. The PCC’s Capital Expenditure and Financing 

The PCC undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities may either be: 
 

 Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources (capital 
receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no resultant impact on the 
PCC’s borrowing need; or 

 If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources, the capital 
expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.   

 
The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  The table below 
shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed. 
 

£000’s 2017/18 
Actual 

2018/19 
Budget  

2018/19 
Actual 

Capital expenditure 5,713 7,449 5,140 

Financed in year 5,713 7,449 5,140 

Unfinanced capital expenditure 0 0 0 
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3. The PCC’s Overall Borrowing Need 

The PCC’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is termed the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR).   
 
Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent over the 
medium term and only for a capital purpose, the PCC should ensure that gross external borrowing 
does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the 
preceding year (2017/18) plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for 
the current (2018/19) and next two financial years.  This essentially means that the PCC is not 
borrowing to support revenue expenditure.  This indicator allowed the PCC some flexibility to 
borrow in advance of its immediate capital needs in 2018/19.  The table below highlights the 
PPC’s gross borrowing position against the CFR.  The PCC has complied with this prudential 
indicator. 
 

 31 March 2018 
Actual 

31 March 2019 
Actual 

CFR General Fund (£m) 21.9 21.0 

Gross Borrowing Position (£m) 18.8 18.6 

Under/over funding of CFR (£m) (3.1) (2.4) 

 
The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required by s3 of 
the Local Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the PCC does not have the power to 
borrow above this level.  The table below demonstrates that during 2018/19 the PCC has 
maintained gross borrowing within its authorised limit.  
 
The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected borrowing position of the 
PCC during the year.  Periods where the actual position is either below or over the boundary are 
acceptable subject to the authorised limit not being breached.  
 
Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator identifies the trend 
in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of investment income), 
against the net revenue stream. 
 

 2018/19 

Authorised limit £23.5m 

Maximum gross borrowing position  £19.0m 

Operational boundary £20.5m 

Average gross borrowing position  £18.8m 

Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream 13.9% 
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4. Treasury Position as at 31 March 2019  

At the beginning and the end of 2018/19 the PCC‘s treasury (excluding borrowing by PFI and finance 
leases) position was as follows: 
 

Treasury Position 
2018/19 

31 March 
2018 

Principal 

Rate/ 
Return 

Average 
Life yrs 

31 March 
2019 

Principal 

Rate/ 
Return 

Average 
Life yrs 

Total debt £18.8m 4.25% 16.5 £18.6m 4.25% 15.5 
CFR £21.9m   £21.0m   
Over / (under) borrowing (£3.1m)   (£2.4m)   
Total investments £16.1m 0.38%  £10.0m 0.85%  
Net debt £2.7m   £8.6m   

 
 
The maturity structure of the debt portfolio was as follows: 

 31 March 2018 
actual 

31 March 2019 
actual 

Under 12 months  £0.5m £0.5m 

12 months and within 24 months £0.5m £0.5m 

24 months and within 5 years £1.7m £1.8m 

5 years and within 10 years £3.4m £3.5m 

10 years and within 20 years £2.8m £2.0m 

20 years and over £10.0m £10.0m 

 
 
All investments within the portfolio were for up to one year. The structure of the investment 
portfolio comprised: 

Types of investments  (£000’s) 31 March 2018 
actual 

31 March 2019 
actual 

Deposits with banks and building societies  4,400 9,950 

Money Market Funds 4,670 - 

Bond Funds - - 

Local Authority 7,000 - 
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5. The Strategy for 2018/19 

5.1 Investment strategy and control of interest rate risk 

Investment returns remained low during 2018/19.   The expectation for interest rates within 
the treasury management strategy for 2018/19 was that Bank Rate would rise from 0.50% to 
0.75%.  At the start of 2018-19, and after UK GDP growth had proved disappointingly weak in 
the first few months of 2018, the expectation for the timing of this increase was pushed back 
from May to August 2018.  Investment interest rates were therefore on a gently rising trend 
in the first half of the year after April, in anticipation that the MPC would raise Bank Rate in 
August.  This duly happened at the MPC meeting on 2nd August 2018.  During this period, 
investments were, therefore, kept shorter term in anticipation that rates would be higher later 
in the year. 

It was not expected that the MPC would raise Bank Rate again during 2018-19 after August in 
view of the fact that the UK was entering into a time of major uncertainty with Brexit due in 
March 2019.   Value was therefore sought by placing longer term investments after 2nd August 
where cash balances were sufficient to allow this.  

Investment rates were little changed during August to October but rose sharply after the MPC 
meeting of 1 November was unexpectedly hawkish about their perception of building 
inflationary pressures, particularly from rising wages.  However, weak GDP growth data after 
December, plus increasing concerns generated by Brexit, resulted in investment rates falling 
back again. 

Continued uncertainty in the aftermath of the 2008 financial crisis has promoted a cautious 
approach whereby investments would continue to be dominated by low counterparty risk 
considerations, resulting in relatively low returns compared to borrowing rates. 

5.2 Borrowing strategy control of interest rate risk 

During 2018-19, the PCC maintained an under-borrowed position.  This meant that the capital 
borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), was not fully funded with loan debt, as 
cash supporting the PCC’s reserves, balances and cash flow was used as an interim measure. 
This strategy was prudent as investment returns were low and minimising counterparty risk 
on placing investments also needed to be considered. 

A cost of carry remained during the year on any new long-term borrowing that was not 
immediately used to finance capital expenditure, as it would have caused a temporary 
increase in cash balances; this would have incurred a revenue cost – the difference between 
(higher) borrowing costs and (lower) investment returns. 

The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances, has served well 
over the last few years.  However, this was kept under review to avoid incurring higher 
borrowing costs in the future when this authority may not be able to avoid new borrowing to 
finance capital expenditure and/or the refinancing of maturing debt. 

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution was adopted with 
the treasury operations. The Director of Finance therefore monitored interest rates in 
financial markets and adopted a pragmatic strategy based upon the following principles to 
manage interest rate risks: 
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 if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and short 
term rates, (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or of 
risks of deflation), then long term borrowings would have been postponed, and 
potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short term borrowing would have 
been considered. 

 if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long and 
short term rates than initially expected, perhaps arising from an acceleration in the 
start date and in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an increase 
in world economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio 
position would have been re-appraised.  Most likely, fixed rate funding would have 
been drawn whilst interest rates were lower than they were projected to be in the 
next few years. 

Interest rate forecasts expected only gradual rises in medium and longer term fixed borrowing 
rates during 2018/19 and the two subsequent financial years.  Variable, or short-term rates, 
were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing over the period.   
 

 

 
Since PWLB rates peaked during October 2018, most PWLB rates have been on a general 
downward trend, though longer term rates did spike upwards again during December, and, 
(apart from the 1 year rate), reached lows for the year at the end of March. There was a 
significant level of correlation between movements in US Treasury yields and UK gilt yields -
which determine PWLB rates.  The Fed in America increased the Fed Rate four times in 2018, 
making nine increases in all in this cycle, to reach 2.25% – 2.50% in December.  However, it 
had been giving forward guidance that rates could go up to nearly 3.50%. These rate increases 
and guidance caused Treasury yields to also move up. However, financial markets considered 
by December 2018, that the Fed had gone too far, and discounted its expectations of further 
increases. Since then, the Fed has also come round to the view that there are probably going 
to be no more increases in this cycle.  The issue now is how many cuts in the Fed Rate there 
will be and how soon, in order to support economic growth in the US.  But weak growth now 
also looks to be the outlook for China and the EU so this will mean that world growth as a 
whole will be weak. Treasury yields have therefore fallen sharply during 2019 and gilt yields / 
PWLB rates have also fallen. 
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7. Borrowing Outturn 

Borrowing  
Due to investment concerns, both counterparty risk and low investment returns, no 
borrowing was undertaken during the year. 
 
Borrowing in advance of need 
The PCC has not borrowed more than, or in advance of its needs, purely in order to profit from 
the investment of the extra sums borrowed. 
 
Rescheduling  
No rescheduling was done during the year as the average 1% differential between PWLB new 
borrowing rates and premature repayment rates made rescheduling unviable. 
 

8. Investment Outturn 

Investment Policy 
The PCC’s investment policy is governed by MHCLG guidance, which has been implemented in the 
annual investment strategy approved by the PCC.  This policy sets out the approach for choosing 
investment counterparties, and is based on credit ratings provided by the three main credit rating 
agencies, supplemented by additional market data (such as rating outlooks, credit default swaps, 
bank share prices etc.).   
 
The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and the PCC had no 
liquidity difficulties. 
 
Investments held by the PCC 
The PCC maintained an average balance of £25.1m of internally managed funds.  The internally 
managed funds earned an average rate of return of 0.81%.  The comparable performance indicator 
is the average 7-day LIBID rate, which was 0.51%. Total investment income was £203k compared 
to a budget of £114k. 
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To:  Business Co-ordination Board  

From:   OPCC Chief Finance Officer 

Date:  31 July 2019  

 

2018/19 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

1. Purpose 

1.1. This report updates the Business Co-ordination Board (“the Board”) on the Statement 
of Accounts for 2018/19. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 The Board is invited to note the report. 

3. Background 

3.1 The financial accounts now have to be completed and signed by the end of July each 
year. 

3.2 The accounts have been through the Joint Audit Committee on 25 July 2019. 

4. 2018/19 Statement of Accounts 

4.1 The Accounts are attached at Appendix 1. 

4.2 This is the first year of new External Auditors, BDO undertaking the audit, there have 
been no reported resourcing issues.  

4.3 The outturn position showed a revenue underspend of £0.5m with less reliance on the 
budgeted £1.8m use of reserves. 

4.4 There was less use of reserves as budgeted. The balance of reserves now stands at 
£21.8m. 
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5. Recommendation 

5.1 The Board is invited to note the report.  
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Preface by the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Cambridgeshire 

Introduction to the 2018/19 Statement of Accounts by Jason Ablewhite, the elected Police 
and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire 

 

2018/19 has been a year of continuing financial challenges due to  the ongoing 
national financial picture. The 2018/19 budget was a balanced position but 
necessitated the use of reserves to achieve this.  Over the four year period savings 
are required in order to create a sustainable situation.  

The financial position at the end of 2018/19 showed a revenue underspend of £0.5m, with 
less reliance on the budgeted £1.8m use of reserves.  With the continuing financial challenges 
being faced, this track record of delivering excellent services within tight financial constraints 
is essential and I know we will continue to show the fiscal discipline that has been 
demonstrated in the past year. 
 
We are continually  looking at new and innovative  ways in which to balance the budget whilst 
ensuring that the crucial work of front line policing continues to provide a service that the 
residents of Peterborough and Cambridgeshire can be confident in. Looking forward the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) was refreshed and a plan is in place to balance the 
MTFS over its lifetime via either efficiencies or use of reserves. 
 
During 2018, I welcomed a new Chief Constable, Nick Dean, and we are working together 
towards the delivery of the Police and Crime Plan.  
 
The tri-force of Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire and Cambridgeshire (BCH)  is now approaching its 
tenth year of successful collaboration with a budget of £100m for 2019/20. In addition, the 
seven forces of BCH, with Norfolk, Suffolk, Kent and Essex  added, have extended the original 
Strategic Collaboration Programme to run until 31st March 2021. To date all 7 forces have 
implemented the same core policing IT system of Athena, a fully integrated single policing 
database and in March 2019, a new procurement deal was signed which is planned to deliver 
up to £2m of savings for Cambridgeshire.  
 
For 2019/20 I was given the flexibility to increase the policing element of the Council Tax by a 
maximum of £24 per Band D property (£2 a month). I made use of this flexibility with the clear 
outcome to be achieved of investing these additional funds in the recruitment of additional 
frontline police officers. This will further build on the outcomes of the Local Policing Review 
and will bring the number of officers to 1,426 by the end of March 2020, the highest number 
of officers the Constabulary has had serving the county. 
 
I would like to thank everyone who has worked with me over the year.  I am enormously 
appreciative of the talent and energy given by so many in keeping the people of 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough safe.  
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Narrative Report by the Chief Finance Officer 

Message from the Chief Finance Officer – Matthew Warren 

As mentioned in the Police and Crime Commissioner’s preface, the financial climate remains 
challenging. The Chief Constable and Constabulary Director of Finance and their staff continue 
to do an excellent job in managing the Constabulary budget in a professional and robust 
manner.   

The Statement of Accounts has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).  It therefore aims to provide 
information so that members of the public, partners, stakeholders and other interested 
parties can: 

 Understand the overarching financial position of the PCC and Group 

 Have confidence that the PCC has used and accounted for public money in an 
appropriate manner 

 Be assured that the financial position of the PCC and Group is sound and secure 

This Narrative Report provides information about the performance of the Cambridgeshire 
PCC, both financially and in delivering other objectives, including the key issues affecting the 
PCC and Group and their accounts.  Further information on the performance for 2018/19 can 
be found in the Annual Report 2018/19. It also provides a summary of the financial position 
as at 31 March 2019 and is structured as follows: 

1. Explanation of the PCC and Group 

2. Financial Performance 

3. Non-Financial Performance 

4. Medium Term Financial Plan 

5. Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

 

1. Explanation of the PCC and Group 

This Statement of Accounts sets out the financial position of the Cambridgeshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable of Cambridgeshire (herein referred to as “the 
Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

The Police and Social Responsibility Act 2011 created both Commissioners and Chief 
Constables as legal entities (corporations sole) in their own right, with the  Chief Constable of 
Cambridgeshire Constabulary being responsible for the operational policing of 
Cambridgeshire.  

One of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s duties is to hold the Chief Constable to account 
in order to secure the maintenance of an efficient and effective police force. Therefore, for 
accounting purposes, the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner is the parent entity 
of the Chief Constable of Cambridgeshire Constabulary and together they form  “the Group”. 

As the holding parent, the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner guarantees any 
outstanding liabilities of the Chief Constable who is a 100% subsidiary. 
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Local control arrangements have influenced the setting of the Accounting Policies, such that 
all income, working capital, cash balances and property, plant and equipment are included in 
the Police and Crime Commissioner’s and Group Accounts only, and that the Police and Crime 
Commissioner provides the Chief Constable with an annual devolved budget for the delivery 
of the policing service. 

The Statement of Accounts has been produced in accordance with the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19, supported by International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the publication of the Statement is required under 
the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

The Chief Constable has produced a separate set of accounts which explains how the 
resources provided by the PCC have been used to deliver operational policing services. 

 

2. Financial Performance 

Revenue – Budget and Outturn 2018/19 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner approved a budget of £137.1m with anticipated £1.8m 
use of reserves.  At the end of the year, spending was £136.6m, an underspend of £0.5m, with 
less reliance on the budgeted use of reserves.  
 
Table 1 below summarises the revenue position and a reconciliation to the (Surplus) or Deficit 
on Provision of Services. 
 
Table 1: PCC Revenue Budget and Outturn 2018/19 
 

 
 
Reconciliation of Outturn to Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
 

 
  

Description

Budget 

2018/19 

£'000

Outturn 

2018/19 

£'000

Variance 

2018/19 

£'000

Chief Constables delegated Police budget 132,323 133,053 (730)

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 1,280 1,126 154

Grants 2,263 2,574 (311)

Capital Financing 1,188 1,190 (2)

Non-Operational Estate Held for Investment 64 129 (65)

Total Budget 137,118 138,072 (954)

Contributions from Reserves (1,801) (3,311) 1,510

Net Budget Requirement 135,317 134,761 556

Reported underspend per above (556)

Revenue related contributions +/- from reserves 3,311

Additional funding received (53)

Budgets carry forwards  contributions to reserves (1,231)

Capital related reserve movements 1,794

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 3,265
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Funding 
The PCC budget is funded from a combination of Government grant and Council Tax, as set 
out on Table 2 below and Chart 1. 
 
Table 2: Revenue Funding Sources 2018/19 
 

  £'000 

Police Grant and Non Domestic Rates 78,411 

Council Tax 55,619 

Collection Fund Surplus 300 

MoJ Victims Grant 987 

Total 135,317 
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Capital 2018/19 
 
A 2018/19 capital programme of £7.4m was in place of which the year end spend was £5.1m, 
an underspend of £2.3m. The underspend related to capital projects having scheme slippages 
which will be carried forward into 2019/20. The summary capital programme is shown in Table 
3 below along with how it was financed, which is also shown in Chart 2. 

 
Table 3: 2018/19 Capital Programme and Financing 
 

 
 
 

 

 
  

All figures £'000

B/Fwd from 

previous 

years

Original 

2018/19 

Capital 

Programme

Previously 

Authorised 

Programme 

Amendments

Revised 

2018/19 

Capital 

Budget

Outturn 

2018/19 %

Capital Payments:-

Land & Buildings 796 4,000 -2,552 2,244 970 43%

IT & Communications 873 1,215 188 2,276 2,159 95%

Fleet 413 1,700  - 2,113 1,805 85%

Other Collaboration 91 140 161 392 206 53%

Schemes approved subject to further business case  - 394 -274 120  - 0%

TOTAL 2,173 7,449 -2,477 7,145 5,140 72%

All figures £'000

B/Fwd from 

previous 

years

Original 

2018/19 

Capital 

Programme

Previously 

Authorised 

Programme 

Amendments

Revised 

2018/19 

Capital 

Budget Applied

Transfer 

to Capital 

carry 

forward 

Reserve

Capital Financing:-

Capital Grants 166 506 181 853 845  -

ESMCP Grant (RCCO)  - 214 33 247  -  -

Carry Forward Reserve 2,007  - -22 1,985 2,056 573

ICT  - 161 119 280 432  -

Capital Reserves  - 1,030 100 1,130 -179 339

Capital Receipts  - 1,888 387 2,275 1,215 579

Estates Reserve  -  -  - 94

RCCO  - 150 -145 5 507  -

Borrowing  - 3,500 -3,130 370 170 200

TOTAL 2,173 7,449 -2,477 7,145 5,140 1,691
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Reserves 

After the impact of revenue and capital spending and funding detailed above the usable 

reserves of the PCC are £21.8m, as detailed in Table 4 below. Of these £7.2m relates to the 

General Reserve which is held primarily as a contingency for the cost of major police 

operations. This represents 4.9% of the Net Budget Requirement for 2019/20 which is 

considered a prudent percentage of the total budget to hold as a general reserve for 

operational contingencies. 

Table 4: Usable Reserves as at 31 March 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Balance 

31 March 

2018 

 Balance 

31 March 

2019 

Description

Added to 

Reserve

Applied- 

Revenue

Applied - 

Capital

£000 £000 £000 £000

Carry Forward Project Reserve 1,012      1,231 (1,012) - 1,231      

Insurance Reserve 862          - - - 862          

Ill-Health Retirement Reserve 398          - - - 398          

Capital Reserve 1,285      - - (616) 669          

Drug Forfeiture (Operational) Reserve 116          30 - - 146          

Budget Assistance Reserve 4,216      - (1,606) - 2,610      

Capital Carry Forward Reserve 2,173      918 - (1,600) 1,491      

Road Casualty Reduction & Support Fund 1,582      227 (53) (192) 1,564      

Collaboration & Commissioning Reserve 260          153 (39) 374          

ICT Development Reserve 432          - - (432) -               

Estates Development Reserve 2,939      - (180) (94) 2,665      

Total Earmarked Reserves 15,275    2,559      (2,890) (2,934) 12,010    

General Reserve 7,198      - - - 7,198      

Total General and Earmarked Reserves 22,473    2,559      (2,890) (2,934) 19,208    

Capital Receipts Reserve 1,913      2,521      - (1,793) 2,641      

Total Usable Reserves 24,386    5,080      (2,890) (4,727) 21,849    

Movement

2018/19
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3. Non Financial Performance 

In 2017 the PCC set out his plans for the next four years in a new Police and Crime Plan. This 

centred around 4 key aims of Victims, Offenders, Community and Transformation and the 

plan sets out clear actions which will be taken in each of these four areas over the period of 

the plan. The detail of the performance during 2018/19 against each of these key areas can 

be found in the PCC’s Annual Report. 

In addition, the Force is subject to regular inspections by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary (HMICFRS) and is rated against three main categories.  Known as PEEL 
Inspections, the categories are Effectiveness, Efficiency and Legitimacy. Forces are rated as 
either Outstanding, Good, In Need of Improvement or Inadequate. The Constabulary overall 
rating is currently Good. 
 
Cambridgeshire reports have not been published for 2018/19 to date. 
 
4. Medium Term Financial Plan 

The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2019/20 to 2022/23 was approved by the PCC in 
January 2019 and sets out the financial plans over the next four years. Even though this 
included a balanced budget for 2019/20 the policing budget in Cambridgeshire is facing 
significant pressures over the coming four years, with a current financial pressure over the 
period of £4.8m. 

Plans are in place to address this funding gap and it is to be covered by the following measures 
over the four years: 

 Maintaining collaboration with Bedfordshire Police and Hertfordshire Constabulary 

 A new seven force collaboration across East Anglia and Kent 

 A local policing review 

 A strategic review of the Police estate, working alongside with other blue light 
services, to ensure the efficient use of all assets and look to realise revenue 
generation opportunities from the estate. 

However, there are financial risks that the police are facing: 

 The Home Office is planning a Comprehensive Spending Review and current funding 
is only guaranteed for one year 

 Inflationary increases 

 National risk assessments 
The PCC needs to ensure the finances are in a strong position to deal with these risks and, as 
can be seen in section 2, the reserves are in a strong state. 

Treasury Management 

The PCC approves a Treasury Management and Investment Strategy Statement before the 
start of each financial year and receives regular updates on treasury performance during the 
year. 
 
As at 31 March 2019, the PCC held investments of £9.95m (31 March 2018: £16.07m).  The 
three main factors that will affect cash balances in the future are: 
 

 Acquisitions and disposals relating to the capital programme 

 Reserves balances 

 Grants and contributions unapplied 
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The PCC is able to determine his own capital borrowing requirements in accordance with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Prudential Borrowing. As at 31 March 2019 the PCC had outstanding 
loans totalling £19m from the Public Works Loan Board (see note 18). 
 
5.  Financial Statements & EFA Disclosure 
 
The primary financial statements are supported by explanatory notes, including details of the 
accounting policies adopted by the PCC.  
 

Movement in Reserves Statement (MiRS) 
The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the 
end on the different reserves held by the PCC, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that 
can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’. 
The Statement shows how the movements in year of the PCC’s reserves are broken down 
between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices 
and the statutory adjustments required to return to the amounts chargeable to Council Tax 
for the year. The Net Increase / Decrease line shows the statutory General Fund Balance 
movements in the year following those adjustments. 
 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) is a disclosure note only to show how the annual 
expenditure is used and funded from resources (Government grants, Council Tax and Business 
Rates) by the PCC in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how this expenditure 
is allocated for decision making purposes between the Council’s Services. Income and 
expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more 
fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES). 
  

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 
This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. 
Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be 
different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis and the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 

Balance Sheet 
The Balance Sheet shows the value at the 31 March of the assets and liabilities recognised by 
the PCC. The net assets of the PCC (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by 
the PCC.  Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of reserves are usable 
reserves, i.e. those reserves that the PCC may use to provide services, subject to the need to 
maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example 
the Capital Receipts reserve that may only be used to fund Capital expenditure or repay debt).  
The second category of reserves are unusable and includes reserves that hold unrealised gains 
and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only become 
available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences 
shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement at the line entitled 'Adjustments between 
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations'.  
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The Balance Sheet position at 2018/19 is £1.597m as shown below (2017/18 £1.435m).  
At this time, the statutory arrangements for funding the Pension deficit mean that the 
financial position of the Constabulary continues to remain healthy. 
 

 
 
The Cash Flow Statement  
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in “cash” (cash and cash equivalents) of the PCC 
during the reporting period. The statement shows how the PCC generates and uses “cash” by 
classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash 
flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations 
of the PCC are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services 
provided by the Council. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have 
been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the PCC's future service delivery. 
Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows 
by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the PCC.  
 

 

 

  

31/3/19

£m

Long Term Assets 55.43
Current Assets 33.03
Current Liabilities (13.89)
Long Term Liabilities (1,672.01)
Net Assets (1,597.44)

Usable Reserves (21.85)
Unusable Reserves 1,619.29

Total Reserves 1,597.44

31/3/19

£m

-       Operating 

activities
(0.90)

-       Investing 

activities
(1.80)

-       Financing 

activities
(0.50)

Net Increase or (decrease) in 

cash and cash equivalents
(3.20)

Cash & Cash Equivalents

-       At the beginning of 

the reporting period
6.70

-       At the end of the 

reporting period
3.50

Net Cash Flows from
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Further information 

Further information about the accounts is available from the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (OPCC). 

The OPCC publishes a number of important documents to inform the public about the work 
of both the Commissioner and the Constabulary.  These can be viewed and downloaded from 
the Commissioner’s website: www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk. 
 
You can also write to the Chief Executive at:- 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
PO Box 688 
Huntingdon 
PE29 9LA 
Tel: 0300 333 3456, email: cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk  
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Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of 
Accounts 
The Commissioner’s Responsibilities 

The Group is required to: 

 make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure 
that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In 
this Group, that officer is the Chief Finance Officer; 

 manage its affairs to secure the economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets; and 

 approve the Statement of Accounts. 

  

The Chief Finance Officer’s Responsibilities 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Group’s Statement of 
Accounts in accordance with proper practices set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Chief Finance Officer has: 

 selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 

 made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and 

 complied with the Local Authority Code. 

The Chief Finance Officer has also: 

 kept proper accounting records, which were up to date; and 

 taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Group at 31 March 2019 and its income and expenditure for the year then ended. 

 

 
Matthew Warren CPFA 
Chief Finance Officer to Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner   
25 July 2019 
 
Completion of the Approval Process by the Commissioner 
 
In accordance with the requirements of s8 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, I can 
confirm that the Statement of Accounts was approved on 25 July 2019 
 
 
 
 
Jason Ablewhite 
Cambrdgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner 
25 July 2019 
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Group Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA) is not a primary statement but is of key importance in showing how the annual expenditure is used and funded 
from resources (Government grants, Council Tax and Business Rates) in comparison with those resources consumed or earned in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices. 
 

 

 
 

Net Expenditure Adjustments Net Expenditure Net Expenditure Adjustments Net Expenditure

 Chargeable to the between the in the Comprehensive  Chargeable to the between the in the Comprehensive

General Fund Funding and Income and General Fund Funding and Income and 

Balance Accounting Expenditure Balance Accounting Expenditure 

Basis Statement Basis Statement

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

134,739 (5,604) 129,135 Police Services 135,167 63,059 198,226

1,894 83 1,977 Corporate, Democratic and Commissioning Services 2,499 85 2,584

136,633 (5,521) 131,112 Net Cost of Services 137,666 63,144 200,810

(130,634) 38,929 (91,705) Other Income and Expenditure (134,401) 38,227 (96,174)

5,999 33,408 39,407 (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 3,265 101,371 104,636

28,472 Opening General Fund Balance 22,473

(5,999) Less Deficit on General Fund in Year (3,265)

22,473 Closing General Fund Balance 19,208

2017/18 2018/19
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Police and Crime Commissioner’s Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Net Expenditure Adjustments Net Expenditure Net Expenditure Adjustments Net Expenditure

 Chargeable to the between the in the Comprehensive  Chargeable to the between the in the Comprehensive

General Fund Funding and Income and General Fund Funding and Income and 

Balance Accounting Expenditure Balance Accounting Expenditure 

Basis Statement Basis Statement

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(2,255) 1,504 (3,759) Police Services (4,687) 501 (4,186)

1,895 (83) 1,978 Corporate, Democratic and Commissioning Services 2,499 85 2,584

156,828 156,828 Intra-group Adjustment for financial resources consumed 159,609 159,609

156,468 1,421 155,047 Net Cost of Services 157,421 586 158,007

(150,469) 248 (150,717) Other Income and Expenditure (154,156) 187 (153,969)

5,999 1,669 4,330 (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 3,265 773 4,038

28,472 Opening General Fund Balance 22,473

(5,999) Less Deficit on General Fund in Year (3,265)

22,473 Closing General Fund Balance 19,208

2017/18 2018/19
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – Group 
 

 

 
 
 

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

Gross Gross Net Gross Gross Net

Expenditure Income Expenditure Expenditure Income Expenditure

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Police Services 206,454 (8,228) 198,226 137,917 (8,782) 129,135

Corporate, Democratic and Commissioning Services 4,116 (1,532) 2,584 3,977 (2,000) 1,977

Net Cost of Services 210,570 (9,760) 200,810 141,894 (10,782) 131,112

Other Operating Expenditure (note 13) 380 - 380 32 - 32

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure (note 14) 38,556 - 38,556 39,512 - 39,512

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (note 15) - (135,060) (135,060) - (131,249) (131,249)

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 249,506 (144,820) 104,686 181,438 (142,031) 39,407

Surplus on revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment (note 16) (2,552) (1,375)

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit l iability (note 33) 60,081 (25,439)

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 57,529 (26,814)

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 162,215 12,593
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
 

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18

Gross Gross Net Gross Gross Net

Expenditure Income Expenditure Expenditure Income Expenditure

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Police Services 4,047 (8,233) (4,186) 5,023 (8,782) (3,759)

Corporate, Democratic and Commissioning Services 4,116 (1,532) 2,584 3,978 (2,000) 1,978

Intra-Group Adjustment for financial resources consumed 159,609 - 159,609 156,828 - 156,828

Net Cost of Services 167,772 (9,765) 158,007 165,829 (10,782) 155,047

Other Operating Expenditure (note 13) 380 (19,755) (19,375) - (19,803) (19,803)

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure (note 14) 466 - 466 335 - 335

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (note 15) - (135,060) (135,060) - (131,249) (131,249)

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 168,618 (164,580) 4,038 166,164 (161,834) 4,330

Surplus on revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment (note 24) (2,552) (1,375)

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit l iability (note 33) 260 (99)

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (2,292) (1,474)

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 1,746 2,856
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Group Movement in Reserves Statement 
 

 
 
 
  

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Unusable 

Reserves

Total 

Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 31 March 2017 28,472 1,208 29,680 (1,452,309) (1,422,629)

Movement in reserves during 2017/18

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (39,407) - (39,407) 26,814 (12,593)

42,281

Adjustments between accounting basis & 124

funding basis under regulations (note 10) 33,408 705 34,113 (34,113) -

Increase or (Decrease) in 2017/18 (5,999) 705 (5,294) (7,299) (12,593)

Balance at 31 March 2018 carried forward 22,473 1,913 24,386 (1,459,608) (1,435,222)

Movement in reserves during 2018/19

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (104,686) - (104,686) (57,529) (162,215)

Adjustments between accounting basis & 

funding basis under regulations (note 10) 101,421 728 102,149 (102,149) -

Increase or (Decrease) in 2018/19 (3,265) 728 (2,537) (159,678) (162,215)

Balance at 31 March 2019 19,208 2,641 21,849 (1,619,286) (1,597,437)
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Police and Crime Commissioner Movement in Reserves 
Statement 
 

 
 

 

 

  

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Unusable 

Reserves

Total 

Reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 31 March 2017 28,472 1,208 29,680 30,723 60,403

Movement in reserves during 2017/18

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (4,330) - (4,330) 1,474 (2,856)

Adjustments between accounting basis & 

funding basis under regulations (note 11) (1,669) 705 (964) 964 -

Increase or (decrease) in 2017/18 (5,999) 705 (5,294) 2,438 (2,856)

Balance at 31 March 2018 carried forward 22,473 1,913 24,386 33,161 57,547

Movement in reserves during 2018/19

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (4,038) - (4,038) 2,292 (1,746)

Adjustments between accounting basis & 

funding basis under regulations (note 11) 773 728 1,501 (1,501) -

Increase or (Decrease) in 2018/19 (3,265) 728 (2,537) 791 (1,746)

Balance at 31 March 2019 19,208 2,641 21,849 33,952 55,801
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Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Balance 
Sheet 
 

 
 

 
 
Matthew Warren CPFA 
 
 
Chief Finance Officer to Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner   
25 July 2019 
 
 
 

Chief PCC Group Chief PCC Group

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Property, Plant and Equipment 16 - 50,439 50,439 - 47,525 50,598

Investment Property - 603 603 - 676 676

Intangible Assets 17 - 4,344 4,344 - 4,532 1,459

Long Term Debtors 18 - 42 42 - 139 139

Long Term Assets - 55,428 55,428 - 52,872 52,872

Short Term Investments 18 - 6,000 6,000 - 7,000 7,000

Assets Held for Sale - - - - 2,200 2,200

Inventories - 968 968 - 924 924

Short Term Debtors 19 22,580 22,580 - 20,272 20,272

Cash and Cash Equivalents 20 - 3,485 3,485 - 6,732 6,732

Current Assets - 33,033 33,033 - 37,128 37,128

Short Term Borrowing 18 - (517) (517) - (517) (517)

Short Term Creditors 21 (1,513) (11,856) (13,369) (1,460) (11,697) (13,157)

Current Liabilities (1,513) (12,373) (13,886) (1,460) (12,214) (13,674)

Long Term Creditors - (43) (43) - (44) (44)

Provisions 22 - (1,188) (1,188) - (1,022) (1,022)

Long Term Borrowing 18 - (18,050) (18,050) - (18,531) (18,531)

Other Long Term Liabilities 33 (1,651,725) (1,006) (1,652,731) (1,491,309) (642) (1,491,951)

Long Term Liabilities (1,651,725) (20,287) (1,672,012) (1,491,309) (20,239) (1,511,548)

Net Assets/(Liabilities) (1,653,238) 55,801 (1,597,437) (1,492,769) 57,547 (1,435,222)

Usable Reserves 23 - (21,849) (21,849) - (24,386) (24,386)

Unusable Reserves 24 1,653,238 (33,952) 1,619,286 1,492,769 (33,161) 1,459,608

Total Reserves 1,653,238 (55,801) 1,597,437 1,492,769 (57,547) 1,435,222

*The Balance Sheet at 31 March 2018 has been restated following reclassification of Assets from Property Plant & Equipment to Intangible Assets

31 March 2019 31/03/2018 (Restated*)
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Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Cash Flow Statement 
 

 

 

PCC Group PCC Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Net deficit on the provision of services (4,038) (104,686) (4,330) (39,407)

3,130 103,778 (540) 34,537

Net cash flows from Operating Activities (908) (908) (4,870) (4,870)

Investing Activities

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets (5,240) (5,240) (5,818) (5,818)

Proceeds  from the Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 2,382 2,382 723 723

Purchase of Short Term Investments 8,000 8,000 7,000 7,000

Proceeds  from the Sale of Short Term Investments (7,000) (7,000) (9,000) (9,000)

Financing Activities

Repayments of long term borrowing (481) (481) (264) (264)

Cash Receipts of long term borrowing  -  - 10,000 10,000

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,247) (3,247) (2,229) (2,229)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 6,732 6,732 8,961 8,961

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period (Note 20) 3,485 3,485 6,732 6,732

Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non cash 

movements  (note 24)

2018/19 2017/18
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Notes to the Accounts 
1.  Accounting Polic ies  

The Statement of Accounts summarises the transactions for the 2018/19 financial year and the 
position at 31 March 2019.  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the preparation 
of an annual Statement of Accounts, prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices.  
These practices comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2018/19, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
The Statement of Accounts has been prepared with reference to: 
 

 The objective of providing information about the financial position, performance and 

cash flows in a way that meets the ‘common needs of most users’ 

 The underlying assumption that the Group is a going concern and that materiality has 

been set at the relevant level for the individual entities and the Group 

 The following fundamental qualitative characteristics: 

o relevance, and 

o faithful representation 

 The following qualitative characteristics: 

o comparable 

o verifiable 

o timely, and 

o understandable 

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, 
modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial 
instruments.  Accounting policies are reviewed annually and have been applied consistently, as 
appropriate. 
 
Following the passing of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, Cambridgeshire 
Police Authority was replaced on 22 November 2012 with two ‘corporation sole’ bodies, the 
Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner (‘the Commissioner’) and the Chief Constable 
of Cambridgeshire Constabulary (‘the Chief Constable’).  Both bodies are required to prepare 
separate Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Financial Statements included here represent the accounts for the Commissioner and also 
those for the Group.  The term ‘Group’ is used to indicate individual transactions and policies of 
the Commissioner and the Chief Constable for the year ended 31 March 2019.  The identification 
of the Commissioner as the holding organisation and the requirement to produce group 
accounts stems from the powers and responsibilities of the Commissioner under the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 
 
The accounting policies below apply to both the Commissioner and the Group, unless stated 
otherwise in the heading of the individual policies. 
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(i)  Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
Items of income and expenditure are accounted for in the year to which they relate.   Payments 
may be made, or receipts received, in the year prior or subsequent to the current year.  This 
means that all material sums received or receivable during the year are included in the accounts 
whether or not the cash has actually been paid or received in the year.  Adjustments between 
years are made by way of accruals and prepayments of both income and expenditure.  With the 
exception of payroll-related accruals/prepayments and any accruals/prepayments automatically 
generated by the accounting system a de-minimis limit of £5,000 is applied for revenue and 
£10,000 for capital. 
 
Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed.  Where there is a gap between 
the date of supplies and their consumption, they are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet. 
 
Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for on the basis of 
the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed 
or determined by the contract. 
 
Where income and expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a 
debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet.  Where it is doubtful 
that debts will be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue 
for the income that might not be collected.  
 
All sales and purchase orders are raised in the name of the PCC and monies are paid into their 
bank account. Therefore, all debtors and creditors sit in the PCC accounts. The PCC also signs off 
the fees and charges methodology and therefore income in the Chief’s accounts are moved into 
the PCC at year end.  
 
(ii)  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 
three months or less from the date of acquisition and are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management 
arrangements. 
 
(iv)  Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
Services and support services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of 
holding non-current assets during the year: 

 Depreciation attributable to the asset used by the relevant service; 

 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 

accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written 

off; and 

 Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service. 

The Group is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation, revaluation and impairment 
losses or amortisations.  However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue 
towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement (equal to an amount calculated on a 
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prudent basis determined by the Group in accordance with statutory guidance).  Depreciation, 
revaluation and impairment losses and amortisations are therefore replaced by the revenue 
contribution in the General Fund Balance (known as the Minimum Revenue Provision) by way 
of an adjusting transaction within the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement for the difference between the two. 
 
(v)  Employee Benefits 
Benefits Payable During Employment 
Short-term employee benefits (those that fall due wholly within 12 months of the year-end), 
such as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary 
benefits (e.g. cars) for current employees, are recognised as an expense in the year in which 
employees render service to the Group.  An accrual is made against services in the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services for the cost of holiday entitlements and other forms of leave 
earned by employees but not taken before the year-end and which employees can carry forward 
into the next financial year.  The accrual is made at the remuneration rates applicable in the 
following financial year.  Any accrual made is required under statute to be reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance by a credit to the Accumulated Absences Account in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 
 
Termination Benefits 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Group to terminate 
an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date or an employee’s decision to 
accept voluntary redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis to the relevant service line in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when the Group can no longer withdraw 
the offer of those benefits or when the Group recognises costs for a restructuring. 
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require 
the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Group to the pension 
fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting 
standards.  In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from 
the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for termination benefits relating 
to pensions enhancements and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund 
and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. 
 
 
Post Employment Benefits   
The Group participates in four defined benefit pension schemes: the Police Pension Scheme 
(PPS) for police officers in service before 31 March 2006 who are subject to transitional 
protection, the New Police Pensions Scheme (NPPS) for officers starting service on or after 1 
April 2006 who are subject to transitional protection, the Police Pensions Scheme 2015 (PPS 
2015) for officers starting service on or after 1 April 2015 and officers formerly members of 
PPS/NPPS who are not subject to transitional protection, and the Local Government Pension 
Scheme for Police Staff (LGPS).  Pension contributions and further costs that arise in respect of 
certain pensions paid to retired employees on an unfunded basis are charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the Movement in Reserves Statement 
(as appropriate).  The Police and Crime Commissioner’s Accounts include the cost of providing 
pensions to the staff under the direction and control of the Commissioner only. 
 
Injury Awards paid under the Police (Injury Benefit) Regulations are disclosed separately.  These 
payments are unfunded and are paid directly by the Group.  Injury awards are subject to the 
same treatment as the Police Pension Schemes, with the movement on the liability being 
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attributable to any change in interest costs and actuarial gains/losses.  New injury awards are 
shown as past service costs in the year which they are made. 
 
The PPS, the NPPS and the PPS 2015 are unfunded schemes and have no attributable assets. 
 
The LGPS is a funded scheme and as such the assets of the scheme are attributable to the Group 
and are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value as follows: 
 

 Quoted securities – current bid price; 

 Unquoted securities – a professional estimate of fair value; 

 Unitised securities – current bid price; and 

 Property – market value. 

Scheme assets include current assets, such as debtors and cash, as well as the investment 
portfolio. Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (such as fees payable to fund managers) 
are deducted from the net asset/liability.  All scheme assets are held and monitored by 
Cambridgeshire County Council LGPS (the administrator); further information can be seen within 
their Statement of Accounts for 2018/19. 
 
Liabilities largely comprise benefits promised under the formal terms of the pension scheme. 
Scheme liabilities are measured using the projected unit method.  This method examines all the 
benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners and their dependants and the accrued benefits 
for current members of the scheme, making allowance for projected scheme member earnings.  
 
The change in the net pensions liability is analysed over the following headings: 
 
Current Service Cost 
This is the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned in the current year, allocated 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the 
employees worked. 
 
 
Interest Cost 
This is the expected increase in the present value of liabilities accrued during the year as they 
move one year closer to being paid.  Interest cost is charged to Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Expected Return on Assets 
This is a measure of the estimated return (income from dividends, interest, etc.) on the 
investments held by the scheme for the year.  It is not intended to reflect the actual realised 
return by the scheme, but an estimate at the beginning of the financial year of the long-term 
future expected investment return for each asset class.  The expected return on assets is 
credited to Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 
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The expected return is based on: 
 

 for quoted corporate or government bonds – application of the current redemption 

yield at the start of the year to the market value of bonds held; and 

 for other assets (especially equities) – application of the rate of return expected for 

each significant class of assets over the long–term at the beginning of the year to the 

fair value of assets held. 

Actuarial Gains and Losses 
This element arises where actual events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions 
made for the last valuation (known as experience gains and losses) or the actuarial assumptions 
have been updated.  For instance, there may have been an unexpectedly high pay award in the 
year, or new research might alter assumptions about general levels of mortality.  Actuarial gains 
and losses are recognised in the Pension Reserve. 
 
Past Service Costs 
These arise from decisions taken in the current year, but whose financial effect is derived from 
years of service earned in earlier years.  For instance, if scheme regulations were amended to 
increase the multiplier derived from years of service applied to final salaries in calculating 
pensions, total liabilities would rise but the majority of this rise would not relate to employee 
activity in the current year.  It is therefore presented separately from the Current Service Cost 
and is charged to Non-Distributed Costs in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 
Settlements and Curtailments 
These are events that change pension liabilities but are not normally covered by actuarial 
assumptions. 
 
Settlements are irrevocable actions that relieve the employer of the primary responsibility for 
pension obligations (e.g. the transfer of scheme assets and liabilities relating to a group of 
employees moving to another scheme). 
 
Curtailments are events that reduce the expected years of future service of present employees 
or reduce for a number of employees the accrual of defined benefits for some or all of their 
future service (e.g. closing a service unit of the Group). 
 
Gains or losses on settlements and curtailments are debited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 
Contributions paid to defined benefit schemes 
This is the cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; 
not accounted for as a separate expense. 
 
Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for pensions in the year 
Revenue charges in respect of current and past service costs, interest costs and the expected 
return on assets are reversed in order that actual employer’s contributions and retirement 
benefits payable are recognised in the General Fund Balance.  In the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pension Reserve to remove 
notional debits and credits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such 
amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  The negative balance that arises on the Pension 
Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact on the General Fund of being required to 
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account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits earned by 
employees. 
 
(vi)  Events After the Balance Sheet Date 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that 
occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is 
authorised for issue.  Two types of events can be identified: 
 

 those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting 

period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events; 

 those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the 

Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of 

events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of 

the events and their estimated financial effect.  

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement 
of Accounts. 
 
(vii)  Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised 
cost.  Annual charges to the Financing and Investing Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the 
carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over 
the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.  Therefore, for 
most of the borrowings that the Group has, the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the 
outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest), and the interest charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year in the 
loan agreement. 
 
Gains or losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited to 
the Financing and Investing Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase/settlement.  However, where repurchase has 
taken place as a part of a restructuring of the loan portfolio that involves the modification or 
exchange of existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively deducted from or 
added to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan and the write-down to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan by an 
adjustment to the effective interest rate. 
 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread 
over future years.  The Group has a policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was 
remaining on the loan against which the premium was payable or the discount receivable when 
it was repaid.  The reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to the net charge required against the General Fund Balance is managed 
by a transfer to or from a Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 
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(viii)  Government Grants and Contributions 
Government grants and contributions are accounted for on an accruals basis and credited when 
the conditions for their receipt have been complied with and there is a reasonable assurance 
that the grant or contribution will be received.  Conditions are stipulations that specify that the 
future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset received in the form of the 
grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future 
economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor. 
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are 
carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. 
 
Specific revenue grants are credited within the Net Cost of Services where they are matched 
with the expenditure to which they relate.  Grants to cover general expenditure are credited to 
the ‘Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income’ line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as a source of finance.  
 
Grants and contributions towards property, plant and equipment are credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement once their conditions have been satisfied 
and then reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital 
Grants Unapplied Account.  Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment 
Account.   
 
(ix)  Intangible Assets 
Expenditure on assets that do not have a physical substance but are identifiable and are 
controlled by the Group (e.g. software) and bring benefits to the Group for more than one 
financial year, are capitalised in the first year of the project.  The balance is amortised to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement over the economic life of the asset to reflect 
the pattern of consumption of benefits.  In most cases it is assumed that software will have an 
economic life of 5 years. 
 
Expenditure on the development of websites is not capitalised if the website is solely or primarily 
intended to promote or advertise the Group’s goods or services. 
 
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost.  Amounts are only revalued where the fair value 
of the assets held by the Group can be determined by reference to an active market.  In practice, 
no intangible assets held by the Group meet this criterion, and are therefore carried at amortised 
cost.  The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  An asset is tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired – any losses recognised are 
posted to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Any gain or loss arising on 
the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, 
amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an 
impact on the General Fund Balance.  Therefore, gains and losses are reversed out of the General 
Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment 
Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
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(x)  Inventories and Works in Progress 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value in the Balance Sheet.  A 
valuation of Inventories and Works in Progress is undertaken annually. 
 
(xi)  Joint Operations 
Joint operations are arrangements where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement.  The 
activities undertaken by the Group in conjunction with other joint operators involve the use of 
the assets and resources of those joint operators.  In relation to its interest in a joint operation, 
the Group recognises: its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; its liabilities, 
including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; its revenue from the sale of its share of the 
output arising from the joint operation; its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by 
the joint operation; and its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.  
 
Jointly controlled operations undertaken by the Group are in relation to a pooled budget 
arrangement with five other eastern forces for the provision of tackling organised crime, in 
relation to the collaboration agreement with National Police Air Service (NPAS), and in relation 
to the units collaborated with the Bedfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner/Bedfordshire 
Police and Hertfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner/Hertfordshire Constabulary (see note 
26). 
 
(xii)  Investment Property 
Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation.  The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery 
of services or production of goods or is held for sale. 
 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the 
price that would be received to sell such an asset in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.  As a non-financial asset, investment properties are 
measured at highest and best use.  Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually 
according to market conditions at the year-end.  Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  The same treatment applies to gains and losses on disposal. 
 
Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and 
Investment Income line and result in a gain for the General Fund Balance.  However, revaluation 
and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact 
on the General Fund Balance and therefore are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any 
proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
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(xiii) Property, Plant and Equipment 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used 
during more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
Recognition 
All expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment 
is capitalised on an accruals basis in the accounts, provided that the asset yields benefit to the 
Group for a period of more than one financial year and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.  A de-minimis value of £10,000 for capitalising individual items has been adopted except 
for expenditure on vehicles which is always recorded on the property, plant and equipment 
register, and expenditure on computers which should be grouped and recorded on the property, 
plant and equipment register if the value of the grouped assets exceed the de-minimis value of 
£10,000. 
 
Measurement 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising all expenditure that is directly attributable to 
bringing the asset into working condition for its intended use.  Assets are then carried in the 
Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases: 
 

 Assets under construction are included in the Balance Sheet at historical cost; 

 Operational land and properties and other operational assets are included in the 

Balance Sheet at current value.  Non-specialised operational properties are valued on 

the basis of “Existing Use Value” (EUV); and  

 Non-operational land and properties and other non-operational assets, including any 

assets surplus to requirements, are included in the Balance Sheet at fair value, 

estimated at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective. 

Assets that are included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued where there have 
been material changes in the value, but as a minimum every five years.  In the years between 
formal valuations, the continuing appropriateness of current values based on the previous 
valuation is assessed by reference to market trends and professional advice and a desktop 
Assessment is carried out of the higher valued properties.  Increases in valuations are matched 
by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains or gains are credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement where they arise from the reversal of a loss 
previously charged to Police Services.  
 
Where decreases in value are identified, the revaluation loss is accounted for as follows: 
 

 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, 

the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the balance; or  

 Where there is no balance or insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is 

written down against the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement.  

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date 
of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the 
Capital Adjustment Account. 
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All valuations are on a basis recommended by CIPFA and in accordance with the Statement of 
Asset Valuation Principles and Guidance Notes issued by RICS. Valuations and Desktop 
Assessments in 2018/19 have been carried out by the Group’s own valuers: Mr C Luscombe 
FRICS IRRV (Director of Estates) and Mrs Elly McKee MRICS (Estates Management Surveyor). 
 
Impairment 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying 
amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. 
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for as follows: 
 

 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, 

the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance; or 

 where there is no balance or insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is 

written down against the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement. 

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the reversal is credited to the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of 
the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not 
been recognised. 
 
Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset 
Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the 
lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to 
fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up 
to the amount of any losses previously recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of 
Services.  Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale. 
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified 
back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were 
classified as held for sale, adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would 
have been recognised had they not been classified as Held for Sale, and their recoverable 
amount at the date of the decision not to sell. 
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale. 
 
Disposal 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the value of the asset in the Balance Sheet is 
written off to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss 
on disposal. Receipts from disposals are then credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement, netting off the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal.  Any 
revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the 
Capital Adjustment Account.   
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Amounts in excess of £10,000 are categorised as Capital Receipts.  These are credited to the 
Capital Receipts Reserve, and held until applied to finance new capital investment or set-aside 
to reduce the Group’s underlying need to borrow (the Capital Financing Requirement).  Receipts 
are appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.  
 
The gain or loss on disposal of assets is not a credit or charge against council tax, and is instead 
appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided for all Property, Plant and Equipment assets with a finite useful life, and 
is calculated using the straight-line method.  The value of the asset (less any residual value) is 
depreciated over its useful life.  Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises two 
or more major components with substantially different useful economic lives, each component 
is treated separately for depreciation purposes.  A de-minimis value has been adopted for 
components.  Only components which are more than 20% of the value of the asset and are 
worth over £75,000 will be depreciated separately for assets valued over £300,000.  Part 
provision may be made for newly acquired assets, unless acquired towards the end of the year. 
No provision is made for non-depreciable land and non-operational assets, or if the charge 
would be immaterial.  Assets are depreciated on the basis shown in the Notes to the Core 
Statement of Accounts (Note 16 - Depreciation Methodologies).  Revaluation gains are also 
depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value depreciation 
charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their 
historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 
(xiv)  Provisions 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Group an obligation to incur 
future expenses which are likely or certain to be incurred but the amount or timing of which 
cannot be determined accurately, but can be estimated reliably.  These include provisions for 
bad and doubtful debts and the cost of meeting insurance claims falling below the Group's policy 
excesses.  Provisions are charged as an expense to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in the year that the Group becomes aware of the obligation.  When payments are 
eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet. 
 
(xv)  Contingent Liabilities 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that give the Group a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Group.  Contingent liabilities also arise in 
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
reliably. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the 
accounts.  
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(xvi)  Reserves 
Amounts set aside for purposes falling outside the definition of provisions are considered to be 
reserves.  Reserves are created by appropriating amounts from the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement.  When expenditure which is to be financed by a reserve is 
incurred, it is charged to the Net Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  The reserve is then appropriated back to the General Fund Balance in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. 
 
The Group has set aside a number of revenue reserves and details of these are provided in the 
notes to the accounts.  Reserves include earmarked reserves set aside for specific policy 
purposes and liabilities. Certain reserves can only be used for specific statutory purposes.  The 
Revaluation Reserve, the Capital Adjustment Account and the Usable Capital Receipts Account 
are examples of such reserves. 
 
(xvii) Value Added Tax (VAT) 
VAT is included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement only to the extent 
that it is irrecoverable from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  VAT receivable is excluded 
from income. 
 
(xviii) Fair Value Measurement 
The Group measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets and investment 
properties at fair value at each reporting date.  Fair value is the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the 
asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 
 

 in the principal market for the asset or liability; or 
 

 in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability. 

 
The Group measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act 
in their economic best interest. 
 
When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the Group takes into account a market 
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use. 
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the 
use of unobservable inputs. 
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Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is 
measured or disclosed in the Group’s financial statements are categorised within the fair value 
hierarchy as follows: 
 

 Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the Group can access at the measurement date; 
 

 Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 

 

 Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

2. Accounting Standards adopted during the year 

On the 1st April 2018, significant changes were made to IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments). This 
has resulted in new classification categories for financial assets and liabilities. All 
investments and loans have been assessed at year end and as all investments are made 
solely for payments of principal and interest, a judgement has been made that they should 
all be held at amortised cost.  

In addition IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers has been taken into account 
and revenue is only recognised at the point goods or services are exchanged. We have no 
significant income contracts. 

 

3. Accounting Standards that have been issued but not yet adopted 

Standards that have been issued but not yet adopted, which may require disclosure in 2018/19 
accounts, are anticipated to be listed in Appendix C of the 2019/20 Code when it is published. 
In the interim, potentially relevant standards include: 

 Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property 

 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014 - 2016 Cycle 

 IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 

 IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

 Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Prepayment Features with Negative 
Compensation 

When these changes come into effect for financial year 2019/20 it is not expected that any will 
have a material impact on the Statement of Accounts. 
 

4. Critical judgements in applying Accounting Policies 

In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Group has had to make certain 
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events.   
 
There is a degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for Police and Crime 
Commissioners, and consequently Chief Constables.  However, it has been determined that this 
uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an indication that the assets of the Group might be 
impaired as a result of a need to close facilities and reduce levels of service provision. 
 
All income, including that from grants, is received and controlled by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner.  As a result, no income is included within the Accounts of the Chief Constable. 
 
It has been judged that all property, plant and equipment is owned and controlled by the PCC 
and as such is not included in the Chief Constable’s Accounts. 
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The valuations of our land and buildings requires professional judgements to be made using 
professional knowledge and using appropriate recent property price market information. 
 

 

5. Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance 
sheet date and the amounts reported for the revenues during the year. However, the nature of 
estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates.  
 
The key judgements and estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as 
follows: 
 

Item Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from 
Assumptions 

Pensions 
Liability 

 

 

Estimation of the net liability to pay 
pensions depends on a number of 
complex judgements relating to the 
discount rate used, the rate at which 
salaries are projected to increase, 
changes in retirement ages, mortality 
rates and expected returns on pension 
fund assets. We have engaged the 
Governments Actuary’s Department to 
provide the Group with expert advice 
about the assumptions to be applied for 
the Police Pension Schemes and Hymans 
Robertson LLP provides the same advice 
for the Police Staff Pension Scheme.  

The effects on the net pension liability of 
changes in individual assumptions can 
be measured. 
However, the assumptions interact in 
complex ways. During 2018/19, the 
Group’s actuaries advised that the net 
pension liability had increased by 
£136m for Police Pension Schemes 
(including an increase of £62m as a 
result of changes in financial 
assumptions). A sensitivity analysis 
shown in Note 33 shows the impact that 
a 0.5% decrease in Real Discount Rate 
will have or a 0.5% increase in Salary or 
Pension Increase would have on the 3 
pension schemes. The highest impact 
likely is on the Police Pension Scheme if 
the Real Discount Rate was reduced 
with a potential impact of £155m (10.5% 
reduction in liability). 

 

 

6. Events after the Reporting Period 

The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Chief Finance Officer on                                                      
25 July 2019.  Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the statement of accounts 
or notes.  
 
No other events taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 
25 July 2019 which would materially impact the financial statements, therefore no adjustment 
to the figures in the financial statements and notes has been required. 
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7. Intra Group Funding Arrangements Between the Police and Crime Commissioner and the 
Chief Constable 

The PCC receives all funding on behalf of the Group. There is no transfer of real cash between 
the PCC and the Chief Constable as the latter does not have a bank account into which monies 
can be received or paid. 

The table below shows the movement through the intra-group account within the respective 
Balance Sheets. PCC resources consumed at the request of the CC are reflected in the PCC and 
CC Balance Sheets though an intra-group adjustment. Similarly an intra-group adjustment is 
made through the PCC and CC Balance Sheets to reflect the PCC funding of these resources.  

 

During 2018/19 the Chief Constable approved a total of £274k for various additional capital 
programme schemes, each falling with the Chief Constable’s delegated limit for capital 
expenditure, funded from savings made within the annual devolved budget for delivering the 
policing service. Given that all assets are held in the Balance Sheet of the PCC, the transfer of 
these resources back from the Chief Constable to the PCC for the purchase of additional 
property, plant and equipment assets is reflected in the table below. 

 

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

PCC resources consumed at the request of the CC 159,609 156,828

PCC funding for resources consumed at the request of the CC (159,609) (156,828)
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8. Group Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 

 
 

2018/19

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the Adjustments relating Adjustments relating Other Adjustments Total Adjustments

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement amounts to Capital Items to Pensions

(Note 8.1) (Note 8.2) (Note 8.3)

£000 £000 £000 £000

Police Services 501 62,505 53 63,059

Corporate, Democratic and Commissioning Services - 85 - 85

Net Cost of Services 501 62,590 53 63,144

Other Income and Expenditure - 38,109 168 38,277

Difference between the General Fund Surplus/Deficit and 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Surplus/Deficit 501 100,699 221 101,421

2017/18

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the Adjustments relating Adjustments relating Other Adjustments Total Adjustments

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement amounts to Capital Items to Pensions

(Note 8.1) (Note 8.2) (Note 8.3)
£000 £000 £000 £000

Police Services (1,504) (4,265) 165 (5,604)

Corporate, Democratic and Commissioning Services - 83 - 83

Net Cost of Services (1,504) (4,182) 165 (5,521)

Other Income and Expenditure - 39,196 (267) 38,929

Difference between the General Fund Surplus/Deficit and 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Surplus/Deficit (1,504) 35,014 (102) 33,408
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Police and Crime Commissioner’s Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

 

2018/19

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the Adjustments relating Adjustments relating Other Adjustments Total Adjustments

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement amounts to Capital Items to Pensions

(Note 8.1) (Note 8.2) (Note 8.3)

£000 £000 £000 £000

Police Services 501 - - 501

Corporate, Democratic and Commissioning Services - 85 - 85

Net Cost of Services 501 85 - 586

Other Income and Expenditure - 19 168 187

Difference between the General Fund Surplus/Deficit and 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Surplus/Deficit 501 104 168 773

2017/18

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the Adjustments relating Adjustments relating Other Adjustments Total Adjustments

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement amounts to Capital Items to Pensions

(Note 8.1) (Note 8.2) (Note 8.3)

£000 £000 £000 £000

Police Services (1,504) - - (1,504)

Corporate, Democratic and Commissioning Services - 83 - 83

Net Cost of Services (1,504) 83 - (1,421)

Other Income and Expenditure - 19 (267) (248)

Difference between the General Fund Surplus/Deficit and 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Surplus/Deficit (1,504) 102 (267) (1,669)
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8.1 Adjustments relating to Capital Items 
 
This column adds in depreciation and impairment and revaluation gains and losses in 
the service line and for: 
 

 Other operating expenditure – adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of 
income on disposal of assets and the amounts written off for those assets; 
 

 Financing and investment income and expenditure – the statutory charges for 
capital financing i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue 
contributions are deducted from other income and expenditure as these are not 
chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices; 

 

 Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure – capital grants are 
adjusted for income not chargeable under generally accepted practices. 
Revenue grants are adjusted from those receivable in the year to those 
receivable without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied throughout 
the year. The Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income and Expenditure line is 
credited with capital grants receivable in the year without conditions or for 
which conditions were satisfied in the year. 
 

8.2 Adjustments relating to Pensions 
 

Net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS 19 
Employee Benefits pension related expenditure and income: 
 

 For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions 
made by the authority as allowed by statute and the replacement with current 
service costs and past service costs 

 Other Income and Expenditure is the net interest on the defined benefit liability 
is charged to the CIES. 

 
8.3 Other Adjustments 

 
Other differences between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement and amounts payable/receivable to be recognised under 
statute: 

 For services this represents the removal of the accumulated absences accrual 
as allowed by statute.  
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9. Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 

 

 

 

  

Group 2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

POLICE SERVICES

Expenditure

Police Pay and Allowances 62,561 61,540

Police Staff Pay and Allowances 42,339 42,281

Other Pay and Allowances 818 124

Other Employee Expenses 1,729 1,166

Police Pensions 71,940 4,418

Premises 4,734 4,471

Transport 3,208 3,738

Supplies and Services 13,734 13,798

Agency and Contracted Services 1,344 1,358

Depreciation and Impairment of Fixed Assets 4,047 5,023

Other Operating Expenditure 380 32

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 38,556 39,512

Total Expenditure 245,390 177,461

Income

Government Grants (769) (768)

Income from Fees and Charges (7,459) (8,014)

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (135,060) (131,249)

Total Income (143,288) (140,031)

CORPORATE, DEMOCRATIC AND COMMISSIONING SERVICES

Expenditure

Police Staff Pay and Allowances 936 941

Other Employee Expenses 34 7

Premises 59 92

Transport 10 9

Supplies and Services 3,077 2,928

Total Expenditure 4,116 3,977

Income

Government Grants (1,532) (2,000)

Total Income (1,532) (2,000)

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 104,686 39,407



Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner 
Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

41 

 

 
 

 

 

  

PCC 2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

POLICE SERVICES

Expenditure

Depreciation and Impairment of Fixed Assets 4,047 5,023

Intra-Group Adjustment for financial resources consumed 159,609 156,828

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 466 336

Other Operating Expenditure 380  -

Total Expenditure 164,502 162,187

Income

Government Grants (770) (768)

Income from Fees and Charges (7,463) (8,014)

Other Operating Income (19,755) (19,803)

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (135,060) (131,249)

Funding from Chief (Re RCCO)  -  -

Total Income (163,048) (159,834)

CORPORATE, DEMOCRATIC AND COMMISSIONING SERVICES

Expenditure

Police Staff Pay and Allowances 936 941

Other Employee Expenses 34 7

Premises 59 0

Transport 10 92

Supplies and Services 3,077 9

Financing and Investment Income  - 2,928

Total Expenditure 4,116 3,977

Income

Government Grants (1,532) (2,000)

Total Income (1,532) (2,000)

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 4,038 4,330
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10. Group’s Movement in Reserves Statement – Adjustments between Accounting Basis and 
Funding Basis under Regulations 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and 
expenditure recognised by the Group in the year, in accordance with proper accounting practice, 
to arrive at the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the 
Group to meet future capital and revenue expenditure. The adjustments are made against the 
General Fund Balance. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

£000 £000 £000 £000

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive

Income and Expenditure Statement are different from revenue for the year

calculated in accordance with statutory requirements:

Pensions costs (transferred to the Pensions Reserve) 100,699  - 35,014  -

Council tax (transfers to (or from) Collection Fund) 168  - (267)  -

Holiday pay (transferred to the Accumulated Absences Reserve) 53  - 165  -

Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of

Services in relation to capital expenditure (the items are charged to the

Capital Adjustment Account) 4,399  - 1,730  -

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources 105,319  - 36,642  -

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the Capital (2,382) 2,382 (723) 723

Receipts Reserve

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (transfer from the Capital (743)  - (774)  -
Adjustment Account)

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (transfer to the (507)  - (881)  -

Capital Adjustment Account)

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources (3,632) 2,382 (2,378) 723

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure  - (1,215) 18 (18)

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure (845)  - (874)  -

Cash payments in relation to deferred capital receipts  - 140  -  -

Transfer from the Capital Receipts Reserve to the Capital Carry 579 (579)  -  -
Forward Reserve

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources (266) (1,654) (856) (18)

Total Adjustments 101,421 728 33,408 705

Usable Reserves

2017/182018/19

Usable Reserves
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11. Police and Crime Commissioner’s Movement in Reserves Statement – Adjustments 
between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and 
expenditure recognised by the Commissioner in the year in accordance with proper accounting 
practice to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the 
Commissioner to meet future capital and revenue expenditure.  

 

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

£000 £000 £000 £000

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive

Income and Expenditure Statement are different from revenue for the year

calculated in accordance with statutory requirements:

Pensions costs (transferred to the Pensions Reserve) 104  - 102  -

Council tax (transfers to (or from) Collection Fund) 168  - (267)  -

Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of

Services in relation to capital expenditure (the items are charged to the

Capital Adjustment Account) 4,399  - 1,730  -

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources 4,671  - 1,565  -

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the Capital (2,382) 2,382 (723) 723

Receipts Reserve

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (transfer from the Capital (743)  - (774)  -
Adjustment Account)

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (transfer to the (507)  - (881)  -

Capital Adjustment Account)

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources (3,632) 2,382 (2,378) 723

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure (1,215) 18 (18)

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure (845)  - (874)  -

Cash payments in relation to deferred capital receipts  - 140  -  -

Transfer from the Capital Receipts Reserve to the Capital Carry 579 (579)  -  -
Forward Reserve

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources (266) (1,654) (856) (18)

Total Adjustments 773 728 (1,669) 705

2017/182018/19

Usable ReservesUsable Reserves
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12. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Movement in Reserves Statement – Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves  

This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balance in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the 
amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2018/19. 

 

 Balance 

31 March 

2017 

 Balance 

31 March 

2018 

 Balance 

31 March 

2019 

Added to 

Reserve Applied

Added to 

Reserve Applied

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Carry Forward Projects Reserve 1,089       1,012       (1,089) 1,012       1,231       (1,012) 1,231       

Insurance Reserve 996           -                134-           862           -                -                862           

Il l-Health Retirement Reserve 398           -                0 398           -                -                398           

Capital Reserve 3,205       -                (1,920) 1,285       -                (616) 669           

Drug Forfeiture (Operational) Reserve 78             38             0 116           30             -                146           

Budget Assistance Reserve 8,414       -                (4,198) 4,216       -                (1,606) 2,610       

Capital Carry Forward Reserve 1,604       2,173       (1,604) 2,173       918           (1,600) 1,491       

Road Casualty Reduction & Support Fund 1,348       402           (168) 1,582       227           (245) 1,564       

Collaboration & Commissioning Reserve 270           -                (10) 260           153           (39) 374           

ICT Development Reserve 432           -                -                432           -                (432) -                

Estates Development Reserve 3,439       -                (500) 2,939       -                (274) 2,665       

Total Earmarked Reserves 21,273     3,625       (9,623) 15,275     2,559       (5,824) 12,010     

General Reserve 7,197 -                1               7,198       -                -                7,198       

Total General and Earmarked Reserves 28,470 3,625 (9,622) 22,473 2,559 (5,824) 19,208

Capital Receipts Reserve 1,208 705           -                1,913       2,521       (1,793) 2,641       

Total Usable Reserves 29,678 4,330 (9,622) 24,386 5,080 (7,617) 21,849

2017/18 2018/19
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Carry Forward Projects 

Funds transferred to the Carry Forward Projects Reserve are underspends attributable to 
revenue commitments that are to be applied in the coming year. 

Insurance 

The purpose of this reserve is to finance self-insured liabilities and the policy excesses that are 
not covered by external policies. 

Ill-Health Retirement  

This reserve is maintained to meet exceptional costs of ill-health retirements. 

Capital 

This reserve has been established to provide the Commissioner with future flexibility in capital 
financing. 

Drug Forfeiture (Operational) 

Funds transferred to the Drug Forfeiture Reserve are amounts received from the courts, 
earmarked to fight drug crime. 

Budget Assistance 

The reserve has been established to meet budget pressures in future years, and especially to 
bridge the funding gap in the years to 2020/21, particularly where change/transformation 
work does not coincide with required savings. 

Capital Carry Forward 

The reserve will fund approved capital carried forward expenditure in future years. 

Road Casualty Reduction and Support Fund 

This reserve has been established using underspend generated by the BCH Collaborated 
Cameras, Tickets and Collisions Unit to finance roads safety and casualty reduction work. 

Collaboration and Commissioning 

The reserve will fund assurance work for the OPCC regarding collaboration and services 
commissioning. 

ICT Development 

The reserve has been created to ensure that the necessary resources are available for the 
replacement of the Airwaves police communications system by the Emergency Services 
Network. 

Estates Development 

This reserve has been established to fund upfront expenditure incurred as part of the 
continuing programme of estate rationalisation. 
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13. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement – Other Operating Expenditure 

 

 

14. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement – Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

 

 

15. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement – Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 

 

 

 

PCC Group PCC Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Pension Top Up Grant Received from Home Office (19,755) (19,755) (19,835) (19,835)

Pension Top Up Grant Transferred to Pension Fund 19,755 - 19,835

Losses on the disposal of non-current assets 380 380 32 32

(19,375) 380 (19,803) 32

2018/19 2017/18

PCC Group PCC Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest payable and similar charges 650 650 393 393

Net interest on the net defined benefit l iability 19 38,109 19 39,196

Interest receivable and similar income (203) (203) (77) (77)

466 38,556 335 39,512

2018/19 2017/18

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Council tax income (55,804) (51,824)

Non-domestic rates (30,583) (30,584)

Non-ringfenced government grants (47,828) (47,967)

Capital grants and contributions (845) (874)

(135,060) (131,249)
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16. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Property, Plant and Equipment  

 

 
In addition, we hold £603k (2017/18 £676k) of investment land and building assets  
 

 

Land and 

Buildings

IT and 

Comms

Plant and 

Equipment Vehicles

Surplus 

Assets

Assets Under 

Construction Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2018 39,813 16,135 6,516 6,192 813 2,384 71,853

Additions 2 2  -  -  - 4,026 4,030

Disposals (183) (1) (150) (1,242) (70)  - (1,646)

Reclassifications 964 1,132 320 2,016  - (4,432)  -

Revaluation increases recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 2,552  -  -  -  -  - 2,552

Revaluation decreases recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services (813)  -  -  -  -  - (813)

Impairments recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services  -  -  -  -  - (317) (317)

At 31 March 2019 42,335 17,268 6,686 6,966 743 1,661 75,659

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2018 (2,697) (13,759) (4,699) (3,163) (10)  - (24,328)

Charge for 2018/19 703 (1,298) (646) (833) (4)  - (2,078)

Disposals 151  - 127 868 14  - 1,160

Revaluations depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve 20  -  -  -  -  - 20

Revaluation increase recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 6  -  -  -  -  - 6

At 31 March 2019 (1,817) (15,057) (5,218) (3,128) 0 0 (25,220)

Net book value

31 March 2019 40,518 2,211 1,468 3,838 743 1,661 50,439

31 March 2018 37,117 2,376 1,817 3,029 802 5,457 50,598
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Comparative Movement in 2017/18 Restated* 
 

Land and 

Buildings

IT and 

Comms

Plant and 

Equipment Vehicles

Surplus 

Assets

Assets Under 

Construction Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2017 39,716 16,150 6,072 6,895 1,427 567 70,827

Additions  -  - 11  -  - 5,111 5,122

Disposals (184) (865) (215) (1,184) (281)  - (2,729)

Reclassifications 319 850 648 481 (576) (3,294) (1,572)

Revaluation increases recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 44  -  -  - 243  - 287

Revaluation decreases recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services (82)  -  -  -  -  - (82)

At 31 March 2018 39,813 16,135 6,516 6,192 813 2,384 71,853

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2017 (2,054) (12,862) (4,165) (3,218) (39)  - (22,338)

Charge for 2017/18 (820) (1,758) (708) (847) (17)  - (4,150)

Disposals 26 861 174 902 16  - 1,979

Reclassifications 234  -  -  - 29  - 263

Revaluations depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve (82)  -  -  -  -  - (82)

At 31 March 2018 (2,696) (13,759) (4,699) (3,163) (11)  - (24,328)

Net book value

31 March 2018 37,117 2,376 1,817 3,029 802 2,384 47,525

31 March 2017 37,662 3,288 1,907 3,677 1,388 567 48,489

* The 2017-18 note has been restated following reclassification of intangible assets under development from PPE to Intangible Assets.
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Recognition 
 
As well as the grouping of expenditure on computers (in line with the Group’s Accounting 
Policies), items purchased as part of a capital scheme that are identical or related are 
grouped and recorded on the property, plant and equipment register if the value of the 
grouped assets exceed the de-minimis value of £10,000.  
 
Depreciation 

The following useful lives have been used in the calculation of depreciation on a straight line 
basis: 

 Buildings - 20 to 60 years 

 Vehicles - 3 to 7 years, depending on type 

 Plant and Equipment - 5 years 

 IT and Communications - 5 years 

Land and assets under construction are not depreciated. 

Residual Values 

The following residual values have been applied: 

 Vehicles – 25% of cost. 

Capital Commitments 

At 31 March 2019, the Group had not entered into any significant capital contracts. 

Revaluations 

The following statement shows the progress of the Group’s programme of revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment.  Asset values of land and buildings are reviewed at 1 April 
each year in 5 yearly intervals in a rolling programme, or sooner where there is a material 
change in value in any year or a property is reclassified (to Surplus Assets, Held for Sale Assets 
or Investment Properties).  In the years between formal valuations, the continuing 
appropriateness of current values based on previous valuations is assessed by reference to 
market trends and professional advice. In addition a desktop assessment has been carried out 
on agreed properties as appropriate based on materiality levels.  Land and building valuations 
in 2018/19 have been carried out by the Group’s own valuers:  Mr C Luscombe FRICS IRRV 
(OPCC Director of Estates) and Mrs E McKee MRICS (Estates Management Surveyor) in 
accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional 
standards of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors.  Valuations of all other items of plant 
and equipment are based on historical cost.  

The basis for valuation of property, plant and equipment is set out in the Statement of 
Accounting Policies. 
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Fair Value Hierarchy 

Details of the Group’s historic cost and information about the fair value hierarchy and 
techniques as at 31 March are as follows: 

 

 

Transfers between Levels of the Fair Value Hierarchy 

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year. 

Valuation Techniques 

There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year for surplus assets. 

Valuation Process for Investment Properties 

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties is measured annually at each reporting 
date. All valuations are carried out internally, in accordance with the methodologies and basis 
for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors. The Group’s valuation experts work closely with finance staff reporting directly to 
the Chief Finance Officer on a regular basis regarding all valuation matters. 

 

  

Intangible 

Assets Total

Software 

Licenses

Land and 

Buildings

Surplus 

Assets

IT and 

Comms

Plant and 

Equipment Vehicles

Assets valued at Historical Cost: 7,536           - 743           17,268     6,686           6,966       39,199    

Valued at Current Value in:

2018/19 2,953       2,953

2017/18  - 1,258        -  -  -  - 1,258

2016/17  - 14,110      -  -  -  - 14,110

2015/16  - 618            -  -  -  - 618

2014/15  - 23,396      -  -  -  - 23,396

7,536          42,335     743           17,268     6,686           6,966       81,534    

Property, Plant & Equipment
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17. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Intangible Assets 

The Group accounts for its software as intangible assets, to the extent that the software is not an integral part of a particular IT system and accounted for as 
part of the hardware item of Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
All software is given a finite useful life of 5 years, in line with other IT and Communication Assets.  The carrying amount of intangible assets is amortised on a 
straight-line basis. Amortisation of £1,182k (2017/18 £1,031k) is chargeable to Police Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
The movement of assets are as follows: 

 
 

Intangibles

Intangibles 

under 

Development Total Intangibles

Intangibles 

under 

Development Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at start of year:

Gross carrying amount 4,281 3,073 7,354 4,088 2,656 6,744

Accumulated amortisation (2,822)  - (2,822) (1,791)  - (1,791)

Net carrying amount at start of year 1,459 3,073 4,532 2,297 2,656 4,953

Additions  - 935 935  - 591 591

Reclassifications from assets under construction 3,255 (3,255)  - 193 (174) 19

Impairments recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services  - 59 59  -  -  -

Amortisation for the period (1,182)  - (1,182) (1,031)  - (1,031)

Amortisation on disposals  -  -  -  -  -  -

Net carrying amount at end of year 3,532 812 4,344 1,459 3,073 4,532

Comprising:

Gross carrying amount 7,536 812 8,348 4,281 3,073 7,354

Accumulated amortisation (4,004)  - (4,004) (2,822)  - (2,822)

3,532 812 4,344 1,459 3,073 4,532

*The 2017-18 note has been restated to reclassify intangible assets under development from PPE ACOC. 

2018/19 2017/18

Restated
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18. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Financial Instruments 

Categories of Financial Instruments  
 
The borrowing and investments disclosed in the balance sheet are made up of the following  
categories of financial instuments. 
 

 
 

 

Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
At 31st March 2019, the Group does not hold any Financial Assets carried at Fair Value.  
Financial liabilities and financial assets represented by loans and receivables are carried in the 
Balance Sheet at amortised cost.  Their fair value can be assessed by calculating the present 
value of the cash flows that will take place over the remaining term of the instruments (Level 
2) using the following assumptions: 
 

 for the fair value of Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) loans, premature repayment 
rates from the PWLB are applied to provide the fair value under PWLB debt 
redemption procedures; 

 

 no early repayment or impairment is recognised; 
 

 the carrying amount of an instrument maturing within 12 months is assumed to 
approximate to its fair value; and 

 

 the fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced or billed 
amount. 

 
The carrying and fair values of financial liabilities carried at amortised cost and of loans and 
receivables are as follows: 
 

 
 

 

The fair value on borrowing is greater than the carrying amount because the Group's portfolio 
consists of a number of fixed rate loans where the interest payable is higher than the rates 
available for similar loans at the balance sheet date.  All other financial liabilities and loans 

31-Mar-19 31-Mar-18 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-18

£000 £000 £000 £000

Financial Assets at amortised cost

Loans and Receivables 42 139 8,855                           6,934                           

Financial Liabilities at amortised cost

Loans at amortised cost 18,050                         18,531                         517                               517                               

Trade Creditors  -  - 9,088                           8,416                           

Total Creditors 18,050                         18,531                         9,605                           8,933                           

Non-Current Current

Carrying 

Amount Fair Value

Carrying 

Amount Fair Value

Financial l iabilities at amortised cost:

Public Works Loan Board Loans (18,567) (23,376) (19,048) (23,353)

31 March 2019 31 March 2018
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and receivables mature within 12 months and therefore their carrying values are assumed to 
approximate to their fair values.   
 

19. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Debtors 

 

 

20. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

 

21. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Creditors 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Trade Receivables 367 473

Prepayments 6,375 4,691

Other Receivables 15,838 15,108

22,580 20,272

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Cash held by the Commissioner 16 24

Bank current accounts (481) (2,357)

Short term deposits 3,950 9,065

3,485 6,732

PCC Group PCC Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade Creditors (1,910) (1,910) (787) (787)

Other Creditors (9,945) (11,459) (10,910) (12,370)

(11,855) (13,369) (11,697) (13,157)

2018/19 2017/18
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22. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Provisions  

Insurance 
The balance at 31 March 2019 represents estimated outstanding claims under the ‘excess’ 
clauses of the Group’s employers’ and public liability, motor and property insurance policies.  
The settlement of these claims is likely to be spread over a number of years.  There are no 
amounts in respect of liabilities covered by the insurance provision that are expected to be 
subject to reimbursement from third parties. 

 
 

23. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Usable Reserves 

Movement in the Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s usable reserves are detailed in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

24. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Unusable Reserves 

 

 

Revaluation Reserve (Group and Police and Crime Commissioner) 

The revaluation reserve contains the gains made by the Group arising from increases in the 
value of its Property, Plant and Equipment.  The balance is reduced when assets with 
accumulated gains are: 

 revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost; 
 

 used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation; or  
 

 disposed of and the gains are realised. 

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Insurance

Balance at 1 April 888 926

Amounts used in year  -  -

Decrease in year  - (38)
Balance at 31 March 888 888

2017/18 2017/18

£000 £000

Legal Provision

Balance at 1 April  134  -

Amounts used in year  -  -

Increase in year 166 134

300 134

Total Provision 1,188 1,022

Group PCC Group PCC

£000 £000 £000 £000

Revaluation Reserve 12,533 12,533 11,540 11,540

Capital Adjustment Account 21,926 21,926 21,457 21,457

Pensions Reserve (1,652,731) (1,006) (1,491,951) (642)

Collection Fund Adjustment Account 391 391 559 559

Accumulated Absences Account (1,513) - (1,460) -

Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 108 108 247 247

(1,619,286) 33,952 (1,459,608) 33,161

2017/182018/19
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The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the 
Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the 
balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
 
Capital Adjustment Account (Group and Police and Crime Commissioner) 

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the 
acquisition, construction or additions to those assets under statutory provisions.  The Account 
is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or additions or subsequent costs such as 
depreciation, impairment losses and amortisation which are charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve 
to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  The Account is credited with the 
amounts set aside by the Group as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and 
subsequent costs.  

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 11,540 10,399

Upward revaluation of assets 2,552 1,375

- -

(1,579) (134)

20 (100)

Balance at 31 March 12,533 11,540

Downward revaluation of assets not charged to the 

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

Difference between fair value depreciation and 

historical cost depreciation

Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped
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The Account contains accumulated gains and losses on Investment Properties. 
 
The Account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was 
created to hold such gains. 
 
Note 11 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the Account, apart from those involving the Revaluation Reserve. 
 
 

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 21,457 20,425

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:

Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets (2,052) (4,150)

Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment (813) 158

Amortisation of intangible assets (1,182) (1,031)

Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (1,179) (634)

Revaluation gains (losses) written down in the year (20) 100

Capital financing applied in the year:

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 1,215 18

Use of the  Reserves to finance new capital expenditure 803 2,993

Use of Capital Carry Forward Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 1,600 1,049

Capital grants credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement that have been applied to capital financing 845 874

Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged against the General Fund 744 774

Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund 508 881

Balance at 31 March 21,926 21,457
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Pension Reserve (Group and Police and Crime Commissioner) 

The Pension Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 
provisions.  The Group accounts for post employment benefits:  

 in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by 
employees accruing years of service; 
 

 by updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation; and 
 

 by changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the 
costs.   

However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Group makes 
employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pension for which it is directly 
responsible.  The debit balance on the Pension Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall 
in the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the Group has set aside 
to meet them.  The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by 
the time the benefits come to be paid.  The movements on the pensions liability have been 
disclosed in Note 35. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April (1,491,951) (1,482,376)

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit l iability (60,081) 25,439

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the

Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement (140,926) (74,501)

Employer's pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners

payable in the year 40,227 39,487
(1,652,731) (1,491,951)

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April (642) (639)

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit l iability (260) 99

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the

Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive  Income and 

Expenditure Statement (245) (244)

Employer's pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners

payable in the year 141 142
(1,006) (642)

Group

PCC
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Accumulated Absences Account (Group) 

The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the 
General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the 
year.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is 
neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 

 

 

25. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Cash Flow Statement – Operating Activities 

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 

 
 

26. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Joint Operations 

Eastern Region Special Operations Unit 
 
The Eastern Region Special Operations Unit (ERSOU) is a joint arrangement between 7 forces - 
Hertfordshire, Cambridgeshire, Essex, Suffolk, Norfolk, Kent and Bedfordshire, to provide one 
serious and organised crime unit for the eastern region.  ERSOU is run by a management board 
where all forces are equally represented and decisions are made with the unanimous consent of 
all forces.  Therefore each forces’ share of assets, liabilities, income and expenditure are 
consolidated into their own  financial statements.   
 
During 2017/18 Bedfordshire police took over from Hertfordshire the lead force responsibility. 
However, the transactions for the unit are recorded through the Hertfordshire ledger. Legal title 
to all vehicles, equipment and premises owned and used by the unit transferred from 
Hertfordshire to Bedfordshire and the assets are recorded in its capital accounts and asset 
register.   
 

PCC Group PCC Group

£000 £000 £000 £000

Depreciation and amortisation 2,078 2,078 3,992 3,992

Amortisation 1,182 1,182 1,031 1,031

Impairment and downward valuations 1,045 1,045 (126) (126)

Increase/decrease in creditors 433 433 (653) (323)

Increase in debtors (2,379) (2,379) (5,209) (5,209)

Increase in inventories (44) (44) (80) (80)

Movement in Pension Liability 104 100,699 102 35,014

Carrying amount of non-current assets and non current assets

held for sale, sold or derecognised 2,759 2,759 762 762

Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus or deficit

on the provision of services (2,048) (1,995) (359) (524)

3,130 103,778 (540) 34,537

2017/182018/19
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All revenue costs and capital expenditure are shared between the seven forces in accordance 
with the percentages defined in the Section 22 agreement. All capital expenditure is fully funded 
in the year of expenditure and there is therefore no capital financing charge to the six 
participating forces.  
 
ERSOU is a jointly controlled operation with no separate entity and is therefore not able to hold 
reserves in respect of any cumulative surplus or deficit at year end. Each participating Local 
Policing Body shows its share of the carried forward surplus in its accounts. The ERSOU operating 
account is shown in the following table. The expenditure figures do not include depreciation 
charges. 
 
The Home Office grants were paid to Bedfordshire as agent for the participating forces.  
 
The income and expenditure for the ERSOU joint operation is shown below: 
 

 
 
Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire and Hertfordshire (BCH) Collaborative Units 
 
Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner and Cambridgeshire Constabulary participates 
in collaborative arrangements with Bedfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner/ Bedfordshire 
Police and Hertfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner/Hertfordshire Constabulary.  The 
collaborated units are jointly staffed and funded by the three forces and are overseen by 
governance boards where all forces are equally represented and decisions are made with the 
unanimous consent of all forces.  Therefore each forces’ share of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenditure are consolidated into their own financial statements. 
 
Expenditure of £27,283m (2017/18 £27,322m) has been consolidated into the Chief Constable’s 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the Group’s Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.

Beds Cambs Essex Herts Kent Norfolk Suffolk Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Home Office Grant (517) (682) (1,022) (951) (486) (749) (576) (4,983)

Running Costs 2,314 2,998 2,450 4,218 2,215 3,379 2,572 20,146

Depreciation 50 46 28 85 7 64 54 334

Surplus / Deficit 1,847 2,362 1,456 3,352 1,736 2,694 2,050 15,497

Beds Cambs Essex Herts Kent Norfolk Suffolk Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Home Office Grant (547) (696) (1,213) (986) (740) (801) (607) (5,590)

Running Costs 2,195 2,792 2,459 3,956 2,258 3,215 2,435 19,310

Depreciation 46 49 31 89 7 69 59 350

Surplus / Deficit 1,694 2,145 1,277 3,059 1,525 2,483 1,887 14,070

2018/19

2017/18
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The net operating costs for the BCH joint operations is shown below: 

 

 

 
 

Beds Cambs Herts Total Beds Cambs Herts Total

2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2017/18 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Joint Protective Services

2,802 2,437 2,806 8,045 Armed Policing Unit                                                                   2,691 2,345 2,700 7,736

(319) (402) (530) (1,251) Camera, Tickets, Collisions (338) (427) (563) (1,328)

189 177 124 490 Counter Terrorism & Domestic Extremism - - - -                

646 796 1,074 2,516 Dogs 696 860 1,161 2,717

2,344 2,808 3,462 8,614 Major Crime Unit 2,442 2,933 3,616 8,991

247 314 445 1,006 Operational Planning & Public Order 284 363 514 1,161

320 407 576 1,303 Protective Services Command Team 211 269 381 861

87 110 156 353 Resilience 93 119 169 381

2,932 4,207 5,637 12,776 Roads Policing Unit 2,724 3,919 5,249 11,892

1,999 2,423 3,292 7,714 Scientif ic Services Unit 2,054 2,496 3,390 7,940

11,247 13,277 17,042 41,566 Total Joint Protective Services 10,857 12,877 16,617 40,351

Operational Support

224 285 404 913 Criminal Justice & Custody Management Team 271 346 489 1,106

537 683 967 2,187 Criminal Justice Phase 599 765 1,083 2,447

95 184 150 429 Firearms & Explosives Licensing 101 195 159 455

35 44 62 141 Local Criminal Justice Board 40 51 72 163

302 384 545 1,231 Public Contact Senior Leader Team 242 309 437 988

1,193 1,580 2,128 4,901 Total Operational Support Expenditure 1,253 1,666 2,240 5,159

Organisational Support

601 764 1,083 2,448 Collaboration Team 514 657 930 2,101

3,434 4,631 6,915 14,980 HR / L&D 3,891 5,093 7,408 16,392

3,545 4,996 6,398 14,939 ICT 3,740 4,774 6,761 15,275

545 803 1,089 2,437 Information Management Department 642 820 1,161 2,623

1,021 1,048 1,529 3,598 Professional Standards Unit 1,070 1,102 1,607 3,779

183 233 330 746 Procurement 231 294 417 942

9,329 12,475 17,344 39,148 Total Organisational Support Expenditure 10,088 12,740 18,284 41,112

21,769 27,332 36,514 85,615 Total Net Operating Costs 22,198 27,283 37,141 86,622
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27. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Officers’ Remuneration 

The remuneration paid to the Police and Crime Commissioner, Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Officers is as follows:  
 

 
 
 
 
  

Salaries, fees & 

allowances Bonuses

Expenses 

allowance Benefits in Kind

Total 

Remuneration 

excluding 

pension 

contributions

Employer's 

pension 

contributions

Total 

Remuneration 

including 

pension 

contributions

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Police and Crime Commissioner Accounts

Police & Crime Commissioner 
Jason Ablewhite 2018/19 71,283 - - - 71,283 16,324 87,607

2017/18 69,999 - - - 69,999 16,030 86,029

Deputy Police & Crime Commissioner

Ray Bisby (0.5FTE) 2018/19 28,000 28,000 6,412 34,412

Mr Ray Bisby (0.5FTE) from 03/01/2018 2017/18 6,925 - - - 6,925 1,586 8,511

Mr A Coles (0.5 FTE) to 15/05/17 2017/18 3,735 - - - 3,735 792 4,527

Chief Executive (0.9 FTE)

2018/19 96,603 - - - 96,603 22,122 118,725

2017/18 93,098 - - - 93,098 21,319 114,417

Chief Finance Officer (OPCC)**

** The post of Chief Finance Officer (OPCC) from 01/02/2017 was fulfilled on an interim basis by the Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service Deputy Chief Executive. 

      The salary paid in 2018/19 was £15,227 (2017/18 £14,447)
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Salaries, fees & 

allowances Bonuses

Expenses 

allowance Benefits in Kind

Total 

Remuneration 

excluding 

pension 

contributions

Employer's 

pension 

contributions

Total 

Remuneration 

including 

pension 

contributions

Chief Constable's Accounts £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Chief Constable

Nick Dean from 29/09/2018 2018/19 73,912 - - 4,466 78,378 15,365 93,743

Alec Wood to 28/09/2018 2018/19 84,021 - - 4,911 88,932 - 88,932

Alec Wood 2017/18 159,149 - - 7,425 166,574 - 166,574

Deputy Chief Constable

-Alan Baldwin 2018/19 125,880 - - 5,163 131,043 24,863 155,906

-Alan Baldwin 2017/18 122,646 - - 8,069 130,715 24,475 155,190

Assistant Chief Constables

 Nav Malik & Dan Vajozvic                                                                               2018/19 241,960 - - 6,148 248,108 49,657 297,765

2017/18 223,940 - - 9,569 233,509 23,598 257,107

Chief Finance Officer (Constabulary)

Niki Howard 2018/19 104,806 - - - 104,806 24,001 128,807

2017/18 101,000 - - - 101,000 23,129 124,129

Assistant Chief Constable - BCH Joint Protective Services

Paul Fullwood 2018/19 108,759 - - 6,058 114,817 22,594 137,411

from 02/10/2017 2017/18 69,072 - - 2,009 71,081 11,930 83,011
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The number of employees and senior police officers (being officers holding a rank above that 
of Superintendent) whose remuneration, excluding employer’s pension contributions, was 
£50,000 or more, in bands of £5,000, was as follows: 
 

 

 

The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band and the total cost of redundancies 
agreed are set out below: 

 

 

Chief

2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

£50,000 to £54,999 6 3 1 1 5 2

£55,000 to £59,999 3 4  -  - 3 4

£60,000 to £64,999 2 1  -  - 2 1

£65,000 to £69,999  - 1  - 1  -  -

£70,000 to £74,999 2  - 1  - 1  -

£75,000 to £79,999 3 3  -  - 3 3

£80,000 to £84,999 2 2  - 1 2 1

£85,000 to £89,999 3 2  -  - 3 2

£90,000 to £94,999 1 2  - 1 1 1

£95,000 to £99,999 2  - 1  - 1  -

£100,000 to £104,999 1 1  -  - 1 1

£105,000 to £109,999 1 2  -  - 1 2

£110,000 to £114,999 1 1  -  - 1 1

£115,000 to £119,999 1  -  -  - 1  -

£120,000 to £124,999  - 1  -  -  - 1

£125,000 to £129,999  - 1  -  -  - 1

£130,000 to £134,999 2 1  -  - 2 1

£135,000 to £139,999  -  -  -  -  -  -

£140,000 to £144,999  -  -  -  -  -  -

£145,000 to £149,999  -  -  -  -  -  -

£150,000 to £154,999  -  -  -  -  -  -

£155,000 to £159,999  -  -  -  -  -  -

£160,000 to £164,999  -  -  -  -  -  -

£165,000 to £169,999  - 1  -  -  - 1

30 26 3 4 27 22

Group PCC

Exit package cost band 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

No. No. £'000 £'000

£0 - £20,000 6 1 48 4

£20,001 - £40,000 1 2 35 64

£40,001- £60,000  - 1  - 58

£60,001 - £80,000  -  -  - 96

£80,001 - £100,000  - 1  -  -

7 5 83 222

Number of redundancies

Total cost of exit packages 

in each band

Group
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28. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Audit Costs 

The Group has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of 
Accounts. 

 
  

29. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Grant Income 

The Group credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement in 2018/2019. 
 

Credited to Services 

 
 
 
 
 
Credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 
 

 
 

 

 

 

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000
Fees payable with regard to external audit

services carried out by the appointed auditor:

Police and Crime Commissioner 23 49

Chief Constable 12 15

35 64

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Other Government Grants 97 238

Victims Commissioning 1,246 1,153

Offender Hub - 373

Police and Fire Transformation Grant - -

Violence Against Women 274 -

1,617 1,764

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Police Grant 47,660 47,828

Precepts 55,972 51,824

Non-Domestic Rates Redistribution 24,059 24,059

Localising Council Tax Support 4,822 4,822

Council Tax Freeze 1,702 1,702

Capital Grants 845 874

Other Grant Income - 140

135,060 131,249
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30. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Related Parties 

The Group is required to disclose material transactions with related parties (bodies or 
individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Group or to be controlled or 
influenced by it).  Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which 
the Group might be constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured 
the ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the Group. 
 
Chief Constable (Police and Crime Commissioner) 
The Police and Crime Commissioner has direct control over the groups finances, including 
responsibility for funding of all pensions’ liabilities, and is responsible for setting the Police 
and Crime Plan. The Chief Constable operates within the budget set by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner, to deliver the aims and objectives set out in the Police and Crime Plan. Section 
28 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 requires that the local authorities 
covered by the police area must establish a Police and Crime Panel (PCP) for that area. The 
PCP scrutinises the decisions of the PCC, reviews the Police and Crime Plan and has a right of 
veto over the precept. 
 
Central Government 
Central government has significant influence over the general operations of the Group – it is 
responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the Group operates, provides 
the majority of its funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the 
transactions that the Group has with other parties.  Grants received from government 
departments are set out in Note 29.  Grant receipts outstanding at 31 March 2019 are shown 
in Note 21. 
 

Officers 
During the year, the Chief Constable, the Assistant Chief Constable and the Chief Finance 
Officer (Constabulary) were trustees of the Shrievalty Trust. 
 

Cambridgeshire Police Shrievalty Trust 
 

The Cambridgeshire Police Shrievalty Trust is a charitable organisation supported by the 
Group whose objective is to support efforts to “Create a Safer Cambridgeshire”.  Details of 
Officers who were trustees throughout the period are set out below: 
 

Officers:  
 N Dean (from 29/9/18)  
 A Wood, Chief Constable (to 28/9/18) 
 D Vajzovic, Assistant Chief Constable 
 N Howard, Chief Finance Officer (Constabulary)  
 

In the year to 31 March 2019, the Group had dealings with the Trust being a Victims Support 
grant contribution of £50,000 (2017/18 £50,000). 
 

Other Public Bodies (subject to common control by central government) 
 

The Group has a pooled budget arrangement (joint operation) with the 6  other eastern police 
forces for the provision of tackling organised crime and further pooled budget arrangements 
(joint operation) with Bedfordshire Police and Hertfordshire Constabulary for the provision of 
a range of policing services.  Transactions and balances outstanding are detailed in Note 26. 
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The Group participates in four pension schemes the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
for Police Staff, the Police Pension Scheme (PPS) for Police Officers in service before 31 March 
2006 who are subject to transitional protection, the New Police Pensions Scheme (NPPS) for 
officers starting service on or after 1 April 2006 who are subject to transitional protection, the 
Police Pensions Scheme 2015 (PPS 2015) for officers starting service on or after 1 April 2016 
and officers formerly members of PPS/NPPS who are not subject to transitional protection.  
The LGPS scheme is administered by Cambridgeshire County Council and the PPS, NPPS and 
PPS 2015 are administered by XPS Pension Group; see Note 33 for details of transactions and 
balances outstanding. 
 

During the year the Group made payments totalling £1,469k to the six local authorities for 
National Non-Domestic Rates Bills (2017/18 £1,472k). 
 

31. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Third Party Funds 

Third Party Funds are monies administered, but not owned by the Group.  The Code of Practice 
requires that these funds are treated separately from the Group's accounts and are excluded 
from the main Income and Expenditure Account and Balance Sheet. 

Police Property Act 

Under section 43 of the Powers of Criminal Courts Act 1973, the Group is empowered to seize 
monies or property used, or intended for use, for the purpose of crime.  These seized monies 
are held by the Group, pending a decision by the Courts. 

Misuse of Drugs Act 

Section 27 of the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 empowers Police Groups to retain monies seized 
during investigations.  The Courts may release property or monies to the Group so that it is 
used to tackle drug related crime and drug abuse. 

The amount held under the two Acts, as at 31 March 2019, was £391,499 (31 March 2018: 
£598,480). 
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32. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table overleaf 
(including the value of assets acquired under finance leases), together with the resources that 
have been used to finance it.  Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by 
charges to revenue as assets are used by the Group, the expenditure results in an increase in 
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred 
historically by the Group that has yet to be financed. The CFR is analysed in the second part of 
this note. 
 

 

33. Group’s Retirement Benefits 

Participation in Pension Schemes 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its Police Officers and Police Staff, the 
Group offers retirement benefits which are normally payable on retirement.  The Group, 
however, is required to disclose its commitment to pay future retirement benefits as those 
benefits are earned by officers or employees. 
 

The Group participates in four pension schemes: 
 

i) the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for Police Staff, administered by 
Cambridgeshire County Council.  This is a defined benefit, funded scheme, meaning that 

2018/19 2017/18

Restated*

£000 £000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 21,947 22,822

Capital Investment

Property, Plant and Equipment 4,030 5,122

Intangible Assets 935 591

Source of Finance

Capital Receipts (1,215) (18)

Government Grants (845) (874)

Borrowing (170)  -

Sums set aside from revenue

Direct revenue contributions (508) (881)

Transfer from Capital Reserve (277) (1,320)

Transfer from Capital Carry Forward Reserve (1,600) (179)

Transfer from ICT Reserve (432)

Transfer from Budget Assistance Reserve  - (2,042)

Transfer from Estates Development Reserve (94) (500)

Minimum Revenue Provision (744) (774)

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 21,027 21,947

Explanation of movement in year

Increase in underlying need to borrowing 

(unsupported by government financial assistance) (645) (871)

Increase or (Decrease) in Creditors (274) (4)

(919) (875)

*Restated following reallocation from Property Plant and Equipment to Intangible Assets
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the Group and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended 
to balance the pensions liabilities with investment assets. The Police and Crime 
Commissioner and Chief Constable are separate employers in the scheme, which is 
reflected in the figures included in the financial statements; and 

 

ii) the Police Pension Scheme (PPS) for police officers in service before 31 March 2006 who 
are subject to transitional protection, the New Police Pensions Scheme (NPPS) for 
officers starting service on or after 1 April 2006 who are subject to transitional 
protection, the Police Pensions Scheme 2015 (PPS 2015) for officers starting service on 
or after 1 April 2016 and officers formerly members of PPS/NPPS who are not subject 
to transitional protection. All three schemes are defined benefit, unfunded schemes, 
administered by XPS Pension Group, meaning that there are no investment assets built 
up to meet the pension liabilities and that cash has to be generated to meet actual 
pensions payments as they eventually fall due.  Injury Awards paid under the Police 
Pension Schemes are disclosed separately.  These payments are unfunded and are paid 
directly by the Group.  Injury awards are subject to the same treatment as the Police 
Pension Schemes, with the movement on the liability being attributable to any change 
in interest costs and actuarial gains/losses.  New injury awards are shown as past service 
costs in the year which they are made. 

 

Transactions relating to post employment benefits 

The costs of retirement benefits are recognised in the Net Cost of Services when they are 
earned by staff rather than when the benefits are actually paid as pensions.  However, the 
charge required to be made against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so 
the real cost of retirement benefits is reversed out of the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement via the Movement in Reserves Statement.  The following transactions 
have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the General 
Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during the year: 
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Police 

Pensions

LGPS- Chief 

Constable

LGPS- Police 

Commissioner Total

Police 

Pensions

LGPS- Chief 

Constable

LGPS- Police 

Commissioner Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account

Cost of Services:

Current service cost 25,945 10,114 214 36,273 24,253 9,841 225 34,319

Past service costs 65,750 782 12 66,544 864 122 - 986

91,695 10,896 226 102,817 25,117 9,963 225 35,305

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure:

Net interest expense 36,200 1,890 19 38,109 37,401 1,776 19 39,196

36,200 1,890 19 38,109 37,401 1,776 19 39,196

127,895 12,786 245 140,926 62,518 11,739 244 74,501

Return on plan assets - (6,156) (122) (6,278) - 601 14 615

Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in 

financial assumptions 44,620 23,797 382 68,799 (17,555) (5,286) (113) (22,954)

Other (2,420) (20) - (2,440) (3,136) 36 - (3,100)

42,200 17,621 260 60,081 (20,691) (4,649) (99) (25,439)

170,095 30,407 505 201,007 41,827 7,090 145 49,062

Movement in Reserves Statement
Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or 

Deficit for the Provision of Services for post 

employment benefits in accordance with the Code (127,895) (12,786) (245) (140,926) (62,518) (11,739) (244) (74,501)

Employer's contributions payable to the schemes 34,108 5,978 141 40,227 33,632 5,713 142 39,487

2018/19 2017/18

Actual amount charged against the General Fund 

Balance for Pensions in the year:

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to the Surplus 

or Deficit on the Provision of Services 

Other Post Employment Benefit Charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account
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Assets and Liabilities in Relation to Post Employment Benefits 

Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities: 

 

 

 

Unfunded 

Liabilities 

Police 

Pensions

LGPS- Chief 

Constable

LGPS- Police 

Commissioner

Total 

Liabilities

Unfunded 

Liabilities 

Police 

Pensions

LGPS- Chief 

Constable

LGPS- Police 

Commissioner

Total 

Liabilities

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 1,423,695 224,507 3,701 1,651,903 1,415,500 215,989 3,441 1,634,930

Current service cost 25,945 10,114 214 36,273 24,253 9,841 225 34,319

Past service costs 65,750 782 12 66,544 864 122 - 986

Interest cost 36,200 6,176 104 42,480 37,401 5,716 97 43,214

Contributions by scheme participants 6,540 1,645 49 8,234 6,476 1,556 52 8,084

Benefits paid (40,648) (3,699) (1) (44,348) (40,108) (3,467) (1) (43,576)

Remeasurement gain/loss:

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in 

financial assumptions 44,620 23,797 382 68,799 (17,555) (5,286) (113) (22,954)

Other (2,420) (20) - (2,440) (3,136) 36 - (3,100)

Balance at 31 March 1,559,682 263,302 4,461 1,827,445 1,423,695 224,507 3,701 1,651,903

2017/182018/19
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Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme assets: 

 

 

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Group’s obligation in respect of its defined benefit plan is as follows: 

 

Police 

Pensions

 LGPS- Chief 

Constable

LGPS- Police 

Commissioner

Total 

Assets

Police 

Pensions

 LGPS- Chief 

Constable

LGPS- Police 

Commissioner Total Assets

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April - 156,893 3,059 159,952 - 149,752 2,802 152,554

Interest Income - 4,286 85 4,371 - 3,940 78 4,018

Remeasurement gain/loss:

The return on plan assets, excluding the amount 

included in the net interest expense - 6,156 122 6,278 - (601) (14) (615)

Contributions from employer 34,108 5,978 141 40,227 33,632 5,713 142 39,487

Contributions from employees into the scheme 6,540 1,645 49 8,234 6,476 1,556 52 8,084

Benefits paid (40,648) (3,699) (1) (44,348) (40,108) (3,467) (1) (43,576)

Closing fair value of scheme assets - 171,259 3,455 174,714 - 156,893 3,059 159,952

2018/19 2017/18

2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 1,559,682 1,423,695 267,763 228,208 1,827,445 1,651,903

Fair Value of Plan Assets - - (174,714) (159,952) (174,714) (159,952)

Net Liability arising from defined benefit obligation 1,559,682 1,423,695 93,049 68,256 1,652,731 1,491,951

£000 £000

 LGPS Total

£000

Police Pensions
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The PPS has no assets to cover its liabilities.  The LGPS’s assets consist of the following 
categories, by proportion of the total assets held: 

 

 
The liabilities are the underlying commitments that the Group has to pay retirement benefits 
in the long-term.  The total liability of £1,652,719k has a significant impact on the net worth 
of the Group as presented in the Balance Sheet, giving rise to negative equity of £1,597,437k.  
However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of 
the Group remains stable: 
 

i) the deficit on the LGPS will be made good by increased contributions over the 
remaining working lives of employees, as assessed by the scheme actuary; and 

 
ii) finance is only required to be raised to cover police pensions as and when they 

are actually paid. 
 

Basis of Estimating Assets and Liabilities 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an 
estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependant on assumptions made 
about mortality rates and salary levels.  The PPS, the NPPS and the PPS 2015 have been 
assessed by the Government Actuary’s Department.  The LGPS liabilities have been assessed 
by Hymans Robertson, an independent firm of actuaries, based on the latest full valuation of 
the scheme as at 31 March 2016. 

 
  

LGPS- Police 

Commissioner

LGPS- Chief 

Constable 31-Mar-19

LGPS- Police 

Commissioner

LGPS- Chief 

Constable 31-Mar-18

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash and Cash Equivalents 43 2,121 2,164 99 5,051 5,150

Private Equity 262 12,967 13,229 284 14,553 14,837

Debt Securities

UK government 86 4,249 4,334 77 3,955 4,032

Equity Instruments:

By industry type

Consumer 104 5,174 5,279 885 4,357 5,242

Manufacturing 62 3,082 3,145 55 2,817 2,872

Energy and Utilities 73 3,596 3,669 66 3,377 3,443

Financial Institutions 130 6,438 6,568 132 6,761 6,893

Health and Care 21 1,036 1,057 33 1,664 1,697

Information Technology 18 911 930 14 741 755

Investment Funds and Unit Trusts

Equities 1,935 95,938 97,873 1694 86,888 88,582

Bonds 321 15,915 16,236 307 15,768 16,075

Infrastructure 144 7,128 7,272 - - -

Other 256 12,704 12,961 214 10,961 11,175

3,455 171,259 174,714 3,860 156,893 160,753



Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner 
Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

73 

The principal assumptions used by the actuary have been: 
 

 
 
The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set 
out in the table above. The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on 
reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period 
and assumes for each change that the assumption analysed changed while all the assumptions 
remain constant. The assumptions in longevity, for example, assume that life expectancy 
increases or decreases for men and women. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes 
in some assumptions may be interrelated. The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have 
followed the accounting policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected 
unit credit method. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity 
analysis below did not change from those used in the previous period. 
 

 
 

Impact on Cash Flows 
 
The total contributions expected to be made to the Local Government Pension Scheme by the 
Group in the year to 31 March 2019 is £5,960k (2017/18 £5,599k).  Expected contributions for 
the Police Pension Scheme in the year to 31 March 2019 are £15,040k (2017/18 £11,457k). 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

Mortality assumptions:

Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:

Men 22.4 22.4 22.7 22.6

Women 24.4 24.4 24.3 24.2

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:

Men 24 24 24.6 24.5

Women 26.3 26.3 26.2 26.1

Rate of increase in salaries 2.7 2.6 4.4 4.3

Rate of increase in pensions 2.4 2.3 2.4 2.3

Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.5 2.7 2.45 2.6

Local Government 

Pension Scheme Police Pension Schemes

Change in assumptions at 31 March 2019

Increase in 

Liability (%)

Approximate 

monetary 

amount 

£'000

Increase in 

Liability (%)

Approximate 

monetary 

amount 

£'000

Increase in 

Liability (%)

Approximat

e monetary 

amount 

£000

0.5% decrease in Real Discount Rate 16% 719 13% 33,455 -10.5% (155,000)

0.5% increase in the Salary Increase Rate 2% 81 2% 5,089 1.5% 21,000

0.5% Increase in the Pension Increase Rate 14% 629 11% 27,794 8.5% 124,000

Life Expectancy (Pensioners assumed to be one year younger) 2.5% 38,000

Chief Constable Scheme Police Pension SchemePolice Commissioner Scheme 
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McCloud / Sargeant judgement  
The Chief Constable of Cambridgeshire along with other Chief Constables and the Home 
Office, currently has claims lodged against them with the Central London Employment 
Tribunal. The claims are in respect of alleged unlawful discrimination arising from the 
Transitional Provisions in the Police Pension Regulations 2015.  
  
Claims of unlawful discrimination have also been made in relation to the changes to the 
Judiciary and Firefighters Pension regulations and in December 2018 the Court of Appeal 
(McCloud / Sargeant) ruled that the ‘transitional protection’ offered to some members as part 
of the reform to public sector pensions amounts to unlawful discrimination. On 27 June the 
Supreme Court refused leave to appeal on the McCloud case.  In light of this it is envisaged 
that the Court will require changes to arrangements for employees who were transferred to 
the new schemes potentially including Police Pension Scheme members. This would to lead to 
an increase in Police Pension Scheme liabilities and our actuaries (The Government Actuary 
Department ) using specific assumptions and applying these across the Police scheme as a 
whole have estimated the potential increase in scheme liabilities for Cambridgeshire Chief 
Constable to be approximately 4.4% or £65.8m of pension scheme liabilities. This increase is 
reflected in the IAS19 Disclosure as a Past Service Cost. The actuaries have highlighted that 
this estimate is based on one potential remedy, the potential impact of any difference in the 
profile of the force’s membership compared with the scheme as a whole and that the figures 
are highly sensitive to assumptions around short term earnings growth. 
 
The impact of an increase in scheme liabilities arising from McCloud / Sargeant judgment will 
be measured through the pension valuation process, which determines employer and 
employee contribution rates. The next Police Pension valuation is due to take place in 2020 
with implementation of the results planned for 2023/24 and forces will need to plan for the 
impact of this on employer contribution rates alongside other changes identified through the 
valuation process.  
  
The impact of an increase in annual pension payments arising from McCloud / Sargeant is 
determined through The Police Pension Fund Regulations 2007. These require a police 
authority to maintain a police pension fund into which officer and employer contributions are 
paid and out of which pension payments to retired officers are made. If the police pension 
fund does not have enough funds to meet the cost of pensions in year the amount required 
to meet the deficit is then paid by the Secretary of State to the police authority in the form of 
a central government top-up grant. 
  
With regard to the LGPS a similar adjustment to past service costs & return on asset 
remeasurements within the IAS19 Disclosure has been made for the McCloud judgment 
(adjustment depending on materiality). This corresponds to a £4.5m increase in liabilities. The 
impact of an increase in scheme liabilities arising from McCloud / Sargeant judgment will be 
measured through the pension valuation process, which determines employer and employee 
contribution rates.’ 
 
The Chief Secretary of Treasury (Elizabeth Truss made a statement on 15th July 2019 stating 

As ‘transitional protection’ was offered to members of all the main public service 
pension schemes, the government believes that the difference in treatment will need 
to be remedied across all those schemes. This includes schemes for the NHS, civil 
service, local government, teachers, police, armed forces, judiciary and fire and rescue 
workers. Continuing to resist the full implications of the judgment in Court would only 
add to the uncertainty experienced by members. 
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34. Group and Police and Crime Commissioner’s Nature and Extent of Risks arising from 
Financial Instruments 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
 

 Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the 
Group; 
 

 Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Group might not have funds available to meet 
its commitments to make payments; and 

 

 Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of changes in 
such measures as interest rates and stock market movements. 

 
The Group’s risk strategy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on resources available to fund services. 
 
Risk management is carried out by a central treasury team under policies approved by the 
Group in the annual treasury management strategy.  Specific areas such as interest rate risk, 
credit risk and the investment of surplus cash are covered within this. 
 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions as well as credit exposures 
to the Group’s customers. Deposits are only made for a period of up to 364 days with either: 
the Debt Management Office (DMO), an Executive Agency of HM Treasury; with institutions 
or Money Market Funds (MMFs) having a high rating from each of the three main credit 
agencies (i.e. Fitch Ratings, Moody’s Corporation and Standard & Poor’s), or with UK banks 
falling outside these rating criteria where the UK Government holds a significant stake.  
Investment limits are the lower of £10 million or 25% of available funds, with the exception of 
the DMO and MMFs where deposits may be made to a limit of 100% of available funds.  
 
With respect to amounts owed by the Group’s customers and contractual debtors, the Group 
makes prudent provision for bad debts based on an assessment of the risks for each type of 
debt and the age and size of the balance outstanding.  The majority of the Group’s dealings 
are with public sector partners and the risks of default and uncollectibility are considered to 
be lower than those associated with commercial debtors. 
 
The following analysis summarises the Group’s assessment of its potential maximum exposure 
to credit risk in relation to debtors: 
 

 
 

The Group has never experienced a loss from non-performance by any of its counterparties in 
relation to deposits and does not expect any such loss to arise. 
 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

£000 £000

Commercial Debtors 16  -
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The Group does not generally extend credit to its public sector partners or customers beyond 
30 days such that £nil of the £367k balance is past its due date for payment.  The balance is 
shown by debtor category as follows:  

 
 
Liquidity Risk 
As the Group has ready access to borrowings from the Public Works Loan Board, there is no 
significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial 
instruments. 
 
Market Risk 
Interest rate risk 
The Group is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements on its 
borrowings and investments.  The extent of that risk is limited by the scale of borrowing and 
investment activities undertaken.  In 2018/19 the Group’s investments were all short-term 
investments comprising of overnight deposits, fixed term deposits and notice accounts, which 
therefore fall to be treated as investments at variable rates, and its borrowings were fixed rate 
Public Works Loan Board loans. By way of example, a rise in interest rates would have the 
following effects: 
 

 borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities borrowings will fall; and 
 

 investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure statement will rise. 

 
Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings 
would not impact on the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services or Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  However, changes in interest receivable on variable 
rate investments will be credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services and 
affect the General Fund Balance £ for £. 
 
The Group has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk.  During periods of falling 
interest rates, and where economic circumstances make it favourable, fixed rate loans will be 
repaid early to limit exposure to losses.  The risk of loss is mitigated by the fact that a 
proportion of government grant payable on financing costs will normally move with prevailing 
interest rates or the Group’s cost of borrowing and provide compensation for a proportion of 
any higher costs. 
 
The scale of the Group’s investment activities is such that the consequences of any adverse 
changes in interest rates on service delivery are unlikely to be significant in terms of a shortfall 
in resources, particularly as budgets are regularly reviewed and updated during the year.  
However, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher, with all other variables held 
constant, the financial effect for the 2018/19 year of account would be: 

Public 

Sector 

Debtors

Commercial 

Debtors Total

Public 

Sector 

Debtors

Commercial 

Debtors Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Less than three months 351 16 367 291 182 473

31 March 201831 March 2019



Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner 
Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

77 

 
 
 

35. Transport Consortium 

The PCC for Cambridgeshire belongs to the Chiltern Transport Consortium operated by 
Thames Valley Police. Cambridgeshire’s contribution for 2018/19 was £2.6m (£2.6m in 
2017/18). Costs are allocated to the forces in proportion to the size of their fleet. The total 
costs of the consortium are shown below: 
 
 

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Increase in interest receivable on variable rate investments 135 81

Increase in Government grant receivable for financing costs  -  -

Impact on Income and Expenditure Account 135 81

2018/19 2016/17

£000 £000

Employee Costs 2,602 2,583

Premises 412 406

Running Costs 3,849 3,620

Insurance 3,599 3,436

Vehicles 7,764 7,520

Income (1,488) (1,442)

16,738         16,123
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Pension Account 

The Group is required to maintain a Pensions Account in order to discharge its responsibility 
for paying the pensions of retired officers and their survivors and to account to the Home 
Office as sponsoring department for police pensions funding.  The Pensions Account has the 
legal status of a fund for the purposes of the Local Government Finance Act and all accounting 
entries are recorded, administrated and governed by The Police Pension Fund Regulations 
2007.  
 
Credits to the Pension Account include contributions from both the Chief Constable and 
serving police officers who are members of either the Police Pension Scheme (PPS), the New 
Police Pension Scheme (NPPS) or the Police Pension Scheme 2015 (PPS 2015). The Chief 
Constable’s contributions in 2018/19 were at a rate of 21.3% of pensionable salary (previously 
24.2%), plus an additional 2.9% contribution to the Police Pension Fund Account to fund the 
difference between the current and previous contribution rates.  These rates are set by the 
Home Office and are subject to triennial revaluation by the Government’s Actuary 
Department. 
 
Charges to the Pension Account include pensions to retired police officers and their survivors 
and commutations and lump sum retirement benefits. 
 
The Pension Account is balanced to nil each year by the receipt of pension top-up grant from, 
or by paying over any surplus to, the sponsoring department.  The effect of this funding 
mechanism is that the employer’s contribution of 21.3% of serving police officers’ pensionable 
salary, plus the additional employer’s contribution of 2.9%, and together with injury pensions 
and a capital charge for ill-health retirements, falls to be charged to the Group’s 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
The Pension Account is designed to discharge liabilities to pay pensions as they fall due and 
no account is taken of pensions and other liabilities after the period end. 
 
A statement of account for the Pension Account, together with its net current assets and 
liabilities at 31 March 2019, is set out below.  All Fund transactions are treated in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policies as set out at Note 1, where applicable. 
 
Full details of the Group’s retirement benefits have been disclosed in Note 33. 
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Fund Account 
 

 

 

 

 

 

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Contributions receivable:

From employer:

Normal (11,532) (11,318)

Early retirements (540) (229)

From members (6,386) (6,314)

Transfers in (173) (177)

(18,631) (18,038)

Benefits payable:

Pensions 30,368 28,887

Commutations and lump sum retirement benefits 7,975 8,889

38,343 37,776

Payments to and on account of leavers:

Refunds of contributions 30 15

Individual transfers out to other schemes 13 82

43 97

Net amount payable / (receivable) for the year before top-up grant payable 19,755 19,835

by sponsoring department

Amount (receivable from) / payable to sponsoring department (19,755) (19,835)

Balance on Fund at 31 March - -

Net Assets Statement

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Net current assets and liabilities

Amounts owed (to)/from General Fund (5,316) (5,751)

Remaining top-up grant due to/(from) the Home Office 5,316 5,751

Net current assets / (l iabilities) at 31 March - -
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Glossary of Terms 

Accrual The recognition in the correct accounting period of income and 
expenditure as it is earned or incurred rather than as cash is received or 
paid. 

Accrued Retirement 
Benefits (Pensions) 

The retirement benefits for service up to a given point in time, whether 
vested rights or not. 

Actuarial Gains And 
Losses (Pensions) 

For a defined benefit scheme, the changes in deficits or surpluses that 
arise because events have not coincided with actuarial assumptions used 
in the last valuation (experience gains or losses) or because actuarial 
assumptions have changed. 

Agency Services The provision of services by an Authority (the agent) on behalf of another 
Authority, which is legally responsible for providing those services.  The 
responsible Authority reimburses the Authority providing the service. 

Appropriations Amounts transferred to or from revenue or capital reserves. 

Asset An item owned by the Group which has an economic value e.g. land & 
buildings, debts or cash. 

Budget A financial statement of the Group's plans for any given year. 

Capital Adjustment 
Account 

An account that reflects the difference between the cost of property, 
plant and equipment and the capital financing set aside to pay for them. 

Capital Expenditure Expenditure on new assets or on the enhancement of existing assets. 

Capital Grants Grants received towards capital spending on a particular service or 
project. 

Capital Receipts Proceeds from the sale of capital assets such as land or buildings. They 
are available to finance new capital outlay and to repay existing debt. 

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. This is the 
leading professional accountancy body for public services. 

Creditors  Amounts owed by the Group for work done, goods received or services 
rendered, but for which payment has not been made at the date of the 
balance sheet. 

Curtailment 
(Pensions) 

For a defined benefit scheme, an event that reduces the expected years 
of future service of current staff or reduces for a number of staff the 
accrual of defined benefits for some or all of their future service. 

Current Service 
Costs (Pensions) 

The increase in the present value of a defined benefit scheme's liabilities 
expected to arise from pensionable service earned in the current period. 
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Debtors  Sums of money due to the Group, but unpaid at the balance sheet date. 

Defined Benefit 
Scheme (Pensions) 

A scheme to provide retirement benefits, the value of which are 
independent of the contributions payable, and that are not directly 
related to the underlying investments. 

Depreciation The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the 
useful economic life of an item of property, plant and equipment. 

Earmarked Reserves Funds set aside from the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement that can only be used for specific purposes. 

Effective Rate of 
Interest 

The rate of interest that will discount the estimated cash flows over the 
life of a financial instrument to the amount in the balance sheet at initial 
measurement. 

Equity Instrument A contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 
after deducting all of its liabilities. 

Expected Rate of 
Return on Pension 
Assets 

For a funded, defined benefit scheme, the average rate of return, net of 
any charges, expected to be earned on assets held by the scheme over 
the remaining life of the related obligation to pay future retirement 
benefits. 

Fair Value The price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. 

Financial Asset A right to future economic benefits controlled by the Group. 

Financial 
Instrument 

Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another. 

Financial Liability An obligation to transfer economic benefits controlled by the Group. 

Financial Reporting 
Standards (FRSs) 

Standards developed by the Accounting Standards Board to regulate the 
preparation and presentation of statement of accounts (see Statements 
of Standard Accounting Practice). 

Government Grants Payments by Central Government towards Local Authority spending. 
They may be specific to a particular service e.g. Police Grant; or general 
(see Revenue Support Grant). 

Impairment The term used where the estimated recoverable amount from an asset 
is less than the amortised cost at which the asset is being carried on the 
balance sheet. 

Income  Amounts that the Group receives, or expects to receive, from any source. 
Income includes fees, charges, sales, specific grants and special grants. 
The term income implies that the figures concerned relate to amounts 
due in a financial year irrespective of whether or not they have been 
received in that period. 
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Injury Award An injury award compensates an individual for the potential loss of 
earnings for injury sustained whilst on duty that results in some level of 
disablement which hinders or prevents them from working in the future. 
An injury award is a life time award. 

Intangible Assets An asset that lacks physical substance and yields benefits to the Group 
and the services it provides for a period of more than one year.  

International 
Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) 

Standards developed by the International Accounting Standards Board 
to regulate the preparation and presentation of statement of accounts. 

Investments 
(Pensions) 

The Group's share of pension scheme assets associated with its liability 
to pay future retirement benefits. 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) 

The minimum amount the Group is required by statute to set aside on an 
annual basis for the repayment of debt. 

National Non-
Domestic Rates 
(NNDR) 

The business rate in the pound is set annually and centrally by 
Government.  The income arising is collected in a central pool for 
distribution to Local Authorities on the basis of a formula. 

Past Service Cost 
(Pensions) 

For a defined benefit scheme, the increase in the present value of the 
scheme liabilities related to staff service in prior periods arising in the 
current period as a result of the introduction of, or improvement to, 
retirement benefits payable. 

Precept  The cash sum levied by one Authority which is collected by another (a 
charging Authority). The Group is the precepting Authority and the 
District Councils are the charging Authorities.  

Projected Unit 
Credit Method 
(Pensions) 

An actuarial method of valuing a pension scheme's liability to pay future 
retirement benefits taking into account estimated increases in future 
earnings. 

Property, Plant and 
Equipment 

Assets that have a physical substance and are held for use in the 
provision of services or for administration purposes on a continuing 
basis. 

Provisions Liabilities that are of uncertain timing or amount to be settled by the 
transfer of economic benefits. 

Reserves Amounts set aside by the Group that do not fall within the definition of 
a provision. 

Retirement Benefits 
(Pensions) 

All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services 
rendered by staff that are payable after completion of the engagement. 

Revenue 
Contributions to 
Capital Outlay 

The financing of capital expenditure directly from Revenue rather than 
from loans or other sources. 
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Revenue 
Expenditure 

The day-to-day spending and income of the Group on such items as staff, 
goods, services and equipment. 

Revenue Fund 
Balances 

The accumulated surplus of income over expenditure held in reserve. 

Revenue Support 
Grant (RSG) 

The general grant paid by Central Government to aid Local Authority 
(including the Group) spending generally.  

Scheme Liabilities 
(Pensions) 

The liabilities to pay future retirement benefits, measured using the 
projected unit credit method, of a defined benefit scheme for outgoings 
falling due after the valuation date.  

Service Reporting 
Code of Practice 
(SeRCOP) 

A CIPFA Code that is designed to ensure a consistent and comparable 
approach to the calculation of the cost of services. 

Settlement 
(Pensions) 

An irrevocable action that relieves the employer of the primary 
responsibility for a pension obligation. 
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To:                     Business Coordination Board   

From:  Chief Finance Officer 

Date:  31 July 2019  

FINANCIAL PRESSURES IN MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020/21 TO 2023/24 

1. Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to highlight the known financial pressures for creating 
the 2020 - 2024 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).   

2. Recommendation 

2.1 The Board is recommended to note the cost pressures as the MTFS process 
commences.  

3. Background 

3.1 The Comprehensive Spending Review forecast to be published in late 2019 is now 
highly likely to be delayed.  This delay is now anticipated to result in a funding 
settlement to be announced in late 2019, for the 2020/2021 financial year only.   

3.2 Whilst the detail around the funding is unknown it is anticipated that it will be a roll 
forward of the current position, updated for inflation.  

3.3 There is significant uncertainty around funding nationally and one of the Prime 
Ministerial candidates have expressed increasing funding to police, to recruit an extra 
20,000 officers by 2022.  A significant increase in officers would cause infrastructure 
issues for Cambridgeshire, in relation to vehicles, locker space etc. The number of 
officers is at the highest level ever reached in Cambridgeshire.    

3.4 There are additional potential funding challenges resulting from on-going increases in 
Pension liabilities.  There is also increasing pressure from the police federation and 
representative bodies to increase pay beyond those increases currently being 
proposed.     

3.5 The Council Tax referendum criteria is not currently known for Police and Crime 
Commissioners but the significance of the uncertainty around funding could place real 
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pressure on the Service to deliver further budget reductions without the need to 
increase Council Tax beyond inflation. 

3.6 The purpose of this paper is to make the PCC aware of the potential additional 
financial pressures that are currently known and highlighting that the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy will need to be flexible in responding to the potential challenges. 

4. Financial Pressures of the MTFS 2020/21  

4.1  The pressures can be listed as National, Regional/Collaboration and local pressures 
detailed below. 

 National 

4.2 The National Digital Programme Digital Policing Portfolio (DPP) is the overarching 
programme taking forward the strands for digitising the police service. The Digital 
Policing Board (DPB) sets the strategy for digital policing and defines, prioritises, and 
co-ordinates digital capability development nationally, regionally, and locally. The 
DPB reports to the Police Reform & Transformation Board (PRTB); members include 
Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs), and senior representatives from police 
forces, Home Office, National Crime Agency, College of Policing, and Police ICT 
Company. There is a likelihood of creating a financial burden in the short-term.  
However, it is expected that benefits, including financial savings, will be secured in 
the medium term by multiple forces procuring together and systems being 
rationalised. 

4.3 Digital First (DF) - integrating digitised policing into the reformed Criminal Justice 
System, delivering the best service to the public by: 

 Providing all case file information and evidence, including multimedia, relevant to a 
criminal prosecution, digitally captured, stored and secured once in a chain of 
evidential integrity.  

 Accessibility on demand to all criminal justice partners.  
 The Digital Evidence Transfer Services (DETS) will create an anticipated cost pressure 

in 2020/21 of £153k but this will be dependent on how many forces take it and when 
they go live. Whilst Indicative savings for Cambridgeshire are forecast to be in the 
region of £148k to £208k, there is uncertainty around when these savings will be 
realised. 

4.4 Digital Public Contact (DPC) - will provide a simple, well known and reliable digital 
contact service between the public and the police that ensures the public are 
informed and digitally enabled. DPC will allow for: 

 Reporting and tracking online – helping to improve the police response and quality 
of victim support  

 Enabling the public to undertake financial transactions online such as firearms 
licensing or penalty fines.  

Called Single Online Home (SOH) it will be implemented in Cambridgeshire during 
2019/20 and full year costs are anticipated to be £88k, again depending on how 
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many forces take it and when they go live. Annual costs should reduce as more 
forces come on board with SOH.  

4.5 The valuation of the Police Officer Pension scheme and subsequent increase in the 
employer contribution created a significant cost pressure in 2018/19.  This pressure 
along with the uncertainty regarding the financial liability that will result from the 
Government remedy of the McCloud and Sargent pension tribunal case is expected 
to continue.  The potential pressure could be significant and funding guarantees 
from Government are not yet known. 

4.6 The National Transforming Forensic Programme are seeking forces to sign an 
expression of interest to join the newly created Forensic Capability Network (FCN). In 
considering the case there is clearly benefit that the policing / forensic community 
will receive from the workstreams within the FCN. However, the cost ‘v’ benefit 
considerations for BCH and wider 7 force are yet to be fully understood. This doesn’t 
mitigate the risk of a Forensic supplier going into liquidation and leaving a forensic 
gap for policing to pick up. 

4.7 There are other initiatives that are being developed where the effects are not 
currently known, examples include the business case for the Police Commercial 
Organisation. 

 Regional / Collaboration 

4.8 Further budget pressures come from the various collaboration programmes 
established.   The 7Force total pressures are currently forecast at around £200k. The 
new Driver Management System comes with initial costs but is expected to 
contribute to reducing motor insurance costs over the next 4 years. As the 
Procurement teams come together there are some pressures around the cost of the 
structure and the use of consultants. Eastern Region Special Operations Unit has a 
pressure around the employers pension contribution where the budget had been 
approved prior to the pension increase being known. 

4.9 In terms of BCH the total pressures are sitting around £400k at present, additional 
funding for the digital innovation budget, roll out of the new Tasers, additions to the 
Athena team and the very uncertain cost of the new national officer recruitment 
programme Police Education Qualification Framework (PEQF) are all adding pressure 
to the budget. The go live of PEQF could add significant further pressure to the HR 
budget.  

4.10 In terms of PEQF there are further pressures that are not only budgetary and are 
under consideration as follows: 

 Pressures on abstraction, cause operational concern.  

 Future of the Special Constabulary 

 Turnover rates in similar professions such as teaching and nursing are 
between 10-16% which is higher than the police turnover of 6%. 

 Funding gap between Apprenticeship Levy and actual costs. 

 No other route into the service other than accreditation. 
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4.11 There have also been issues with the viability of the Forensic Support suppliers but 
no figures are included at this stage. (see also 4.6 above) 

 Local Pressures 

4.12 Locally pressures of £70k are currently known, this consists of £10k for a well-being 
fund and £60k for Case File staff members, both schemes have been agreed by the 
Chief Officer Group. The renewal of the SARC contract is likely to see some 
additional costs for nursing provision.  

4.13 The force has reviewed its meeting structure and now has an Organisational Change 
Board (OCB) to manage further change from the Constabulary. Some of these 
projects may require funding which may come from the Chief Constable’s delegated 
limits or may require funding from the PCC. 

4.14 The force has just completed its second Force Management Statement (FMS) and as 
yet it is not confirmed when the next FMS is due.  FMS is a self-assessment that chief 
constables prepare and give to HMICFRS each year. 

It is the Chief Constable’s statement and explanation of: 

 the demand the force expects to face in the next four years; 

 how the force will change and improve its workforce and other assets to cope 
with that demand; 

 how the force will improve its efficiency to make sure the gap between future 
demand and future capability is as small as it can reasonably be; and 

 the money the force expects to have to do all this. 

4.15 The Chief Constable has an operational need to increase cell capacity in the southern 
part of the county and a project has been in train finding suitable land. This is now 
moving at a pace and the land purchase will take place in 2020/21.  Some of this 
project will be funded from capital receipts from underutilised assets that have been 
sold.      

4.16 Modelling for future borrowing costs for Estates with particular focus on the new 
Southern Police Station is ongoing and will be reported to Estates Sub Group later in 
2019 and then incorporated into the MTFS. 

4.17 There is an increased awareness that demand is escalating. The PCC has power to 
make grants to reduce Crime & Disorder, the budget for these grants in 2019/20 is 
£1,276k. In order to have a meaningful impact a significant investment may be 
required, in the order of £1m, which although creating a significant cost pressure 
would enable the PCC to award grants to tackle prevention which would assist in 
reducing demand.  

5. Conclusions 

5.1 Currently the known revenue pressures total approximately £1m and this will 
continue to be developed as the budgetary process continues. 
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5.2 Additionally, there are the capital costs associated with the CSPS and other Estates 
projects which will impact on the revenue budget for paying back borrowing and 
MRP costs.    

6. Recommendation 

6.1 The Board is recommended to note the cost pressures as the MTFS process 
commences. 
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To:  Business Coordination Board   

From:  Chief Executive 

Date:  31 July 2019  

POLICE & CRIME PLAN – COMMUNITIES THEME - OPCC WORK TO DELIVER BROADER 
PARTNERSHIP SUPPORT 

1. Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

• Update the Business Coordination Board (“the Board”) on OPCC activity to deliver 
the ‘broader partnership support’ priorities set out in the Communities section of 
the Police and Crime Plan (“the Plan”). 

• To highlight the importance of the Constabulary linking with the ‘Think 
Communities’ agenda through a community asset and place-based approach to 
managing demand.  

2. Recommendations 

2.1 The Board is recommended to note the contents of the report and in particular 
consider: 

• The potential role of the new place Based Delivery Boards in working with other 
organisations to manage demand management and how 

• How the constabulary’s work with volunteers can learn from the work of the Scam 
Partnership with their Supporters, as set out in para 5.5. 

3. Background  

3.1 Under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (“the Commissioner”) is required to produce a Police and Plan.   The 
Commissioner’s Plan became effective from the 1st April 2017 and is structured around 
four key strategic themes: Victims, Offenders, Communities, and Transformation. Each 
theme has its own aim and has a framework through a series of shared outcomes to 
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enable all agencies with a part to play in community safety and criminal justice, to 
strategically direct the future delivery of services through these common goals. Each 
theme is supported by key objectives and priorities for action.  

3.2 The Constabulary has a key role in delivering the Plan and on April 4, 2019 brought a 
set of refreshed comprehensive Constabulary priorities to this Board. These were 
welcomed by the Commissioner and were seen to address key areas of work, such as 
progressing the emerging work on Think Communities.  

3.3 The progress around these Constabulary priorities is reported in a separate paper – 
see Agenda item 9.2.   

4. Joining up service provision to listen to day to day community safety issues –       
development of placed based leadership - progressing a countywide approach to 
managing demand  

4.1 In order to progress a countywide approach to managing risk, a mapping exercise 
carried out by the OPCC clarified the need to improve accountability with regards to 
high risk safeguarding and community safety priorities between the Community Safety 
Partnerships (CSPs).  

4.2 The exercise, supported by Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Countywide Community 
Safety Strategic Board (CCSSB), Cambridgeshire and Peterborough’s Health and 
Wellbeing Boards, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Safeguarding Adults Board and 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board, risk-focused County 
Wide Delivery Groups working across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough appointed for 
each priority with accountability of various work streams.   

4.3 In order to progress work on prevention the following work steams were codified 
within the countywide community safety agreement: 

 Healthy and Safer Schools 

 Children’s Early Help 

 Access to employment for vulnerable groups 

 Think Resilience 

 Housing Trailblazer 

4.4 During the last quarter work has been on going to improve communication channels 
between place-based CSPs and the risk-focused County Wide Delivery Groups and 
prevention work streams.  

4.5 It is intended that new Place-based Partnerships will evolve and better align the place-
based delivery by CSPs and Living Well Partnerships with their aims and objectives 
informed by Think Communities principles.  Place-based Partnerships will ultimately 
be in a stronger place to embrace CSP statutory functions and improve flexibility of 
local delivery, led by communities and helping to improve community resilience.   

4.6  Community Safety officers attended a Think Communities workshop in June, looking 
at opportunities to transform place-based partnerships and to start thinking about 
the practical implications of this. The workshop was productive and helped highlight 
how, whilst partners were all at different starting points and systems remain 
complex, officers are open to change.  
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4.7 To support Partnership working, the Police and Crime Commissioner has made funding       
available to CSPs in 2019/20 & 2020/21, with approximately £24k available to each CSP 
per year. Funding is linked to agreed delivery activities. CSPs receiving grants will be 
accountable for delivering and reporting on their agreed delivery activities, structured 
in a two-year “Understand, Plan, Do, Review” cycle.   Agreed delivery activities will be 
aligned to supporting and developing the work streams identified in the Partnership 
Matrix, and link to the ongoing development of the new Think Communities Demand 
Management Hub.  

4.8 Work continues with individual CSPs to agree delivery activities based on their local 
priorities, and look at how this work can be industrialised to develop system-wide 
prevention work.  

4.9 Fenland CSP have committed to developing the Homelessness Prevention work 
stream. East Cambridgeshire CSP and Huntingdonshire CSP are keen to develop the 
Community resilience work stream.  South Cambridgeshire CSP and Cambridge City 
CSP to finalise bids. Opportunities for Peterborough remain open. 

5. Increase public involvement to improve community understanding and resilience 
work to engage communities  

5.1 Cambridgeshire OPCC have provided support to the The Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Against Scams Partnership (CAPASP), recognising this was both an issue 
of significant public concern and an area where the assets and skills of the community 
can be used to address risk. 

5.2 A model has been developed by the Partnership using an asset based community 
development approach which successfully builds on the strengths within communities. 
A three tier model governance and delivery model has been developed involving a 
Board, Board Advisors and Supporters. 

5.3 The Board brings together key bodies such as Age UK Cambs & Peterborough, Fenland 
Community Safety Partnership, The Bobby Scheme, NatWest Bank, Cambridgeshire 
Constabulary, Neighbourhood Watch Cambridgeshire, Cambridgeshire County 
Council, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue 
Service, Peterborough City Council, Care Network, Safe Local Trades, Citizens Advice 
Peterborough, South Cambs Community Safety Partnership, East Cambs Community 
Safety Partnership, Wisbech Town Council and Eastern Region Special Operations Unit. 

5.4 Board Advisors, bringing in victim representation and community organisations 
working with vulnerable people 

5.5 Supporters tap in to the capacity of local voluntary groups and people.  Supporters:   
• Receive and share communications 
• Carry out the ‘5 Simple Steps’ to protect their friends, neighbours, customers etc. 

from scam 
• Encouraged to self-serve from downloadable resources available on the CAPASP 

website 
• Identify of scam Champions 

This approach to developing the skills of the community and tapping into the new 
energy to help could be replicated for other topics of importance for the community. 
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5.6 Launched in December 2018, the partnership which involves public sector, businesses, 
and the voluntary sector has (to date) registered 2,787 Friends Against Scams, and 
created 16 SCAM Champions. Board members include victims and community 
organisations working with vulnerable people.  

5.7 Supporters are becoming increasingly active, examples include partner participation in 
the recent Scams Awareness Fortnight (10th – 23rd June) and Neighbourhood Watch 
Week (17th – 23rd June), scams awareness events in Houghton and Wyton, Gamlingay 
and Soham, at Barclays Bank branches and an HBSC cybercrime event for SMEs.  

5.8 Other examples of Think Communities partnership approaches include: a new youth 
and community partnership initiative called ‘Get Lippy’ (Local Information Platform 
exploring Priorities for Youth) set up as a result of two public meetings held in 
Cambridge on County Lines; ‘I love Wisbech’, a community project set up to improve 
wellbeing outcomes; an ‘Introduction to Safeguarding” course for community groups 
including a county lines element to help identify vulnerable young people; and peer 
learning events, recognising the role of local Town and Parish Councils in supporting 
their communities, including one on ‘Supporting Older People’. 

5.9 The Commissioner continues OPCC led listening and responding to local residents in a 
number of ways including regular 1-1 public surgeries, Parish Council Meetings, Public 
Surveys, Contact Points and street surgeries. People living and working in the county 
are encouraged to contact the Commissioner through press releases, newsletters and 
social media. Over the last year (April 2018 to March 2019, the Commissioner received 
1,589 pieces of correspondence, carried out 12 public surgeries, 27 media interviews. 
Social media engagement continues to grow with over 3,200 followers on Twitter and 
almost 80,000 people reached via Facebook posts.  

5.10 The Commissioner continues to engage with people living and working in rural 
communities. He regularly attends partner meetings hosted by Countryside Watch and 
the NFU as well as representing issues such as hare coursing at regional and national 
level.   Examples of recent activity include attendance at a meeting in March 2019 with 
Lord Randall, the Government’s Special Environment Advisor, and local MPs to discuss 
the problems faced by police forces in combatting hare coursing; and an interview on 
BBC Radio Cambridgeshire following a recent spike in heritage crime from local 
churches.   Recognising that tackling rural crime cannot be done in isolation, work to 
progress a Rural Crime Advisory Group continues with plans in place, members to be 
identified, and meeting dates to be arranged. 

6. Recommendations  

6.1    The Board is recommended to note the contents of the report and in particular 
consider: 
•  The potential role of the new place Based Delivery Boards in working with other 

organisations to manage demand management and how 
• How the constabulary’s work with volunteers can learn from the work of the Scam 

Partnership with their Supporters.   
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To:  Business Coordination Board 
 
From:  Chief Constable  
 
Date:  31st July 2019 

 
POLICE & CRIME PLAN – UPDATE ON PERFORMANCE AND COMMUNITIES THEME – 
CAMBRIDGESHIRE CONSTABULARY WORK TO DELIVER ACTIONS  

1.0 Background 

1.1 The purpose of this paper is to provide an update to the Business Coordination Board 
(“the Board”) on the actions taken against the Communities pillar of the Police and 
Crime Plan (PCP). 

1.2 The most recent Operational Performance Meeting (OPM) was held on 19th June 2019 and 
reviewed performance up to the end of May 2019. This report reflects the updates provided to 
that meeting. 

1.3 This report is the third in the new style, first giving an overall review of performance and 
updates provided to the OPM and then updates on the priorities. This month’s priority areas 
were Modern Slavery, Action against Hate and Policing Neighbourhoods under the PCC’s 
Communities theme. 

2.0 Performance Meeting Updates 

2.1 Strategic measure 

2.2 The management information underlying the communities pillar is the confidence measure 
from the Local Policing survey in Cambridgeshire. This strategic measure is to be used in 
conjunction with the qualitative information in the priority updates in section 3. 

2.3 The Local Policing survey is completed by the internal Telephone research team who conduct 
telephone surveys with members of the public living in Cambridgeshire. These telephone 
numbers are either landline or mobiles. In the last 12 months over 1,050 people have been 
surveyed. 
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2.4 The proportion of people who believe that the Constabulary are dealing with things that 
matter to them in their local community has fallen with 58.3%(n=985) of respondents 
surveyed in the last year saying they agree with that statement compared to 64.3% in year 
ending June 2018. 

2.5 Nationally the Crime Survey of England and Wales (CSEW) has also seen a reduction in the 
proportion of people who believe that their local force is dealing with things that matter to 
them. Overall they found that 59.4%1 of respondents agreed that the Police are dealing with 
local concerns this is compared to 60.6% for the previous year. 

2.6 The Local Policing survey has shown an increase in the long term trend for the proportion of 
respondents who are happy with the overall police activity in their area, with an increase 
recorded each month for the last three months. For the year ending May 2019 58% (n=987) of 
respondents were satisfied with the Police activity in Cambridgeshire. This question is 
different to the headline Confidence question in that it asks about satisfaction with police 
activity. 

2.7 Performance analysis has been tasked to improve the constabulary understanding of the 
issues raised by the public, and specifically what may be driving the falling confidence rates 
locally and nationally. This will report back to the Operational Performance Meeting in August. 

2.8 Performance Headlines and Department Updates 

2.8.1 The rolling 12 month recorded crime total has increased for four consecutive months. This 
increase is driven by the South whereas the North are on a flat trend. Some of this increase is 
believed to be due to improvements in Crime Data Integrity compliance. 

2.8.2 Crime data integrity compliance remains above 80% for the third month in a row, although the 
trend is flat there are signs of improvement particularly within the Demand Hub. The use of 
the data quality assessment tool is also helping improve data quality, albeit the improvements 
are small they are showing travel in the right direction. 

2.8.3 Some offence groups have seen the long term trend of recorded crime continue on the 
upwards trajectory such as Violence against the person, Trafficking of drugs, and Domestic 
abuse.  

2.8.4 In the discrete month of May 2019 the Constabulary recorded the lowest number of dwelling 
burglaries in a single month since April 2018. The North recorded the lowest number ever 
recorded for the area, whereas the number recorded in the South was the lowest since April 
2018. 

2.8.5 The number of 999 calls received by the Constabulary continues to increase with the 12 
month rolling total the highest since January 2010. The result of increased demand has been 
that the median time to respond to prompt grade incidents increased to 110 minutes in May. 
This is the highest seen since the peak in the summer and will be monitored closely going into 
the summer months. There was variation by incident type with some seeing improvements 
(Domestic, Dwelling burglary and Vehicle related) and other seeing decline (Sexual Offences, 
Robbery and Violence related). 

2.8.6 The rolling 12 month all crime prosecution possible outcome rate has continued to decline 
and is now at 10.5%. Although in the discrete month of May Dwelling Burglary and Robbery 
saw an increase in the prosecution possible rate.  

                                                           
1 Data from ONS: Table S18: Attitudes to local police, by police force area, English regions and Wales, year 
ending March 2018 CSEW1 
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2.8.7 The Investigation Management Unit (IMU) queues rose in May in part as a result of Athena 
downtime. These peaked towards the end of the month, however they have risen again 
throughout June on all queues. The number of crimes awaiting filing is impacting upon the 
number of live investigations which increased sharply in May.  

2.8.8  Data suggests that overdue victim care contracts remain high - with 62% overdue. However, a 
recent dip sample suggested that compliance was significantly better than that; with officers 
recording their victim updates incorrectly. There was a discussion at OPM around how victim 
updates should be recorded on the system. The OPM meeting agreed that victim updates will 
be recorded on the victim page within Athena as intended. This will allow for the Ministry of 
Justice to understand if Cambridgeshire is compliant with the victim’s code. 

2.8.9  Case file quality continues to see month on month improvements with lower rejection rates 
for both Magistrate and Crown Court files with 21.3% of cases failing in April 2019 compared 
to 43% in April 2018. The new Casefile Standards Support unit is due to go live in mid-July 
subject to staff releases. 

Priority Updates 

2.9 Modern Slavery 

2.9.1  The number of recorded crimes in the last 12 months remains stable with 41 recorded for the 
year ending May 2019. This is higher than year ending May 2018 when there were 22 crimes 
recorded.   

2.9.2 In the last 12 months Cambridgeshire has issued its first interim trafficking order after an 
investigation at a carwash. This allowed the courts to place a range of restrictions on the 
behaviour and activities of a person who poses a risk of committing slavery or trafficking 
offences. This order remained in place until April the 19th. 

2.9.3 Cambridgeshire has increased the number of individuals referred into the National Referral 
Mechanism. In the last 12 months 93 referrals were made compared to 59 in the previous 
year. In addition, the constabulary has embedded practice to work with partners on 
operations, referrals and on regular visits to houses of multiple occupancy. 

2.10 Action against Hate 

2.10.1  The rolling 12 month total of hate crime is on an upwards trajectory with Cambridge City and 
Peterborough driving the increase. Hate crime and incidents remain underreported and work 
is ongoing to increase reporting. Hate Champions are identifying hard to reach communities 
and engaging in order to increase reporting. Plans are been complied for the national hate 
crime awareness week which is from the 12th to 19th of October 2019.  

2.10.2 The rolling 12 month prosecution possible continues to decline and is now at 16.7% for the 
Constabulary. Each hate crime and incident is reviewed by the hate crime coordinator. This is 
to ensure that the crime is allocated accordingly, that the victim is referred to the victim and 
witness hub where appropriate and there is a suitable investigation plan. By reviewing these 
crimes and incidents it has been noted, by the hate crime coordinator, that the use of 
community resolutions as a disposal is limited. There have been no community resolutions on 
any hate crime since March 2019.  

2.10.3  In the last 12 months 88 victims of hate crime have been surveyed to find out their opinion on 
how the Constabulary handled their investigation. 67% of respondents said they were at least 
fairly satisfied with the experience compared to 79.2% in the year ending May 2018. 
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2.10.4  Survey respondents continue to say that follow up is the worst aspect of their experience, 
although there is starting to be an improvement as the long term trend has stopped declining. 
It is anticipated that the implementation of the supervision policy along with the enhanced 
use of victim updates within Athena will drive further improvements in victim satisfaction.  

2.11 Policing Neighbourhoods 

2.11.1 The increase in precept is allowing an additional 50 Police officers to be invested into 
neighbourhood policing. The allocation of these additional officers has been decided following 
a review on neighbourhood policing. A detailed breakdown of where the additional officers 
will be based is shown in Figure 1 in point 3.1.1. 

2.11.2  All forces received recommendations from HMICFRS to show compliance with the NPCC 
Neighbourhood Policing guidelines. The recent HMICFRS inspection has shown through 
informal feedback that Cambridgeshire is compliant with the NPCC Neighbourhood Policing 
guidelines. 

2.11.3  The neighbourhood policing steering group have recently completed work to baseline 
performance before the additional 50 police officers are in post. Whilst completing the 
baseline work it has been noted that there are gaps in data collection and these are being 
reviewed so that a solution is found. 

2.11.4  The neighbourhood policing steering group meets monthly with representation from around 
the force. There are three projects under the neighbourhood policing strategy which are 
governed by the steering group, they are; The Cambridgeshire Offender Management review, 
the Neighbourhood Policing Shift Pattern review and the Police Community Support Officer 
Sub-project. These projects are all at different stages and will be updated throughout the year. 

3.0 Communities Updates 

3.1  Joining up service provision to listen to day to day community safety issues 

3.1.1 ‘Review of the Neighbourhood Model, ensuring over 10% of our workforce is embedded in 
Neighbourhood Policing’ 

The 50 additional officer posts secured as part of the 2019/20 precept increase will all be 
invested in Neighbourhood policing. A model to apportion these assets has been completed 
following a “What Works” review. The outcome is a three factor approach that looks at total 
crime volume (number of crimes), crime harm index geographic data (Crime impact/harm) 
and “Vulnerable localities Index” (six indicators of risk of community breakdown). This has 
resulted in an uplift arrangement as attached. 
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Figure 1 Neighbourhood Policing precept increase where the officers will be posted 

The uplift equates to a move from roughly 10% to 14.4% of all Local Policing Command police 
officers engaged in policing neighbourhoods as their core role; accepting policing 
neighbourhoods is everyone’s business. Factoring in officers and staff the uplift see a move 
from 11.8% engaged in neighbourhoods to 14.9%2. 

3.1.2 ‘Review our Community Communication and Engagement and strategy to make sure it is clear 
and responsive to the needs of the community, that it empowers communities and is adopted 
within wider Neighbourhood partnerships. 

A force engagement strategy has been drafted and approved – it will be owned by Corporate 
Communications, but delivered by the organisation (supported by Corporate 
Communications). Implementation plans and engagement toolkits are being developed by 
the area communications leads, in conjunction with the areas, to support the local teams in 
delivery. 

3.1.3 ‘Review our rural crime strategy, seeking new opportunities to work in partnership.’ 

            In the last three months the Constabulary have: 

i. Met with a multi-agency and multi-force group to review rural strategies in relation to 
coursing/poaching and have agreed to develop national tactical plan around hare-
coursing.   Lincolnshire police are taking the lead with Cambridgeshire as a key contributor.  

ii. Chaired the Eastern Region Rural Crime Partnership Meeting to foster multi-agency 
partnership working.  In attendance were Cambridgeshire Police, Cambridgeshire OPCC, 
Essex Police, Bedfordshire Police, Hertfordshire Police, Suffolk Police, Norfolk Police, NFU, 
NFU-Mutual, Country Side Watch, Farm Watch and the Country Land Owners Association.  

iii. Rural Crime is not a Force Priority Area, however Supt Sutherland is preparing a ‘Plan on a 
Page’ to bring conformity with other areas and to summarise and clarify our approach to 
tackling rural crime. This will be submitted for the next ‘Communities’ update.  

 

 

                                                           
2 This is based on establishment figures not current strength 
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3.1.4 ‘Improve the use of our technology within RCAT to increase trust & confidence within the rural 
community’ 

The RCAT will shortly be purchasing and completing training for drones. The RCAT requested 
that the IT company ‘What 3 Words’ integrate the functionality of an existing ICT mapping 
platform (View Ranger) to gain the benefits of both.  The excellent working relationship 
developed with What 3 Words has allowed this to take place at zero cost to the Constabulary.  

The RCAT now have dedicated social media channels that are building a dedicated rural 
following. 

3.1.5 ‘Use a variety of modern methods to provide a two way dialogue between the Force and 
communities and demonstrate our visibility’ 

A new Force engagement strategy has been agreed by the Chief Constable. The strategic lead 
for this work is Sarah Cooper, with Vic Kerlin in Partnership and Operational Support as the 
designated Tactical Lead from summer 2019. The strategy was shared with HMICFRS prior to 
the recent inspection. Further work is required to determine how this new strategy will be 
efficiently and effectively pursued building on some excellent pockets of engagement and 
communication activity already embedded.  

Examples of good practice include the delivery of social media and traditional media training 
to frontline officers, social media messaging, traditional media coverage and marketing 
opportunities to support operations. 

3.1.6 ‘Working with partners develop a geo-based tactical neighbourhood delivery plan embedding 
the national neighbourhood guidelines’ 

The new Neighbourhood Policing strategy is fully compliant with the national neighbourhood 
policing guidelines and this was recognised in recent informal feedback from HMICFRS. This 
strategy and associated delivery focuses both on geographic needs, but also on threat, harm 
and risk and how service supply and resourcing within neighbourhood policing is 
differentiated on the basis of documented assessment of need. This work has been completed 
through partnership and delivery is equally invested in joint working being greater than the 
individual agency parts. 

3.1.7 ‘Engage and understand communities and the threats they face, both now and in the future’ 

This priority should be cross referred to the priority in 3.1.5. 

The neighbourhood policing strategy recognises there are two interconnected elements here; 
Engagement and threat assessment. The former is currently being pursued through the new 
engagement strategy and developing tactical work that will fall from it. The latter issue 
relating to threat is currently being discussed as part of the emerging performance framework 
assigned to the Neighbourhood Policing steering group. The Force has well established 
strategic and tactical threat assessment structures and process such as the strategic 
assessment process, FMS 2 and STRA (in development). There is further opportunity to 
determine how communities define and communicate their own assessment of local threat. 

3.1.8 ‘Work with the local child safeguarding boards & other partners to help communities 
understand evolving risks & spot the signs of exploitation’ 

A training day was delivered to key community stakeholders from taxi drivers, hotel staff, 
license premises (nightclubs) and fast food establishments. The training day was very well 
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attended and has received some really positive feedback. The purpose of the day was to give 
these key individuals the knowledge around signs of exploitation in children. This was picked 
up by media outlets was highlighted on radio (BBC Cambridgeshire) and local news (BBC and 
ITV). 

3.2 Increase public involvement to improve community understanding and resilience 

3.2.1 ‘Work in partnership so that people feel safe, connected and able to build, implement and 
sustain their own initiatives’ 

There are some strong example of initiatives in which Police are fulfilling an advisory or 
stakeholder role but are otherwise community-led. Baselining of performance in this area and 
opportunity is a current action on the agenda of the Neighbourhood Policing steering group. 
Under the neighbourhood policing staff uplift there will be a further Constable invested in 
Citizens in Policing within Partnership and Operational Support later in 2019. This 
supplements approval of an additional (temporary) Inspector role in Partnership and 
Operational Support who will work to Vic Kerlin as the Tactical lead on Citizens in Policing and 
Engagement. 

3.2.2 ‘Increase number of volunteers, their contribution and integration’ 

Police support volunteers (PSV) roles are now advertised in more detail on the Constabulary 
website. It’s hoped that this extra detail will generate more interest and allow more informed 
volunteers to step forward.  

New volunteers have been recruited to help re-open the Force Museum in Monks Wood. This 
allows volunteers to take an active part in highlighting the exhibits and history of the 
Constabulary thereby increasing public involvement, but also allows the Museum to open to 
the public (community groups and interested parties) by prior arrangement to improve 
community understanding of the Force role and challenges. 

Currently the Neighbourhood Policing Team is trying to source volunteers to help with sending 
eCops messages, updates on crime and messages from our partners to the public. This will 
help with community engagement and improve communication. 

Training on the recruitment process, procedure, central support available and how to manage 
a PSV has been delivered to the South’s Neighbourhood Policing Team. It’s hoped this will help 
embed and promote the use of PSV’s. In February and March 10 drop in sessions were held 
across the Constabulary where departments could come and learn about the opportunities 
that volunteers can offer. It was hoped to dispel myths surrounding volunteers, with several 
departments seeking advice on the use of volunteers within their teams. 

A new PSV newsletter has been introduced, this was due to feedback from current volunteers 
who said they felt isolated in the work they do. It is hoped that the newsletter will allow the 
volunteers to see they are part of a much wider team and show thanks to the great work they 
do. Feedback on the first newsletter has been positive. 

Across the County there are two watch schemes currently in place; Speedwatch and HGV 
watch. Speedwatch is the largest with 1,942 volunteers signed up. HGV watch is a new watch 
which allows community volunteers to monitor areas where there are weight, height or width 
restrictions in places. There are currently 6 HGV watch’s in place and 36 trained volunteers. It 
is hoped that the rural watch will be re-launched and is going through a risk assessment with 
health and safety. 

3.2.3 ‘Increase the contribution Specials make to the constabulary & ensure they are representative 
of the communities they serve’ 



 

Business Coordination Board        Agenda Item:  9.2 
31 July 2019  Page 8 of 10 

 

There is going to be a recruitment information event at Force headquarters on Saturday 13th 
July. This event is open for all but aimed at harder to reach minority communities. Although 
this event is about recruitment across the Constabulary, it will feature Penny Lancaster and 
Sandi Bogle who both took part as Special Constables in the recent Famous and Fighting crime 
TV programme. The event is hoped to showcase the diversity of our workforce and will 
included representatives from The Specials, Cadets, PSV’s and Watch schemes. This event will 
inevitable promote volunteering internally and externally. 

3.2.4 ‘Increase number of joint operations specific to rural community’ 

We have agreed in principle to launch joint Op Gallileo (hare coursing) operations with 
Lincolnshire police in September. 

3.2.5 ‘Promote the importance of reporting intelligence and crime’ 

The Force has an established online reporting facility which enables direct reporting of 
intelligence to the force intelligence department. Analysis over the past 6 months shows this 
forms 10 – 15% of all intelligence received. The online reporting form has recently been 
reviewed and amended by the force intelligence and corporate communication department to 
provide clear guidance including examples to assist public understanding of intelligence and 
focused areas for reporting. 

It should be noted however that the vast majority of reports information received as 
intelligence is not intelligence and could have otherwise been ‘filtered’ at source and either 
recorded as incidents or more appropriately directed towards partner agencies for action. For 
these reasons suggest consideration should be given to all online reporting being managed by 
the Demand Hub to better manage demand and improve efficiency around intelligence 
management.  

There are numerous strategic media campaigns working with partner agencies aimed at 
increasing awareness and encouraging reporting across a range of crime types such as Modern 
Slavery. 

3.2.6 ‘Embed ‘Problem Orientated Policing’ into everything we do, ensuring effective partnership 
problem solving, focused on positive and sustainable outcomes’ 

The Force has recently trained almost 600 officers, staff and partners in the OSARA problem 
solving approach, securing College of Policing input and funded through the use of money 
seized from the proceeds of crime. Further work to increase awareness of the approach and 
use amongst more specialist teams is underway and the neighbourhood policing steering 
group is now leading working to evidence how training is converted into demonstrable 
outputs/outcomes. 

3.2.7 ‘Identify and tackle the causes of crime, disorder and anti -social behaviour’ 

This is a further strategic aim recorded in the neighbourhood policing strategy and it seeks to 
draw together a number of stands of work both Police only and partnership. There are two 
things to note, firstly the emerging recommendations from a review of the Offender 
Management approach taken, commissioned by the Constabulary and then approved at the 
Criminal Justice Board, Offender Management subgroup. Secondly the increased use of the 
Cambridge Harm Index (CHI) to look at identifying, engaging and developing approached of 
case managing existing and emerging high harm offenders with a focus on early intervention 
and increasingly younger cohorts. A CHI event looking at critiquing the use of CHI is scheduled 
in July and has secured the University of Cambridge as an attending partner to support this. 
This a welcome addition, given the initial creation of the index by the Institute of Criminology. 
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3.3 Integrity 

3.3.1 ‘Ensure national complaints reform is embedded across the Constabulary to support the 
highest professional standards in service to the public’ 

The BCH Change Portfolio office has drafted a procedure in preparation for the introduction of 
the complaints reform and roll-out of the BCH CRT system which will be used to manage 
complaints. The document in its current form has so far been circulated to the Herts & 
Cambridgeshire PCCs offices, PSD and the Information Management Department for feedback 
and amendments. 

Once agreement has been reached from the relevant parties in the main stakeholder groups 
this document will be signed off by the DCCs and submitted to the IOPC to single our 
intentions as to how complaints / dissatisfactions will be managed within BCH. 

Please note that the CRT Framework (System) is a proprietary BCH system, designed by the 
Herts PCCs Customer Response Team and built by the BCH ICT team, it was implemented in 
January and has been used to managed complaints prior to the legislative changes to the 
Police and Crime Act 2017 – the system has the support of PSD and fulfils the criteria of the 
IPOC. CRT framework will be rolled out across Beds and Cambs – at no cost to the forces.  

The Constabulary are looking at an implementation date for trial of 1st October 2019 so the 
relevant areas can become proficient with the system and its functionality prior to the 
legislative changes. Ahead of the ICT change request being submitted there is a meeting being 
held on Thursday 27th June to identify and agree an information asset owner.  

4.0 Highlighted Good Practice 

4.1 The focus of this month’s report will be around Neighbourhood Policing and in particular the 
work of the Fenland Neighbourhood Policing Team. 

4.2 The Fenland Neighbourhood Policing Team is currently made up of 1 Inspector, 2 Sergeants, 7 
Constables and 11 PCSO’s. They report to the Northern Neighbourhood Chief Inspector. 

4.3 Their core role is to provide problem solving to long standing neighbourhood issues, manage 
sex offenders, provide local knowledge to help solve crimes and assisting in the management 
of IOM’s. 

4.4 Over the course of the past three months the Fenland Neighbourhood Team have had a 
number of positive results where they have been able to apply local knowledge to ensure 
resolution to incidents which would otherwise have been unresolved. They have also been 
involved in a number of initiatives to improve the quality of life for the residents in those 
areas. 

4.5 One of those initiatives was completed in conjunction with Fenland District Council. Following 
several report of off road bikes frequenting certain areas of March signage has been produced 
and put up which sets out the restrictions and laws of riding off road bikes. Patrols have been 
conducted since this time and to date no one else has been seen and no further incidents of 
this type of anti-social behaviour have been reported. 

4.6 Following a series of shed burglaries in Chatteris the team used their extensive local 
knowledge to identify 2 suspects. Both of these offenders were handed conditional cautions. 

4.7 During Op Sceptre one of the Police Now Constables was instrumental in delivering knife 
inputs to schools in the local area. 
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4.8 The neighbourhood teams are sent incidents and crimes for attention when they are closed as 
there are no known solvability factors. This gives them the opportunity to identify trends 
which are unlikely to be seen by reactive officers who cover the entire North of the county. 
This ability is never more evident than in the following case in one of the Fenland Villages. 

4.9 Sometimes crimes with limited solvability factors are closed, as was the case with two 
incidents involving an offender displaying sexual behaviour and actions towards children. Due 
to the potential seriousness of the offending behaviour the local team reviewed the crimes 
and were able to identify a similar offender profile. Due to their extensive local knowledge 
they were able to quickly identify a suspect and arrest him. He is currently on police bail 

4.10 Neighbourhood teams are constantly dealing with competing demands and have 
responsibility for a number of issues which pose the largest risk to the welfare of our 
communities. Their extensive knowledge of their areas and their willingness to do right by 
them is what makes them so successful. This is just a snippet of highlights of the good work 
conducted by this small team. 

5.0 Recommendation 

5.1 It is recommended that the Board note the contents of this report. 
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To  Business Coordination Board  

From  Chief Officer Team 

Date  Monday 22nd July 19 

De-collaboration of Custody 

1. Purpose 

1.1 To update the Business Co-ordination Board (“the Board”) following a request in early 

2019 from Cambridgeshire Chief Constable, and the Office of the Police & Crime 

Commissioner (OPCC) that a Beds/Cambs/Herts (BCH) custody paper was 

commissioned on de-collaboration.   

2. Recommendation 

2.1 The Police and Crime Commissioner (“the Commissioner”) supports Cambridgeshire 

constabulary to de-collaborate from the BCH custody collaboration.  

3. Background 

3.1 Discussions on this paper and the subject matter have taken place at two separate Joint 

Chief Officer Board (JCOB) meetings in May & June 2019 as well as at Cambridgeshire’s 

Force Executive Board (FEB) and the Strategic Alliance Summit. (SAS)  
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3.2 A commissioned paper highlights the ways in which Cambridgeshire could consider 

withdrawing from the custody element of the Collaborated Operational Support 

Portfolio. 

3.3 Although the paper considers there have been some advantages to collaboration, the 

benefits for Cambridgeshire have not been realised and there are a number of 

advantages to de-collaboration. These include increased resilience, localised 

management of facilities/staff and their training/development. Cambridgeshire Chief 

Officer Team are in agreement that de-collaboration would make this area of business 

more effective and efficient.  

4.  Withdrawal 

4.1 There has now been agreement by all parties present at JCOB (03.07.19) and SAS 

(23.07.19) that an amendment to Section 22 is acceptable.  

5. Formal request to PCC 

5.1 Cambridgeshire Constabulary specifically request the Commissioners support to de-

collaborate from the BCH custody collaboration.  

5.2 As agreed at the previously cited meetings, BCH will remain in collaboration only on two 

specific thematic areas within this area of business:  

(i) the procurement and provision of interpreters  

(ii) the procurement of health care provision.  

6. Recommendation 

6.1 The Commissioner supports Cambridgeshire constabulary to de-collaborate from the 

BCH custody collaboration.  
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1. Background and Rationale 

 
1.1 In 2016 the Collaborated Operational Support portfolio was created following a decision at the 

Joint Chief Officer Board (JCOB).  At that time, this portfolio allowed for collaboration of 
Custody, Criminal Justice (CJ) and Firearms Explosives Licencing (FEL).  The collaborated 
departments came on line in a number of phases.  The collaborated Custody command was 
one of the first to be implemented in 2016. 
 

1.2 In early 2019 the Cambridgeshire Chief Constable and Police & Crime Commissioner raised 
concerns regarding the collaboration of Custody. These concerns were in two broad areas; 

 

1.2.1 That the force felt that custody should not be a collaborated function as it was integral 
to their policing model and such a key enabler that direct control was required. 

 

1.2.2 That the original business benefits outlined in the business case had not been realised. 
 

1.3 At the Joint Chief Officer Board in May 2019, following a request from Cambridgeshire 
Constabulary, a paper was tabled outlining the broad financial and functional implications of 
the force withdrawing from the Tri-Force Custody collaboration. 
 

1.4 The paper tabled at that time contained broad headline figures demonstrating the 
Cambridgeshire contribution to the Tri-Force custody functions and the work undertaken by 
that department. 

 

1.5 The purpose of this paper is to further explore the implications of the force’s withdrawal from 
the Tri-Force Custody department, what the potential savings to the force may be and what 
functions would subsequently need fulfilling locally within Cambridgeshire.  As requested by 
the Cambridgeshire Chief Constable, it provides two modelled options; firstly a clean break 
and secondly a set-up whereby the Operational Support portfolio would continue to 
undertake Recruitment and Training on behalf of Cambridgeshire.  It should be noted however 
that this second model has not been the subject of discussion or agreement by the 
Bedfordshire or Hertfordshire Chief Constables. 

 

1.6 The paper is split into four broad sections;   
 

1.6.1 Section 2 outlines the current structure and cost, as well as the collaborated functions 
peculiar to custody which are undertaken at a collaborated level.   It also isolates the 
cost for the collaborated custody SMT, and then further breaks this down to 
demonstrate the contribution paid in financial terms by Cambridgeshire Constabulary. 
 

1.6.2 Section 3 models a clean break de-collaboration and identifies the potential savings 
that could be achieved following de-collaboration by the removal of posts that would 
no longer be required if the department were serving only two forces rather than 
three.  It notes not only the current management functions of the Criminal Justice and 
Firearms Licensing department which are intrinsically linked, but also the additional 
managerial responsibility soon to be added with the movement of the ‘Cameras, 
Tickets & Collisions’ unit into Collaborated Operational Support. 

 

1.6.3 Section 4 builds on the previous model, but retains the functions of recruitment and 
training as a collaborated function. 

 

1.6.4 Section 5 recognises the considerations to be made in the de-collaboration process, 
and highlights potential issues such as the continued viability of the Operational 
Support portfolio, and timescales. 
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2. Current Structure and cost 
 
2.1 The operational Custody function for each of the three forces sits locally as does the budget 

for the day to day management of the custody suites.  The collaborated element of custody 
therefore is restricted to the following functions; 

 

2.1.1 Senior Management. 
 

2.1.2 Recruitment of Detention Officers. 
 

2.1.3 Accreditation Management of Custody and Detention Officers. 
 

2.1.4 Bail Process management. 
 

2.1.5 Policy work (particularly around changing legislation and APP Compliance) 
 

2.1.6 Management of the Healthcare contract. 
 

2.1.7 Management of Misconduct / Complaints. 
 

2.1.8 Management of the Interpreters Contract. 
 

2.1.9 Health and safety reporting. 
 

2.1.10 Promulgation of lessons learnt. 
 

2.1.11 Provision of weekly training days.   
  
2.2 Leadership of the Tri-Force Custody function sits within the Senior Management Team for 

Criminal Justice (CJ), Custody, and Firearms Explosive Licensing (FEL) (with CTC soon to be 
added).  The budget for 2019/20 for the entire SMT is £992k. This consists of 12.5 posts. 

 

2.3 The officers and staff within this SMT split their time between the three functions with 
differing apportionments depending on their post. 

 

2.4 Appendix A (redacted) shows the posts currently within the Collaborated SMT, the total on 
costs for these posts, and the apportionment split between functions. 

 

2.5 As can be seen the total cost of the SMT can be further split to provide a figure per function of 
£315k for Criminal Justice, £647k for custody and £30k for FEL. 

 

2.6 The current cost apportionment for the entire SMT provides for Bedfordshire to contribute 
24.36%, Cambridgeshire to contribute 31.51% and for Hertfordshire to contribute 44.13%.  
Based on this Cambridgeshire’s contribution to the custody part of the SMT is £204k. Whilst 
mathematically this is a relatively simple calculation, it does however fail to recognise the 
amalgamated nature of the Senior Management Team in leading across the Collaborated 
Operational Support portfolio.  This is difficult to isolate to any degree of granularity, given the 
interdependencies that exist.   

 
3. New Structure (following De-Collaboration) and Costs (Clean Break) 
 
3.1 If Cambridgeshire were to withdraw from the Collaborated custody function it is recognised 

that some posts could be removed from the existing structure; 
 

3.1.2 The Chief Inspector currently aligned to Cambridgeshire Custody within the SMT could 
be removed. 

 

3.1.2 Given the reduction in policy / coordination work, it is likely that one Police Sergeant 
could be removed from the existing structure. 
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3.2 If both a Chief Inspector and Sergeant were removed from the structure the savings would be 
in the region of £141k.   

 

3.3 Whilst there are some savings that could be made as detailed above, there are also likely to 
be some costs which are incapable of disaggregation, these include the cost of the ACC (20% 
of time allocated to custody), Chief Superintendent, and Superintendent (40% each of time 
allocated to custody1).  These posts would still be required in the remaining structure post 
withdrawal for Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire to lead the Criminal Justice Unit, Firearms 
Licensing Unit and Cameras, Tickets & Collisions for three forces.  

 

3.4 Following withdrawal therefore removal of the full 31.51% (£204k) of Cambridgeshire’s 
contribution to the custody part of the Collaborated SMT would leave additional costs (£63K) 
to be borne by the remaining partners which would potentially provoke a review of the 
viability of the Operational Support collaboration. 

 

3.5 If, following withdrawal however the, actual savings from a reduced SMT resource model were 
returned to Cambridgeshire, the force would recover approximately £141k.  This would then 
allow the Operational Support command to continue to operate for all three forces in respect 
of Criminal Justice, and Firearms Explosive licensing, and Custody for Bedfordshire and 
Hertfordshire.  This would involve no additional costs for Bedfordshire or Hertfordshire. 

 
  
4. New Structure (following De-Collaboration) and Costs (Training / Recruitment not 

repatriated) 
 
4.1 Whilst the previous section models the financial implications of a clean break, a request has 

been made to consider the financial implications of the Collaborated Operational Support 
portfolio retaining responsibility for both recruitment and training on behalf of 
Cambridgeshire. 
 

4.2 In the clean break model a Chief Inspector and Sergeant were removed from the 
establishment.  The former as the local Cambridgeshire Senior Manager, and the latter form 
the policy team. 

 

4.3 Both recruitment and training are currently undertaken by the policy team, and following 
consultation with senior manager’s the functions could remain collaborated if the sergeant 
post were not removed from the team.  This would result in the only staffing reduction as a 
result of the Cambridgeshire withdrawal, being one Chief Inspector FTE.  The savings to 
Cambridgeshire therefore being restricted to this post’s on costs of £80k. 

 
 
5. Considerations 
 
5.1 ‘Clean Break’ Model 

 

5.1.1 Following de-collaboration, Cambridgeshire would by default require new local processes 
to manage 10 of the 11 elements outlined at 2.1 above2; Senior Management; Recruitment 
of Detention Officers; Accreditation Management of Custody and Detention Officers; Bail 
Process management; Policy work (particularly around changing legislation); Management 
of the Healthcare contract; Management of Misconduct / Complaints; Health and safety 
reporting; Promulgation of lessons learnt; Provision of weekly training days . 

                                                      
1 Whilst this is correct at time of writing the imminent movement of CTC to Collaborated Operational Support portfolio will require a re-evaluation of this.  It 

is likely that the C/Supt figure will reduce from 40% to provide for command of the new addition. 
 
2 The Cambridgeshire Custody Chief Inspector already manages the Interpreter’s contract, and so the remaining partners of the collaboration would require 

a local representative to fulfil this function following the de-collaboration.  



OFFICIAL 

 

5 | P a g e  

 

 
 

5.1.2 A clean break agreement will therefore undoubtedly result in an increase in the total cost 
of the Custody function to Cambridgeshire. 
 

5.1.3 Concerns on behalf of Cambridgeshire PCC relating to the lack of benefits realisation from 
the original business case are noted.  It is however highlighted that the majority of these 
benefits were financial and whilst local decisions have reduced savings obtained, many 
have been achieved.  

 

5.1.4 Savings outlined in the Full Business Case (FBC) consisted of efficiencies that could be 
made from both the collaboration of SMT/ Policy and the operational running of custody 
suites.  It is recognised that following decisions at JCOB regarding the shift pattern and day 
to day staffing of custody suites that savings in this area were not realised3. Savings 
identified in the FBC in relation to SMT/Policy have however surpassed the initial 
estimates4.  

 

5.1.5 Savings realised for Cambridgeshire in particular through the collaborated custody venture 
can be determined as follows; 

 

5.1.5.1 The Original Full Business Case (FBC) identified (in table 30 on page 37) that 
the Cambridgeshire Baseline spend for custody in 2014/15 totalled 
£3,094,000.  
 

5.1.5.2 The FBC also identified that this figure incorporated the operational aspect, 
(the day to day running of the custody suites) (Appendix XV to the FBC) which 
were £2,478,260). 

 

5.1.5.3 The FBC further identified that within the total budget there was provision 
for the interpreter’s contract totalling £357,000 (table 32 on page 41). 

 

5.1.5.4 The baseline cost for other (SMT/Policy) functions for custody in 
Cambridgeshire may reasonably be determined therefore as the total cost 
less the operational costs and the Interpreters costs; 

 
2,478,260   3,094,000 

               +    357,000                       - 2,835,260 
      2,835,260      258,740  
 

Baseline costs for SMT/Policy 2014/15 may therefore be determined as 
£258,740 

 

5.1.5.5 As can be seen at paragraph 2.6 above the current contribution from 
Cambridgeshire for the custody SMT / Policy function equates to £204,000.  
This of course represents a saving of £54,000 based on staffing costs in 
2014/15.  The actual savings in real terms today, given an increase in staffing 
on-costs over the last five years is likely to be nearer £60,000.  

 
 

5.1.6 A ‘Clean-Break’ withdrawal would also prevent any further benefits from being realised. 
All departments that have been collaborated under the strategic alliance aimed to realise 
benefits for BCH, be they financial or through the introduction of more effective working 
procedures and practices. 

                                                      
3 Whilst the decision not to amend the shift pattern resulted in no staffing costs decreases, other efficiencies in relation to processes have undoubtedly led to a reduction 

in overtime being required within the custody function.  Whilst it is not possible to isolate the impact of specific changes, the overall downward trend in custody overtime 
should be noted. 

4 The initial estimate in table 1 on page 5 of the FBC identifies savings that could be achieved through the collaborated SMT of £69,000 
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5.2 ‘Recruitment/Training’ model 
 

5.2.1 The ‘Recruitment/Training’ model would to provide a return of £80k to Cambridgeshire.  
Whilst this model is still likely to represent an increase in total costs to the force to provide 
the custody function, it would doubtless be more efficient than a ‘Clean-Break’. (It is 
unlikely that the recruitment / training functions could be delivered in a standalone manner 
for £61k) 
 

5.2.2 It should be noted however that one of the original concerns prompting this piece of work, 
was the desire to repatriate control of custody locally, and ensure it fulfilled a function as 
a key-enabler for force business.  This does appear a paradox, as ordinarily the training 
function is key to ensuring how business is undertaken.  To devolve such a significant area 
of business would seem to conflict with this objective. 

 

5.2.3 It should also be noted that the ‘Recruitment/Training’ model poses some ideological 
issues.  Collaboration itself has for many years been seen as a package of measures 
designed to provide both cost savings and in some cases enhanced service, for all involved.  
It is recognised that different workstreams deliver different benefits to each force, with 
an overall philosophy that ‘no force loses’.   

 

5.2.4 The structure can be loosely described as a doctrine of collaboration under which sit, three 
portfolios.  Under each portfolio sits a number of commands.  In each command may sit 
various departments, and in each department will sit many units and finally each unit is 
likely to have a number of functions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

5.2.5 It is noted that in some circumstances it is appropriate to review a portfolio, or even and 
command or department.  To attempt to breakdown the system to any further granularity 
presents risks to the doctrine itself. 

 

5.2.6 In the ‘Recruitment/Training’ model Cambridgeshire would effectively have withdrawn 
from a collaborated department but then sought to retain some collaborated functions, 
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as these alone present financial/efficiency benefits.  Arguably this then ceases to be a 
collaborative agreement, but more aligned to an outsourcing solution for the force.   

 

5.3 General  
 

5.3.1 The S22 Agreement provides for a de-collaboration process, requiring any party who 
wishes to withdraw from the agreement to provide 1 year’s notice in writing of their 
intention to do so.   

 

5.3.2 The budget for the Operational Support command for 2019/20 has been agreed and the 
financial year has started.  Whilst technically possible, to de-collaborate partway through 
the financial year, doing so is likely to add further complexity to the process. 

 
 
6. Recommendation 

 
6.1 It is recommended that all parties to the existing Custody collaboration consider the 

information provided in this document and seek agreement as to acceptable outcomes and 
timescales. 
 

  



Appendix A 
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To:  Business Coordination Board   

From:  Chief Executive 

Date:  31 July 2019  

FIRE GOVERNANCE UPDATE 

1. Purpose 

1.1  The purpose of this report is to update the Business Coordination Board (“the Board”) 
following the approval from the Home Secretary for the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (“the Commissioner”) to take on responsibility for governance of 
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service.  

2. Recommendation 

2.1 The Board is recommended to note the update.  

3. Background 

3.1  The Policing and Crime Act 2017 (the “Act”) places a duty on police, fire and rescue 
and ambulance services to explore opportunities for collaboration, and enables Police 
and Crime Commissioners to take on responsibility for the governance of fire and 
rescue services in their area where a case is made to do so.  

3.2 Independent consultants, who were commissioned jointly by Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Fire Authority (“the FRA”) and the Commissioner assessed the 
governance options and prepared a local business case.  The local business case 
recommended that the governance option offered the greatest benefit. 

3.3 The provisions of the Act place a requirement on the Commissioner to consult if they 
wish to take on the governance of Fire. Pre-consultation engagement and public 
consultation was undertaken in summer 2017.   

3.4 The Commissioner’s proposal to take on the governance of the Cambridgeshire Fire 
and Rescue Service was submitted to the Home Office on 10th October 2017.  



 

Business Coordination Board  Agenda Item: 11.0  

31 July 2019  Page 2 of 4 

 

 

3.5 Where the upper tier authorities do not agree with a proposal the Home Office is 
required to obtain an independent assessment of the proposal. The Home Secretary 
takes into account the findings of the independent review when making the final 
decision whether or not to approve the Commissioner’s proposal. The Minister of State 
for Policing and the Fire Service requested the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & 
Accountancy (“CIPFA”) to undertake an independent assessment of the 
Cambridgeshire proposal.  

3.6 On 26th March 2018 the then Home Secretary announced that the Commissioner for 
Cambridgeshire would be one of three more Commissioners to take on responsibility 
for local fire and rescue services. The Home Secretary considered that the 
Cambridgeshire proposal demonstrated that a transfer of governance would be in the 
interests of economy, efficiency and effectiveness and would not have an adverse 
effect upon public safety.  

3.7 The Home Secretary indicated that the Home Office would seek to give effect to the 
proposal through a statutory instrument which they anticipated would take effect in 
June or July 2018. Staff in the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Fire 
and Rescue Service worked with the Home Office during spring 2018 to ensure a 
smooth transition. However, the week the necessary statutory instrument was due to 
be laid before Parliament (and just 21 days before it was due to take effect) the FRA 
put forward a legal challenge to the Home Secretary’s decision. 

4. Legal Proceedings 

4.1 The FRA have continued to pursue their legal challenge of the Home Secretary’s 
decision. The judicial review hearing took place on 5th and 6th June. The judgment is 
awaited. 

4.2 Should the judgment and any subsequent Home Office consideration of the judgment 
enable the transfer of governance to progress, a legislative slot would then be required 
to lay secondary legislation before Parliament. 

5. Ongoing Collaboration 

5.1 The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and Cambridgeshire Constabulary 
have a strong history of policing collaboration. With fire, the Strategic 
Interoperability Board continues to operate. In the interests of the efficiency and 
effectiveness of both organisations, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
has continued the arrangement, through a collaboration agreement, to share the 
same Section 151 (Chief Finance) Officer. The dialogue on potential further 
collaboration opportunities is ongoing.  

5.2 In 2017, the Commissioner announced plans for a new Blue Light Hub for Wisbech 
which would bring the emergency services of police and fire together under one roof. 
However, since the Commissioner began a review of Cambridgeshire Constabulary’s 
estate in 2016, there has been an increase in demand in the Fenland area, as well as 
across the county. It was confirmed that operational requirements for the area had 
changed following the introduction of the new local policing model. Therefore 
following discussions with the Chief Constable in February, the Commissioner decided 



 

Business Coordination Board  Agenda Item: 11.0  

31 July 2019  Page 3 of 4 

 

 

to keep Wisbech Police Station in its current location. There are plans to refurbish the 
existing site to meet the needs of communities around the Fenland area and to allow 
for future expansion. This will enable the Constabulary to increase capacity from the 
station and provide the necessary resources to meet increasing demand. It also saves 
the planned expenditure on a new building. 

5.3 In June 2016, the FRA was due to approve the signing of a development agreement for 
the development of a new site for the construction of a new combined fire station, 
training centre and combined fire control and headquarters building at St. John’s Park 
in Huntingdon. However, the Commissioner asked the FRA to pause in order to ensure 
that all relevant information is considered ahead of making a decision. 

5.4 The local business case for fire and rescue governance options which was submitted 
to the Home Secretary therefore referred to exploring the use of the police training 
centre at Monks Wood as a joint training facility, contingent on a number of factors 
including the disposal of Huntingdon Fire Station.   

5.5 We understand that the FRA received planning permission for the provision of a fire 
service training facility at the police training centre at Monks Wood at the end of 
March.  

5.6 On a number of occasions, the Commissioner has requested from the FRA further 
information on the financial and operational comparisons within the business case and 
the process and timeline for completion and decision making, in order that he can 
properly consider the issues and contribute appropriately. To date this information has 
not been received. Recent Fire Authority papers which make broad reference to the 
proposals indicate they are awaiting the outcome of the judicial review to proceed. 

5.7 National guidance sets out the mechanisms for emergency services to explore 
opportunities for collaboration. The outcome of the judicial review hearing is relevant 
in order to determine which governance mechanism is to be in place for the future to 
understand the nature of any legal agreement which needs to be put in place. The 
guidance also recognises the need to balance the needs of the different services. In 
order to fully consider the issues, the Commissioner needs to balance the financial and 
operational needs of the fire service with the current operational pressures on the 
policing estate.  

5.8 In order to determine the terms of any legal agreement which needs to be put in place 
and in line with the Nolan principles of good governance, the Commissioner’s decision 
making policy requires him to consider all relevant material, information and facts. 
Requests for information have been made to Fire Authority in line with the principles 
of due diligence. The Commissioner and the Fire Authority share a fiduciary duty to 
ensure value for money as they work to keep the people of Cambridgeshire safe.   

5.9 An assessment is needed to ensure the plans for Monks Wood truly drive the efficiency 
and effectiveness of both services. Under the current governance arrangements, the 
Commissioner needs to ensure that any collaboration is in the interests of the 
efficiency or effectiveness of the police force which the Commissioner is responsible 
for maintaining.  
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6. Recommendation  

6.1 The Board is recommended to note the update.  
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To:  Business Coordination Board   

From:  Chief Executive 

Date:  31 July 2019  

Early Intervention Youth Funding  

1. Purpose 

1.1  The purpose of this report is to update the Business Coordination Board (“the Board”) 
on the successful bid for £384,431 of funding to the Home Office’s Early Intervention 
Youth Fund (“the EIYF”) to work with young people at risk of youth violence.    

2. Recommendation 

2.1 The Board is recommended to note the contents of the report.  

3. Background  

3.1 In April 2018 the Government published its Serious Violence Strategy setting out plans 
to respond to increases in knife crime, gun crime and homicide. The strategy 
committed to create an Early Intervention Youth Fund which has since grown to £22m.  

3.2 The aims of the fund include delivering services to support and prevent young people 
from getting involved in crime by supporting positive activities; driving improved multi-
agency partnership working and reducing the levels of serious violence and crime.  

4. Cambridgeshire’s Bid  

4.1 Applications for the EIYF had to be submitted by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (“the OPCC”). However the funds will be granted to the county’s Youth 
Offending Service who will act as project lead.  

4.2 Young people identified through a Missing and Criminally Exploited partnership tracker 
called ‘MACE’ as complex/moderate or at significant risk of criminal exploitation will 
be allocated a ‘trusted worker’. These workers will provide consistent trauma-
informed support even if the young people transitions between other local authority 
services. The trauma-informed interventions will be overseen by an experienced 
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psychologist who will provided structured plans for the workers. These interventions 
will help the young people to understand their previous and current experiences and 
make positive steps for the future.  

4.3 The project team will include professionals from a range of backgrounds including the 
Constabulary. The Joint Youth Justice Management Board will act as the main 
governance mechanism receiving regular reports on this work.  

4.4 A comprehensive outcome monitoring framework to show the impact of the work is 
being developed. The project is being supported by an independent consultant who 
will be compiling all the monitoring reports on behalf of the OPCC.  

4.5 The Home Office funding runs until April 2020 and was provided in-year, only being 
awarded this month (July 2019). The Police and Crime Commissioner has indicated his 
intention to provide funding from April to July 2020 to enable the project to run for a 
full year. This will enable it to be comprehensively evaluated to show the impact it has 
had on the young people involved. This will be subject to a decision notice in due 
course.  

5. Recommendation  

5.1 The Board is recommended to note the contents of the report.  
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